
     Ffôn/Tel: 01656 643643                                                   Facs/Fax: 01656 668126          Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk                                                                                 
     Negeseuon SMS/ SMS Messaging: 07581 157014           Twitter@bridgendCBC              Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun
Text relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate 
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Mercher, 11 Tachwedd 2020

Annwyl Cynghorydd, 

CABINET

Cynhelir Cyfarfod Cabinet o bell trwy Skype For Business ar Dydd Mawrth, 17 Tachwedd 2020 am 
14:30.

AGENDA

1. Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb  
Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau.

2. Datganiadau o fuddiant  
Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 
Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008. 

3. Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion  3 - 18
I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion cyfarfod y 20/10/20

4. Rhaglen Arbed yng Ngaerau 19 - 76

5. Cyllid Parc Rhanbarthol y Cymoedd yn y Dyfodol 77 - 82

6. Datblygu Trên Tir â Ffocws Twristiaeth neu Ymgyrch Cerbyd Cario Teithwyr 
Tebyg yn Porthcawl 

83 - 88

7. Adroddiad Hanner Blwyddyn - Rheoaeth y Trysorlys 2020-21 89 - 134

8. Strategaeth Ddigidol 2020-2024 135 - 180

9. Estyniad Contractau Byw â Chefnogaeth Anableddau Dysgu 181 - 184

10. Contract ar gyfer Cyflenwi Cigoedd Ffres, wedi'u Rhewi a Choginio - Atal 
Rheolau'r Weithdrefn Contract 

185 - 188

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


11. Penodi Llywodraethwyr yr Awdurdod Lleol 189 - 192

12. Polisi Cwynion Corfforaethol 193 - 202

13. Blaen raglen Waith 203 - 214

14. Materion Brys  
I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn 
y dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â pharagraff 2.4 (e) o'r Rheolau 
Trefn y Cabinet yn y Cyfansoddiad.

Nodyn: Sylwch: Yn sgil yr angen i gadw pellter cymdeithasol, ni fydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei 
gynnal yn ei leoliad arferol. Yn hytrach, bydd hwn yn gyfarfod rhithwir a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion 
yn mynychu o bell. Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei recordio i’w ddarlledu ar wefan y Cyngor cyn gynted 
ag sy'n ymarferol ar ôl y cyfarfod. Os oes gennych unrhyw gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â 
cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643147 / 643148.

Yn ddiffuant
K Watson
Prif Swyddog – Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio

Dosbarthiad:

Cynghowrwyr Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr
HJ David
CE Smith

HM Williams
D Patel

RE Young
NA Burnett



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD YN YSTAFELL BWYLLGORA 1/2/3, 
SWYDDFEYDD DINESIG, STRYD YR ANGEL, PENYBONT AR OGWR DYDD MAWRTH, 20 
HYDREF 2020, AM 14:30

Presennol

Y Cynghorydd HJ David – Cadeirydd 

CE Smith HM Williams D Patel RE Young
NA Burnett

Swyddogion:

Janine Nightingale Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol, Cymunedau
Gill Lewis Pennaeth Cyllid a Swyddog 151 Dros Dro
Kelly Watson Prif Swyddog – Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio
Mark Shephard Prif Weithredwr
Deborah Exton Dirprwy Bennaeth Cyllid dros dro
Lindsay Harvey Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd
Martin Morgans Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Perfformiad a Gwasanaethau Partneriaeth
Claire Marchant Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles

546. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT

Datganodd y Cynghorydd N Burnett fuddiant personol yn eitem 15 ar yr Agenda, gan fod 
aelod agos o'r teulu yn derbyn Cludiant rhwng y Cartref a'r Ysgol.

547. CADARNHAU COFNODION

PENDERFYNIAD:           Bod Cofnodion cyfarfod y Cabinet dyddiedig 15 Medi 2020, 
yn cael eu cymeradwyo fel cofnod cywir.

548. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL 2019-20

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Prif Weithredwr, a'i ddiben oedd i'r Cabinet ystyried 
Adroddiad Blynyddol 2019-20 (sydd wedi'i atodi yn yr Atodiad i'r adroddiad eglurhaol) a'i 
argymell i'r Cyngor i'w gymeradwyo.

Dywedodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid, yn unol â 
chanllawiau statudol Rhannu Pwrpas Rhannu Dyfodol (SPSF: 2) ar gyfer Deddf Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015, fod yn rhaid i gyrff cyhoeddus unigol adolygu 
cynnydd eu hamcanion llesiant yn flynyddol a chyhoeddi adroddiad i asesu i ba raddau y 
mae'r amcanion hyn yn cyfrannu at y nodau llesiant yn unol â'r pennaeth datblygu 
cynaliadwy.

O dan adran 15 o Fesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2009 ac yn unol â'r canllawiau 
statudol cysylltiedig a gyhoeddwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru, rhaid i'r awdurdod hefyd 
gyhoeddi ei asesiad o berfformiad ar gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol flaenorol cyn 31 Hydref.

Esboniodd fod y Cyngor, ym mis Mawrth 2019, wedi cyhoeddi ei Gynllun Corfforaethol 
2018-22, a ddiwygiwyd yn 2019-20. Mae'r Cynllun yn nodi ei weledigaeth, sef 
gweithredu bob amser fel 'Un Cyngor yn cydweithio i wella bywydau', a'i dri amcan 
llesiant. Mae'r Cynllun hefyd yn ailadrodd yr amcanion llesiant ar gyfer 2019-20.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

Dywedodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid, fod y Cynllun yn 
diffinio 41 o ymrwymiadau i gyflawni'r tri amcan llesiant ac yn nodi 56 o ddangosyddion 
sy'n canolbwyntio ar ganlyniadau i fesur y cynnydd ar gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol.

Yn gyffredinol, perfformiodd y Cyngor yn dda iawn yn 2019-20, meddai. O'r 41 
ymrwymiad, cwblhawyd 34 (82.9%) yn llwyddiannus gyda 3 (7.3%) yn cyflawni'r rhan 
fwyaf o'u cerrig milltir a 4 (9.8%) yn methu’r rhan fwyaf o'u cerrig milltir. Roedd yna 
resymau y gellir eu cyfiawnhau pam y methwyd â chyrraedd rhai targedau.
O'r 56 dangosydd a nodwyd ar gyfer y Cynllun Corfforaethol, gellir cymharu 52 â'u 
targed: cyrhaeddodd 35 (67.3%) eu targed, methodd 9 (17.3%) â chyrraedd eu targed o 
lai na 10%, a methodd 8 (15.4%) â chyrraedd y targed o fwy na 10%. Cynhwyswyd 
gwybodaeth fanwl am berfformiad y Cyngor yn Atodiad A i'r adroddiad. 
  
Eglurodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid ymhellach, oherwydd 
Covid-19, fod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cadarnhau na fyddai unrhyw gasglu data o 
Fesurau Atebolrwydd Cyhoeddus ar gyfer 2019-20, felly ni wnaed unrhyw 
ddadansoddiad mewn perthynas â'r dangosyddion hyn.
Nodwyd crynodeb o gyllid a pherfformiad ariannol ar gyfer y flwyddyn, canfyddiadau a 
themâu rheoleiddwyr sy'n sail i waith y Cyngor hefyd yn yr adroddiad, a oedd, oherwydd 
y pandemig, wedi edrych ymlaen yn ogystal ag yn ôl. Nid oedd hyn wedi bod yn arfer ar 
gyfer yr Adroddiad Blynyddol yn y gorffennol.

Dywedodd yr Arweinydd fod yr adroddiad yn rhoi adlewyrchiad cywir a gonest o 
berfformiad Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a sut yr aseswyd hynny dros y 
12 mis diwethaf neu fwy, gan gynnwys cyflawniadau'r Cyngor a'r targedau perfformiad 
hynny na chawsant eu cyflawni.

Roedd rhai o'r pethau nas cyflawnwyd yn cynnwys sicrhau bod holl wasanaethau'r 
Cyngor ar-lein ar gael a pheidio â gwireddu gwerthiant cyfalaf Ysgol Bryn Castell, a 
oedd bellach wedi'i gyflawni.

Rhai llwyddiannau nodedig, fodd bynnag, oedd:

 Rhagori ar y targed o 180 o unigolion i ddod o hyd i gyflogaeth (334 
gwirioneddol)

 Cyflogi 35 o brentisiaid (targed 25)
 Prentisiaeth iau yng Ngholeg Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, gan gefnogi 72 x 15/16 oed, 

gan eu galluogi i gael dyheadau cyflogaeth
 Ffigur NEET trawiadol sy'n llai na hanner cyfartaledd Cymru
 Dod â Chartrefi Gwag i ddefnydd cyfanheddol, 20 (targed 5)
 Cyflwyno amddiffynfeydd arfordirol traeth tref Porthcawl ac adfywio ardal maes 

parcio Salt Lake.

Diolchodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol a Llesiant, i'r staff a fu'n rhan o'r 
gwaith o gynhyrchu'r Adroddiad Blynyddol a'r canlyniadau cadarnhaol a oedd wedi'u 
cynnwys yn y ddogfen hon. Teimlai mai'r hyn a oedd yn amlwg yn yr Adroddiad oedd y 
gwaith partneriaeth rhagorol a oedd yn digwydd rhwng yr awdurdod lleol a'r trydydd 
sector a Chynghorau Tref/Cymuned, ymhlith eraill.

Canmolodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Cymunedau lwyddiant y Metro Plus a'r Cais am Barcio a 
Theithio'r Pîl, gan gynnwys Terfynell Bysiau Porthcawl.

Canmolodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd hefyd y ddogfen a gynhyrchwyd yn llwyddiannus er 
bod heriau ariannol anodd iawn yn cael eu hwynebu, er mwyn darparu dros 800 o 
wasanaethau i etholwyr Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a'i ymwelwyr. Roedd gostyngiadau o £7.6m 

Page 4



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

yn y gyllideb yn 2019/20 a thros y 10 mlynedd diwethaf roedd arbedion o'r fath wedi dod 
i dros £60m ers dechrau cyni.

Roedd yr Aelod Cabinet – Addysg ac Adfywio yn falch o gadarnhau bod ad-drefnu 
Addysg ar gyfer yr 16 oed a throsodd wedi'i wireddu yn yr haf, gan arwain at bob ysgol 
yn y Fwrdeistref Sirol yn cael chweched dosbarth mewn rhyw gapasiti neu'i gilydd. 
Cyflawnwyd hyn drwy gydweithio i'r eithaf ym mhob ysgol ac, yn bwysig, byddai'n 
cynnwys dysgu cyfunol. Canmolodd hefyd gyflwyno'r sgwâr cyhoeddus ym marchnad 
agored Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. 

Daeth yr Aelod Cabinet – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar â’r ddadl ar 
yr eitem hon i ben, drwy ddweud ei bod yn falch o rai o gyflawniadau'r Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol, megis blaenoriaethu plant sy'n agored i niwed a datblygu MASH a 
Chanolfannau Cymorth Cynnar. Teimlai fod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar 
Ogwr hefyd mewn lle da i leihau nifer y Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal (LAC). 

PENDERFYNIAD: Bod y Cabinet wedi ystyried Adroddiad Blynyddol 2019-20 yn 
Atodiad A i'r adroddiad ac yn ei argymell i'r Cyngor i'w 
gymeradwyo.

549. MONITRO CYLLIDEB 2020-21 RHAGOLWG REFENIW CHWARTER 2

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Pennaeth Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid Dros Dro, a 
roddodd y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i'r Cabinet am sefyllfa ariannol refeniw'r Cyngor 
ar 30 Medi 2020, a cheisiodd gymeradwyaeth ar gyfer trosglwyddiadau cyllideb 
rhwng £100,000 a £500,000 fel sy'n ofynnol gan Reolau Gweithdrefn Ariannol y 
Cyngor.

Dechreuodd ei chyflwyniad, drwy ddweud bod y Cyngor, ar 26 Chwefror 2020, wedi 
cymeradwyo cyllideb refeniw net o £286.885 miliwn ar gyfer 2020-21. Fel rhan o'r 
Fframwaith Rheoli Perfformiad, adolygir amcanestyniadau cyllideb yn rheolaidd a'u 
hadrodd i'r Cabinet bob chwarter. Mae’r broses o gyflawni gostyngiadau y cytunwyd 
arnynt yn y gyllideb hefyd yn cael ei hadolygu a'i hadrodd i'r Cabinet fel rhan o'r 
broses hon. 

Rhoddodd Tabl 1 yn yr adroddiad gyllideb refeniw net y Cyngor a'r alldro 
rhagamcanol ar gyfer 2020-21 ar 30 Medi 2020. Dangosodd hyn dan wariant net o 
£31,000, yn cynnwys £3.488m net dros wariant ar gyfarwyddiaethau a than wariant 
net o £3.519m ar gyllidebau corfforaethol.

Roedd adran nesaf yr adroddiad yn amlinellu'r pwysau ariannol yr oedd y Cyngor 
wedi'u hwynebu ers Covid-19 a'r gwahanol ffyrdd negyddol yr oedd hyn wedi 
effeithio ar sefyllfa ariannol yr Awdurdod. Byddai'r pwysau hyn hefyd yn parhau hyd 
y gellir rhagweld, ychwanegodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro – Cyllid, Perfformiad a 
Newid.

Rhoddodd Tabl 2 yn yr adroddiad grynodeb o hawliadau gwariant Covid-19 hyd at fis 
Awst 2020, tra bod Tabl 3 wedi ailddechrau colli incwm o ganlyniad i'r pandemig ar 
gyfer Chwarter 1 2020-21, mewn perthynas ag Ysgolion ac yn y Cyfarwyddiaethau 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles, Addysg a Theuluoedd, Prif Weithredwyr a 
Chyfarwyddiaethau Cymunedau.

Yna rhannodd yr adroddiad wybodaeth am y meysydd canlynol:-

Page 5



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

1. Trosglwyddiadau cyllideb/addasiadau technegol;
2. Chwyddiant Cyflog/Prisiau;
3. Cynigion i Leihau'r Gyllideb

Yna rhoddodd Tabl 4 yn yr adroddiad rywfaint o wybodaeth am y Gostyngiadau 
Eithriadol yn y Gyllideb Blwyddyn Flaenorol, a oedd yn adlewyrchu'r gostyngiadau o 
£2.501m a oedd yn weddill, roedd £1.792m yn debygol o gael ei gyflawni yn 2020-
21, gan adael diffyg o £709k. Dangoswyd rhai o'r cynigion sy'n debygol o beidio 
â chael eu cyflawni ym mharagraff 4.2.2 o'r adroddiad.

Amlinellodd paragraff 4.2.4 y cynigion i Leihau'r Gyllideb gwerth cyfanswm o 
£2.413m, a nodir yn Atodiad 2 ac a grynhoir yn Nhabl 5 yn yr adroddiad. Y 
sefyllfa bresennol oedd diffyg rhagamcanol ar y targed arbedion o £451k, neu 
18.6% o'r gostyngiad cyffredinol yn y gyllideb.

Amgaewyd crynodeb o'r sefyllfa ariannol ar gyfer pob prif faes gwasanaeth yn 
Atodiad 3, a darparwyd sylwadau ar yr amrywiannau mwyaf arwyddocaol yn 
Nhabl 6 ym mharagraff 4.3 o'r adroddiad.

Yna canolbwyntiodd paragraffau olaf yr adroddiad ar faterion cyllidebol fesul 
Cyfarwyddiaeth (gan gynnwys ysgolion), cyllidebau'r Cyngor cyfan a Chronfeydd 
Wrth Gefn wedi'u Clustnodi, ac roedd yr olaf wedi'i ategu ymhellach yn ariannol.

Ychwanegodd y Dirprwy Bennaeth Cyllid Dros Dro fod hawliadau misol yn 
parhau i gael eu cyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru a bod ymatebion wythnosol yn 
cael eu derbyn ganddynt ynglŷn â'r rhain.  

Roedd yn falch o gadarnhau y byddai'r Cyngor yn derbyn hawliad o £300k tuag 
at gostau prydau ysgol am ddim ar gyfer eleni.

Dywedodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd y gallai'r Cyngor gymryd rhywfaint o foddhad o'r 
sefyllfa gyffredinol y cafodd yr Awdurdod ei hun ynddi yn ystod cyfnod anodd, er 
bod heriau mawr o'n blaenau o ran cyllidebau Cyfarwyddiaethau gyda'r 
pandemig yn parhau i gael effaith andwyol ar MTFS y Cyngor.

Roedd yn falch o'r cymorth ariannol yr oedd Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 
yn parhau i'w gael gan Lywodraeth Cymru, gyda thros £7m wedi dod i law hyd 
yma, er mwyn lliniaru'r pwysau ychwanegol a cholli incwm yr oedd y Cyngor 
wedi'i wynebu ers cyfnod clo'r Gwanwyn. Heb hyn, ychwanegodd, byddai'r 
Cyngor yn ei chael ei hun mewn sefyllfa amhosibl.

Roedd yn falch o gyhoeddi bod yr Awdurdod wedi buddsoddi £1m mewn Cronfa 
Adfer Economaidd, a sefydlwyd ar gyfer busnesau a thrigolion lleol fel ei gilydd. 
Defnyddiwyd hwn ar gyfer parcio ceir am ddim yng nghanol y dref, llai o daliadau 
rhent ar gyfer eiddo sy'n eiddo i Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a 
hepgor ffioedd llogi cyfleusterau Chwaraeon ar gyfer eleni.

Croesawodd hefyd y cymorth ariannol pellach a gafwyd i Fusnesau bach/canolig, 
er mwyn iddynt oroesi storm Covid-19.

Page 6



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

I gloi, dywedodd fod eleni wedi bod yn un anodd iawn. Fodd bynnag, yn wyneb y 
fath adfyd, llwyddodd y Cyngor i reoli ei gyllideb o hyd yn ogystal ag y gellid bod 
wedi'i ddisgwyl ac y byddai'n parhau i geisio cyllid allanol lle bynnag y bo modd, 
er mwyn parhau i gryfhau hyn.     
    
PENDERFYNIAD:                            Bod y Cabinet wedi: 

(1)         Nodi’r sefyllfa refeniw a ragwelir ar gyfer 2020-21
(2)         Argymell y dylai’r Cyngor gymeradwyo’r trosglwyddiadau rhwng £100,000 a 

£500,000 fel yr amlinellir ym mharagraff 4.1.14 o’r adroddiad.  

550. Y DIWEDDARAF AM Y RHAGLEN GYFALAF - CHWARTER 2 2020-21

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Prif Swyddog – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid, mewn 
perthynas â diweddariad o'r Rhaglen Gyfalaf ar gyfer y cyfnod chwarter a grybwyllir 
uchod.

Atgoffodd yr Aelodau, ar 26 Chwefror 2020, fod y Cyngor wedi cymeradwyo rhaglen 
gyfalaf ar gyfer y cyfnod 2020-21 i 2029-30 fel rhan o'r Strategaeth Ariannol Tymor 
Canolig (MTFS). Cafodd y rhaglen gyfalaf ei diweddaru a'i chymeradwyo ddiwethaf gan 
y Cyngor ar 22 Gorffennaf 2020. Roedd yr adroddiad hwn yn rhoi'r wybodaeth 
ddiweddaraf am y meysydd canlynol:

 Y diweddaraf am y Rhaglen Gyfalaf - Chwarter 2 2020-21
 Rhaglen Gyfalaf 2020-21 Ymlaen;
 Dangosyddion Darbodus a Dangosyddion Eraill;
 Monitro'r Strategaeth Gyfalaf

Gan droi at y Rhaglen Gyfalaf, cyfeiriodd y Prif Swyddog Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid at 
baragraff 4.1 o'r adroddiad. Roedd yr adran hon o'r adroddiad yn rhoi'r wybodaeth 
ddiweddaraf i'r Aelodau am raglen gyfalaf y Cyngor ar gyfer 2020-21 ers i'r gyllideb gael 
ei chymeradwyo ddiwethaf gan y Cyngor ac mae'n ymgorffori unrhyw gynlluniau newydd 
a chymeradwyaethau grant. Ar hyn o bryd, mae'r rhaglen ddiwygiedig ar gyfer 2020-21 
yn dod i gyfanswm o £53.541 miliwn, y mae £27.850 miliwn ohono'n dod o adnoddau 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, gan gynnwys derbyniadau cyfalaf a 
chyfraniadau refeniw o gronfeydd wrth gefn wedi’u clustnodi, gyda'r £25.691 miliwn sy'n 
weddill yn dod o adnoddau allanol, gan gynnwys y Grant Cyfalaf Cyffredinol.

Dangosodd Tabl 1 yn yr adran hon o'r adroddiad y rhaglen gyfalaf ar gyfer pob
Cyfarwyddiaeth o safbwynt cymeradwy'r Cyngor ym mis Gorffennaf 2020 (Chwarter 1) 
hyd at chwarter 2.

Yna, crynhodd Tabl 2 y tybiaethau ariannu presennol ar gyfer y rhaglen
gyfalaf ar gyfer 2020-21. Rheolir yr adnoddau cyfalaf i sicrhau’r
budd ariannol mwyaf posibl i'r Cyngor. Gall hyn gynnwys
adlinio cyllid er mwyn sicrhau'r grantiau mwyaf posibl gan y llywodraeth, eglurodd.

Yna cyfeiriodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid at Atodiad A yr adroddiad, 
a oedd yn rhoi manylion y cynlluniau unigol yn y rhaglen gyfalaf, gan ddangos y gyllideb 
a oedd ar gael yn 2020-21 o gymharu â'r gwariant rhagamcanol.

Nodwyd eisoes bod angen llithriant cyllideb ar nifer o gynlluniau i flynyddoedd y dyfodol 
(2021-22 a thu hwnt). Yn chwarter 2, cyfanswm y llithriant y gofynnwyd amdano oedd 
£13.875 miliwn. Dangoswyd manylion y cynlluniau hyn ym mharagraff 4.4 yr adroddiad.

Page 7



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

Dywedodd fod nifer o gynlluniau newydd wedi'u cymeradwyo a'u hariannu'n fewnol ers 
yr adroddiad cyfalaf diwethaf ym mis Gorffennaf 2020, sydd wedi'u hymgorffori yn y 
rhaglen gyfalaf. Cafodd y rhain eu cynnwys ar dudalen 123/124 o'r adroddiad, gyda 
Rhaglen Gyfalaf Ddiwygiedig wedi'i chynnwys yn Atodiad B (i'r adroddiad).

Ym mis Chwefror 2020, cymeradwyodd y Cyngor y Strategaeth Gyfalaf ar gyfer 2020-
21, a oedd yn cynnwys Dangosyddion Darbodus 2020-21 i 2022-23 ynghyd â rhai 
dangosyddion lleol.

Roedd Atodiad C yr adroddiad yn manylu ar y dangosyddion gwirioneddol ar gyfer 2019-
20, yr amcangyfrif o'r dangosyddion ar gyfer 2020-21 a nodir yn Strategaeth Gyfalaf y 
Cyngor, a'r dangosyddion rhagamcanol ar gyfer 2020-21 yn seiliedig ar y Rhaglen 
Gyfalaf ddiwygiedig. Dangosodd y rhain fod y Cyngor yn gweithredu yn unol â'r terfynau 
cymeradwy.  

Clodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid, drwy roi naratif byr ar Strategaeth 
Monitro Cyfalaf y Cyngor.

Dywedodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd mai rhaglen hirdymor 10 mlynedd oedd hon ac roedd yn 
falch o gyhoeddi y byddai'r £220m a ymrwymwyd i waith cyfalaf dros y cyfnod hwn yn 
chwarae rhan sylweddol yn ein hadferiad o'r sefyllfa bresennol. Byddai hyn yn cynnwys 
dilyniant o Raglen Ysgolion 21ain Ganrif, a fyddai'n parhau ac o fudd i'r genhedlaeth 
nesaf.

Ychwanegodd yr Arweinydd ei fod yn falch o weld cyfeiriad at fuddsoddiad o £1.28m 
tuag at arbedion Effeithlonrwydd Ynni yn adeiladau'r Cyngor. Roedd hwn yn ymrwymiad 
i leihau allyriadau carbon deuocsid. Roedd hefyd yn falch o nodi bod yr Awdurdod wedi 
sicrhau £300k ar gyfer 11A Nolton Street lle'r oedd gwaith yn parhau i gael ei gynllunio 
yn dilyn y ‘cyfnod atal byr’ presennol. Yn olaf, cyhoeddodd ei fod hefyd yn falch o weld y 
buddsoddiad parhaus mewn adeiladau yng nghanol tref Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, gyda 
darparu 10 Cartref Fforddiadwy arall a darpariaethau Llwybrau Diogel mewn cymunedau 
lleol, yn ogystal â mentrau eraill y cyfeirir atynt yn yr adroddiad.

PENDERFYNIAD:                           Bod y Cabinet wedi:

•          Nodi rhaglen gyfalaf y Cyngor ar gyfer 2020-21 ar gyfer y cyfnod hyd at 30 Medi 
2020 yn Atodiad A i'r adroddiad;

• Cytuno y dylid cyflwyno'r Rhaglen Gyfalaf ddiwygiedig (Atodiad B) i'r Cyngor i'w 
gymeradwyo;

• Nodi’r Dangosyddion Darbodus a Dangosyddion eraill rhagamcanol ar gyfer 
2020-21, yn Atodiad C i'r adroddiad.

551. GWASANAETH MEWNOL AR GYFER DIODDEFWYR CAMDRINIAETH DDOMESTIG

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid, a'i 
ddiben oedd ceisio cymeradwyaeth i ddod â'r ddarpariaeth galw heibio a chymorth / 
cymorth arnawf yn elfennau cymunedol darpariaeth cam-drin domestig a ariennir gan 
Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yn fewnol, i'w ddarparu'n uniongyrchol gan 
Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a datblygu pwynt cyswllt / cymorth cyntaf a 
arweinir gan anghenion newydd yn y gwasanaeth cymunedol i ddioddefwyr cam-drin 
domestig a fydd yn cael ei ddarparu'n fewnol gan staff a gyflogir gan Gyngor Bwrdeistref 
Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr.

Esboniodd fod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr ar hyn o bryd yn ariannu 
amrywiaeth o wasanaethau cam-drin domestig drwy gontract a gomisiynir yn allanol. 

Page 8



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

Hwn oedd y contract Gwasanaethau Cam-drin Domestig Integredig, fel y nodwyd ym 
mharagraff 3.1 o'r adroddiad.

Yn dilyn cymeradwyaeth flaenorol gan y Cabinet ar 17 Medi 2019 i barhau i ddarparu 
gwasanaethau, daw'r contract Gwasanaethau Cam-drin Domestig Integredig presennol i 
ben ar 30 Ebrill 2021. Nid oedd lle pellach i ymestyn y contract presennol. Mae'n ofynnol 
rhoi trefniadau ar waith i wella hygyrchedd a lleihau dyblygu gwasanaethau i'r rhai sy'n 
byw ac yn gweithio ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr. Yn y tymor hwy, roedd ymrwymiad i 
archwilio'r gwaith o fodelu a chomisiynu gwasanaethau rhanbarthol ar draws Rhanbarth 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg a Phen-y-bont ar Ogwr.

Yn ogystal â'r gwasanaethau uchod, cyflogodd Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar 
Ogwr dri Eiriolwr Annibynnol ar Drais Domestig (IDVAs) yn uniongyrchol hefyd, sy'n 
gweithio ochr yn ochr â darparwr allanol y contract Gwasanaethau Cam-drin Domestig 
Integredig fel rhan o'r 'Assia Suite'. 

Dywedodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro – Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid, fod y ddarpariaeth ar 
gyfer dioddefwyr cam-drin domestig yn allweddol o ran cyflawni dyletswyddau Cyngor 
Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr o dan Ddeddf Trais yn Erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin 
Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 ("Deddf VAWDASV"). Fel y nodir yn yr 
adroddiad, daw'r contract presennol a gomisiynir yn allanol i ben ar 30 Ebrill 2021. 
Daeth Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr bellach o fewn ôl troed rhanbarthol diwygiedig Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg ac felly mae'r cyfle i gynllunio a chomisiynu rhanbarthol yn ei ddyddiau 
cynnar. Nodir bod meysydd sy'n peri pryder mewn perthynas â'r model darparu 
presennol ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr a bod angen i hyn newid er mwyn sicrhau bod 
dioddefwyr yn cael y gwasanaethau gorau posibl.

Parhaodd drwy gynghori, yn unol â Deddf VAWDASV a chanllawiau comisiynu dilynol, 
fod asesiad annibynnol o angen wedi’i gomisiynu yn 2019 gan Ferthyr Tudful Mwy 
Diogel ar ran partneriaeth VAWDASV Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, Asesiad Anghenion 
VAWDASV Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, i helpu i lywio angen a chomisiynu yn y dyfodol. Yn 
ogystal, cwblhawyd ail ddarn o waith annibynnol yn gynnar yn 2020, a adolygodd 
gryfderau a gwendidau'r ddarpariaeth bresennol, yr Adolygiad o'r gwasanaethau Trais 
yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr, a 
gomisiynwyd gan Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr.

Dywedodd y Pennaeth Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid Dros Dro fod yr asesiad o anghenion 
a'r adolygiad o'r ddarpariaeth bresennol yn cael eu cynnal gan yr un Ymgynghorydd 
Cam-drin Domestig Annibynnol. Rhoddodd adrannau nesaf yr adroddiad wybodaeth 
bellach a gasglwyd o ganlyniad i hyn, gan gynnwys mewn perthynas â'r Assia Suite. Fel 
y gellid gweld o'r canfyddiadau, awgrymodd hyn y gellid gwneud gwelliannau pellach yn 
y ddarpariaeth a ddarperir drwy'r Assia Suite.

Er mwyn helpu i fynd i'r afael â'r materion hyn a gallu darparu gwasanaeth cyson o 
ansawdd uchel dan arweiniad anghenion, cynigiwyd bod yr IDVA a'r ddarpariaeth galw 
heibio a gomisiynir yn allanol ar hyn o bryd a chymorth arnawf yn y timau cymunedol yn 
cael eu dwyn ynghyd i ffurfio tîm cymwysedig a phrofiadol cyfannol, sy'n seiliedig ar 
drawma sy'n cael ei reoli'n fewnol gan Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. 
Amlinellodd rhan nesaf yr adroddiad rai o'r manteision y byddai cynnig o'r fath yn eu 
cynnig.
 
Er mwyn hwyluso'r newid hwn, byddai staff o'r darparwr a gomisiynir yn allanol yn cael 
eu trosglwyddo i Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yn unol â threfniadau 
TUPE i greu tîm newydd, ochr yn ochr â'r staff IDVA presennol. 

Page 9



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

Dylid nodi mai ymwneud â’r elfennau Assia Suite o'r ddarpariaeth bresennol yn unig yr 
oedd y cynnig hwn; bydd ymarfer comisiynu ar wahân yn cael ei gynnal ar gyfer 
elfennau eraill y ddarpariaeth cam-drin domestig bresennol, gan gynnwys 
gwasanaethau llety / lloches a darpariaeth i blant a phobl ifanc. Bydd yr ymarfer hwn yn 
caniatáu parhau i ddarparu'r elfennau hyn o 1 Mai 2021.

Bydd y gwasanaeth mewnol arfaethedig yn cael ei sefydlu yn unol â safonau ansawdd 
arbenigol y sector er mwyn sicrhau'r diogelwch mwyaf posibl a mynediad at gymorth i 
ddioddefwyr. Bydd disgwyl i ddarpariaeth fewnol a gwasanaethau a gomisiynir wedyn 
ddangos eu bod yn glynu wrth y safonau perthnasol.

Bydd y gwasanaeth arfaethedig yn cael ei ddarparu'n fewnol tra bydd y trafodaethau a 
amlinellir yn adrannau 4.29 i 4.31 o'r adroddiad, mewn perthynas â dull rhanbarthol o 
gomisiynu yn cael eu cynnal.

Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol a Lles ei bod yn ffaith drist bod 
cam-drin domestig ar gynnydd a bod yr adroddiad hwn yn cyflwyno rhai cynigion a fydd 
yn helpu i fynd i'r afael â'r broblem. Ychwanegodd fod yr argymhellion a wnaed hefyd yn 
deillio o adolygiadau annibynnol a byddai'r Cyngor yn gweithio gyda phartneriaid yn 
ystod yr wythnosau a'r misoedd nesaf i fynd i'r afael ag argymhellion eraill yn yr 
adolygiad, megis cynnig y Cyngor o gymorth i grŵp ehangach o unigolion, megis BAME 
a lleoliad gwasanaethau. Byddai'r gwasanaethau cymorth presennol a ddarperir yn 
ehangu. Diolchodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol a Lles i Gomisiynydd yr 
Heddlu a Throseddu am ei fewnbwn a'i adborth ar y fenter hon hefyd, a oedd wedi helpu 
i lunio'r adroddiad a'i argymhellion.

Adleisiwyd hyn gan yr Aelod Cabinet – Cymunedau, fel Cadeirydd y Bartneriaeth 
Diogelwch Cymunedol. Dywedodd fod cam-drin domestig, yn anffodus, wedi cynyddu 
ers i'r pandemig ddechrau. Ychwanegodd fod Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throseddu wedi 
bod yn canmol cyfeiriad presennol y Cyngor o ran rhoi prosesau a gweithdrefnau mwy 
cadarn ar waith i helpu pobl a oedd yn dioddef pob math o gam-drin domestig.

Dywedodd yr Arweinydd ei bod yn bwysig nodi mai'r adroddiad oedd y cyntaf mewn 
cyfres o gamau gweithredu a fyddai'n cael eu dilyn, er mwyn gwella'r llwybrau cymorth a 
oedd ar gael ar hyn o bryd. Byddai'r Cabinet yn aros am adroddiadau pellach, mewn 
perthynas â pharhau i ailfodelu gwasanaethau er mwyn diwallu anghenion dioddefwyr 
yn y ffordd orau. Byddai'r Cyngor yn parhau i ymgysylltu â'i randdeiliaid i ddatblygu'r 
gwasanaeth ymhellach.  

PENDERFYNIAD:                           Bod y Cabinet wedi:

1. Cymeradwyo’r gostyngiad yn y ddarpariaeth a chymorth yn ôl yr 
angen/gwasanaeth cymorth yn y gymuned, sydd ar hyn o bryd yn rhan o gontract 
y Gwasanaethau Cam-drin Domestig Integredig mewnol.

2. Cymeradwyo datblygu pwynt cyswllt cyntaf/cymorth yn ôl yr angen newydd yn y 
gymuned (gan gynnwys cymorth galw heibio a chymorth yn ôl yr 
angen/gwasanaeth cymorth yn y gymuned, cymorthfeydd allgymorth) ar gyfer 
dioddefwyr cam-drin domestig, i’w darparu'n fewnol gan staff a gyflogir gan 
Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr.

552. NEWYDDIAD CONTRACTAU AR GYFER GWASANAETHAU A DDARPERIR GAN 
BRIDGEND COUNTY CROSSROADS, CARING FOR CARERS

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
a Lles, i geisio awdurdod i hepgor Rheolau Gweithdrefn Contract y Cyngor yn unol â 
RhGC 3.2.9.4 mewn perthynas â'r contractau canlynol:

Page 10



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

 Darparu Gwasanaeth Seibiannau Byr a Reoleiddir;
 Darparu Gwasanaeth Gofal Cartref

Dyfarnwyd y ddau gontract i Bridgend County Crossroads yn dilyn proses gaffael ar 
gyfer pob contract ac yn unol â Rheolau Gweithdrefn Contract y Cyngor. Amlinellwyd 
manylion y contractau yn Adran 3. o'r adroddiad.

Ychwanegodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles: Mae 
Bridgend County Crossroads wedi bod yn gweithredu o dan strwythur grŵp a reolir gan 
Ymddiriedolaeth Gofalwyr De-ddwyrain Cymru ers 1 Awst 2019. Mae Ymddiriedolaeth 
Gofalwyr De-ddwyrain Cymru wedi cyflwyno cais ffurfiol i Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-
y-bont ar Ogwr i roi'r ddau gontract a nodir ym mharagraffau 3.1 a 3.2 (o'r adroddiad) i 
Ymddiriedolaeth Gofalwyr De-ddwyrain Cymru, er mwyn sicrhau bod yr holl faterion 
busnes a chontractiol yn dod o dan y rhiant-sefydliad.

Mae gan y ddau gontract ddarpariaeth sy'n caniatáu i'r darparwr drosglwyddo'r contract 
gyda chydsyniad y Cyngor.

Eglurodd ymhellach fod y ddau gontract y sonnir amdanynt gyda Bridgend County 
Crossroads yn cynnwys darpariaeth benodol sy'n caniatáu i'r contractau gael eu dilyn 
gyda chydsyniad y Cyngor. Yn ogystal, mae'r Adran Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles 
wedi gwneud diwydrwydd dyladwy ar Ymddiriedolaeth Gofalwyr De-ddwyrain Cymru ac i 
sicrhau bod Ymddiriedolaeth Gofalwyr De-ddwyrain Cymru yn bodloni gofynion y meini 
prawf gwreiddiol ar gyfer dethol ansoddol a sefydlwyd i ddechrau o'r tendrau perthnasol 
ar gyfer y ddau gontract. Cwblhaodd a dychwelodd Ymddiriedolaeth Gofalwyr De-
ddwyrain Cymru y meini prawf ar gyfer y detholiad ansoddol cychwynnol a chanfuwyd 
eu bod yn bodloni'r gofynion hynny.

Ni fydd natur gyffredinol y contractau'n cael ei newid gan y newyddiad hwn a bydd yr holl 
delerau cytundebol yn aros yn ddigyfnewid.

Cwblhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles ei 
chyflwyniad, drwy ddweud nad oes unrhyw bryderon ar hyn o bryd ynglŷn â'r 
gwasanaethau sy'n cael eu darparu gan Bridgend County Crossroads ac felly ystyrir nad 
oes unrhyw risgiau gweithredol o ran rhoi'r contractau ar waith.
  
Roedd yr Aelod Cabinet – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar yn cefnogi'r 
adroddiad ac yn cydnabod bod byrdwn yr adroddiad yn ymwneud â newid gweinyddol, 
yn hytrach na newid yn y gwasanaethau a ddarperir. Nododd ymhellach hefyd y byddai 
cynigion yr adroddiad yn cynnal y gwasanaeth o ansawdd rhagorol a oedd wedi'i 
ddarparu'n flaenorol.

Daeth yr Arweinydd â’r ddadl i ben gan adleisio’r sylwadau hyn.

PENDERFYNIAD:                          Bod y Cabinet wedi:

• Awdurdodi hepgor Rheolau Gweithdrefn Contract y Cyngor i ganiatáu addasu'r 
contract presennol gyda Bridgend County Crossroads Caring for Carers mewn 
perthynas â darparu Gwasanaeth Gofal Cartref drwy gydsynio i roi'r contract 
hwnnw ar waith i Ymddiriedolaeth Gofalwyr De-ddwyrain Cymru yn unol â RhGC 
3.2.9.4;

  • Awdurdodi hepgor Rheolau Gweithdrefn Contract y Cyngor i ganiatáu addasu'r 
contract presennol gyda Bridgend County Crossroads Caring for Carers mewn 
perthynas â darparu Gwasanaeth Gofal Cartref drwy gydsynio i roi newyddiad i’r 

Page 11



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

contract i Ymddiriedolaeth Gofalwyr De-ddwyrain Cymru yn unol â RhGC 
3.2.9.4;

• Awdurdod dirprwyedig i'r Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol a Lles i roi caniatâd ysgrifenedig i'r newyddiad ac ymrwymo i 
weithred o newyddiad ar gyfer y contractau perthnasol mewn ymgynghoriad â'r 
Pennaeth Cyllid Dros Dro a’r Swyddog Adran 151 a Phrif Swyddog - 
Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio ac i drefnu i'r weithred 
o newyddiad gael ei gweithredu ar ran y Cyngor, ar yr amod bod awdurdod 
dirprwyedig o'r fath yn cael ei arfer mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Prif Swyddog - 
Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio.

553. GWASANAETH CYMORTH SEFYDLOGRWYDD AMLASIANTAETHOL (MAPSS) – 
GWASANAETHAU PLANT

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
a Lles, er mwyn:

 Gofyn am gymeradwyaeth i fod yn rhan o broses dendro, o fewn rhanbarth Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg, ar gyfer Gwasanaeth Cymorth Sefydlogrwydd Amlasiantaethol 
rhanbarthol ar gyfer Plant a Phobl Ifanc sy'n derbyn gofal, neu sydd â chynllun ar 
gyfer mabwysiadu, ac ymrwymo i gytundeb cydweithredu rhanbarthol; a 

 Cheisio caniatâd i ddirprwyo awdurdod i Bennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol Plant 
gynrychioli Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a gwneud 
penderfyniadau o fewn y Bwrdd Prosiect Rhanbarthol Plant, a fydd yn 
llywodraethu ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Cymorth Sefydlogrwydd Amlasiantaethol 
rhanbarthol.

Esboniodd fod y Gwasanaeth Cymorth Sefydlogrwydd Amlasiantaethol (MAPSS) yn 
cynnig asesiad i nodi anghenion plentyn a'i fod yn darparu amrywiaeth o ymyriadau a 
strategaethau therapiwtig i blant a'u gofalwyr, gan gefnogi'r plentyn i brosesu profiadau 
bywyd trawmatig ac anodd.

Comisiynwyd adolygiad y Sefydliad Gofal Cyhoeddus gan Fwrdd Prosiect Plant Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg, i adolygu anghenion iechyd meddwl a lles plant sy'n derbyn gofal, a 
datblygwyd achos busnes i nodi gofynion gwasanaeth a chefnogi cais am gyllid y Gronfa 
Gofal Integredig.

Gan droi at y sefyllfa bresennol, cadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles, os oes angen asesiad neu unrhyw fath o 
wasanaethau therapiwtig ar blentyn sy'n derbyn gofal neu a fabwysiadwyd, fod Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr yn defnyddio'r ddarpariaeth hon ar hyn o bryd drwy drefniadau prynu ar 
hap sy'n gostus ac yn cymryd llawer o amser, ac y gall ansawdd a chanlyniadau i'r 
plentyn fod yn amrywiol.

Esboniodd, yn dilyn yr adolygiad o'r Comisiwn Cynllunio Seilwaith a'r angen a nodwyd 
am wasanaeth o'r fath ar draws y rhanbarth, y cynigir caffael y MAPSS yn rhanbarthol 
gyda Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf, Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr 
Tudful a Phen-y-bont ar Ogwr.

Bydd y gwasanaeth newydd yn penodi darparwr arbenigol i helpu i greu gwasanaeth 
'ymyrraeth therapiwtig' cyfannol, amlddisgyblaethol i gefnogi sefydlogrwydd lleoliadau a 
sicrhau canlyniadau cadarnhaol i blant sydd â'r anghenion mwyaf drwy gydweithio, 
asesiadau cadarn a chyfres o opsiynau therapiwtig.

Page 12



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

Mae swyddogion Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr wedi gweithio gyda 
phartneriaid rhanbarthol i ddatblygu manyleb y gwasanaeth ar gyfer caffael y darparwr 
gwasanaeth a byddant yn cymryd rhan yn y broses dendro a'r panel gwerthuso. Bydd 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf yn gweithredu fel Awdurdod Arweiniol ar 
gyfer yr ymarfer caffael rhanbarthol.  

Bydd mesurau perfformiad cadarn yn cael eu cynnwys yn y dogfennau tendro i asesu'r 
canlyniadau tymor byr, canolig a hir er mwyn dangos cyflawniad a gwerth am arian. 
Cynigir y bydd y contract gwasanaeth am 3 blynedd.

Cwblhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles ei 
chyflwyniad, drwy ddweud y bydd cytundeb cydweithredu rhwng y rhanbarth yn cael ei 
sefydlu i nodi sut y bydd Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf, Cyngor 
Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful yn 
cydweithio ac yn cynnig cymorth i'r darparwr gwasanaeth ddarparu'r gwasanaeth yn 
llawn. Gofynnwyd am gymeradwyaeth gan y Rheolwr Caffael Corfforaethol i'r trefniant 
hwn.

Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar, fod 
hon yn fenter bwysig iawn a'i bod yn Bwynt Gweithredu yng Nghynllun Cyflawni 5 
Mlynedd y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol. Byddai'r cyllid yn rhoi cymorth hanfodol i blant 
sy'n agored i niwed, gan gynnwys ymyriadau therapiwtig a fyddai hefyd yn rhoi cymorth 
amhrisiadwy i helpu i liniaru'r bobl ifanc hynny a oedd efallai wedi profi plentyndod 
andwyol hir.

Adleisiodd yr Arweinydd hyn ac roedd yn falch iawn o'r gwerth £2m o gyllid a 
ddarparwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru i gefnogi'r Prosiect.

PENDERFYNIAD:                              Bod y Cabinet wedi:

1. Cymeradwyo bod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yn ymrwymo i 
gytundeb cydweithredu rhanbarthol gyda Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda 
Cynon Taf a Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful ar gyfer darparu MAPSS;

2. Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i'r Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol a Lles mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Pennaeth Cyllid Dros Dro a’r 
Swyddog Adran 151 a’r Prif Swyddog - Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau 
Dynol a Rheoleiddio i gytuno ar delerau'r cytundeb cydweithredu rhanbarthol ac 
unrhyw gytundebau ategol ac i drefnu i'r cytundeb cydweithredu rhanbarthol gael 
ei weithredu ar ran y Cyngor, ar yr amod bod awdurdod dirprwyedig o'r fath yn 
cael ei arfer mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Prif Swyddog - Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, 
Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio;

3. Cymeradwyo bod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr yn rhan o'r 
ymarfer caffael rhanbarthol i gomisiynu darparwr gwasanaeth i ddarparu'r 
MAPSS, gyda Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf yn gweithredu fel 
awdurdod arweiniol ar gyfer y broses gaffael ac i nodi y ceisir cymeradwyaeth i 
ddyfarnu'r contract gwasanaeth MAPSS rhanbarthol drwy bwerau dirprwyedig (o 
dan Gynllun Dirprwyo Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr) unwaith y 
bydd y broses gaffael a gwerthuso wedi'i chynnal; a

4. Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i Bennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol Plant i gynrychioli a 
gwneud penderfyniadau ar ran Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr fel 
rhan o'r Bwrdd Prosiect Rhanbarthol.

   
554. DEDDF RHEOLEIDDIO PWERAU YMCHWILIO 2000

Cyflwynodd y Swyddog Monitro adroddiad, a oedd yn gofyn i'r Cabinet gymeradwyo'r 
polisi diwygiedig o dan Ddeddf Rheoleiddio Pwerau Ymchwilio 2000 (RIPA).

Page 13



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

Rhoddodd yr adroddiad rywfaint o wybodaeth gefndirol, ac yn dilyn hynny dywedodd y 
Swyddog Monitro mai dim ond mewn achosion lle mae'n bwysig cael gwybodaeth i 
gefnogi achosion troseddol posibl y defnyddiwyd RIPA, a dim ond lle na ellir cael y 
wybodaeth honno drwy unrhyw ddull arall.  Ni fu unrhyw awdurdodiadau ar gyfer RIPA 
ers mis Ebrill 2014, ychwanegodd.  

Rhesymau eraill sy'n debygol o roi cyfrif am y gostyngiad yn nifer yr awdurdodiadau a 
geisir oedd:

 gostyngiad yn nifer y digwyddiadau y mae angen eu hymchwilio, a 
 mwy o ymwybyddiaeth o gwmpas RIPA a'r dewisiadau amgen i wyliadwriaeth 

gudd o ganlyniad i hyfforddiant a ddarperir i Swyddogion Awdurdodi.   

Y Swyddog Monitro sy'n gweithredu fel yr Uwch Swyddog Cyfrifol yn y swydd hon oedd 
yn bennaf gyfrifol am ddefnyddio RIPA.  Mae'r polisi sydd ynghlwm yn Atodiad 1 i'r 
adroddiad wedi'i adolygu a'i ddiweddaru i sicrhau ei fod yn parhau'n addas at y diben ac 
yn unol â'r Codau Ymarfer diwygiedig a gyhoeddwyd gan y Swyddfa Gartref. 

Ychwanegodd y Swyddog Monitro fod y Polisi diwygiedig yn adlewyrchu bod y 
Gwasanaeth Rheoleiddio a Rennir a'r Gwasanaeth Twyll Budd-dal Tai bellach yn cael 
eu darparu gan asiantaethau partner.

Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol a Lles, fod ambell ychwanegiad i'r 
Polisi hefyd, sef safleoedd Rhyngrwyd a Rhwydweithio Cymdeithasol a newidiadau 
mewn Rheoli Cofnodion. Roedd yn falch o weld y newidiadau hyn, o gofio bod safleoedd 
rhwydweithio cymdeithasol yn cynyddu.

PENDERFYNIAD:                   Bod y Cabinet yn cymeradwyo'r Polisi diwygiedig fel y'i 
hatodir yn Atodiad 1 i'r adroddiad.

555. CYNRYCHIOLAETH AR GYDBWYLLGORAU A CHYRFF ALLANOL

Cyflwynodd y Swyddog Monitro adroddiad, a'i ddiben oedd ceisio cymeradwyaeth y 
Cabinet i benodi Aelodau i gydbwyllgorau ac enwebu Aelodau i gyrff allanol. Atodir 
rhestr o'r cydbwyllgorau a chyrff allanol dan sylw yn Atodiad 1 i'r adroddiad.

Cynigiwyd y dylid penodi Aelodau am gyfnod o flwyddyn i'r gwahanol gyrff fel y nodir yn 
Atodiad yr adroddiad, ac eithrio pan oedd dirymu penodiad yn gynharach yn briodol. 

Ychwanegodd y Swyddog Monitro y cynigiwyd ymhellach, pan fydd y Cabinet yn 
enwebu ar sail rôl Aelod o fewn yr Awdurdod, fod y penodiad yn gysylltiedig â'r rôl ac nid 
i'r Aelod unigol, e.e. Cadeirydd Craffu, Aelod Cabinet ac ati.

Gwnaed pob penodiad, gyda'r dybiaeth bod y rhai a benodwyd yn cynrychioli Cyngor 
Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. Os bydd unrhyw un a benodwyd yn peidio â bod 
yn Gynghorydd Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, bydd yn peidio â chynrychioli'r 
Awdurdod hwn a disgwylir iddynt roi'r gorau i'w penodiadau yn ôl yr angen.

PENDERFYNIAD:                    Bod y Cabinet wedi penodi’r nifer ofynnol o Aelodau i'r 
cydbwyllgorau a chyrff allanol eraill fel y rhestrir yn 
Atodiad 1 i'r adroddiad, ar yr amod bod yr Arweinydd 
yn camu o’r neilltu o Lys Llywodraethwyr Prifysgol 
Abertawe ac i’r Aelod Cabinet – Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar gymryd ei le. 

Page 14



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

556. GWASANAETHAU RHEOLEIDDIO A RENNIR - AMRYWIAD I GYTUNDEB 
CYDWEITHIO

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Prif Swyddog, Gwasanaethau Adnoddau Dynol, Cyfreithiol 
a Rheoleiddio i geisio cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i newidiadau arfaethedig i'r Cytundeb 
Cydweithio fel yr amlinellir yn yr adroddiad ac ymrwymo i Weithred Amrywio.

Amlygodd cefndir yr adroddiad fod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, Cyngor 
Dinas Caerdydd, a Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Bro Morgannwg, ym mis Ebrill 2015, wedi 
llofnodi Cytundeb Cydweithio ar gyfer darparu gwasanaethau rheoleiddio ar draws tair 
ardal y Cyngor. Crëodd y ddogfen y Gwasanaeth Rheoleiddio a Rennir a'r Cydbwyllgor 
Gwasanaethau Rheoleiddio a Rennir.

Cafodd y Cytundeb Cydweithio ei amrywio wedyn gan bob parti drwy Weithred Amrywio 
yn 2017 y rhoddodd y Cabinet gymeradwyaeth iddo ar 28 Mawrth 2017.

          Parhaodd drwy gadarnhau bod Deddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Ffioedd etc) (Cymru) 2019 wedi 
dod i rym ar 5 Mai 2019. Ers 1 Medi 2019, rhwystrwyd asiantau gosod a landlordiaid 
sy'n rheoli eu heiddo eu hunain rhag codi unrhyw ffioedd cyn, yn ystod neu ar ôl 
tenantiaeth oni bai eu bod wedi'u heithrio'n benodol yn y Ddeddf.

Gallai'r Cyngor a Rent Smart Wales (fel yr Awdurdod Trwyddedu Sengl) ymgymryd â 
gorfodi'r rhain a gofynion penodol eraill fel y manylir arnynt yn yr adroddiad. Byddai hyn 
yn cyfrannu at brofiad tecach a mwy tryloyw i denantiaid sy'n dibynnu ar y sector rhentu 
preifat. 

Esboniodd fod troseddau'n cael eu cyflawni lle mae landlordiaid a/neu asiantau yn 
methu â chydymffurfio â'r Ddeddf. Dirprwywyd y swyddogaethau i’r Gwasanaeth 
Rheoleiddio a Rennir. O ganlyniad, mae'r tri Chyngor yn dymuno diwygio'r Cytundeb 
Cydweithio i ychwanegu'r swyddogaeth hon at y rhestr o swyddogaethau a ddirprwywyd 
i'r Gwasanaeth Rheoleiddio a Rennir.

           Ar 19 Tachwedd 2019, cymeradwyodd y Cabinet ddiwygio'r Cynllun Dirprwyo 
Swyddogaethau i gynnwys y swyddogaeth ganlynol ym mharagraff 3.56 i sicrhau bod y 
pwerau gorfodi statudol perthnasol o dan y Ddeddf yn cael eu defnyddio'n briodol: 
"Gwneud unrhyw beth y mae gan y Cyngor y pŵer i'w wneud (gan gynnwys y pŵer i 
gyflwyno unrhyw hysbysiad) sy'n angenrheidiol er mwyn gorfodi unrhyw ddarpariaethau 
a gynhwysir yn Neddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Ffioedd etc) (Cymru) 2019". 

Mae unrhyw newidiadau i'r Cytundeb Cydweithio yn ddarostyngedig i Gymal 26 o'r 
Cytundeb sy'n nodi:

"Ni ellir amrywio'r Cytundeb hwn heb gymeradwyaeth a chydsyniad ysgrifenedig ymlaen 
llaw gan yr holl Gyfranogwyr. Pan fo'r Cyfranogwyr yn cytuno i wneud newidiadau i'r 
Cytundeb hwn, bydd Gweithred Amrywio yn cael ei chyflwyno rhwng y Cyfranogwyr a'i 
hatodi i'r Cytundeb hwn"

O ganlyniad, daeth y Prif Swyddog – Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a 
Rheoleiddio i'r casgliad ei bod yn ofynnol i'r Cyngor ymrwymo i Weithred Amrywio gyda'r 
Cynghorau eraill i ddiwygio'r Cytundeb Cydweithio. Mae angen i bob un o'r tri Chyngor 
dan sylw gadarnhau newidiadau o'r fath.
 
Canmolodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol a Lles yr adroddiad

PENDERFYNIAD:                             Bod y Cabinet wedi:

Page 15



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

(i) Cymeradwyo'r newidiadau arfaethedig i'r Cytundeb Cydweithio rhwng y tri 
Chyngor ar gyfer darparu Gwasanaethau Rheoleiddio;

(ii) Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i'r Prif Swyddog – Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Pennaeth 
Cyllid Dros Dro a’r Swyddog Adran 151 i gytuno ar delerau'r Weithred Amrywio 
i'r Cytundeb Cydweithio ac i drefnu gweithredu'r Weithred Amrywio ar ran y 
Cyngor.

557. NODI ADRODDIAD GWYBODAETH

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan Brif Swyddog y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol 
a Rheoleiddio a oedd yn hysbysu’r Cabinet o Adroddiad Gwybodaeth a gyhoeddwyd ers 
ei gyfarfod diwethaf, ac sydd angen ei nodi (ac a oedd ynghlwm).

Dangoswyd manylion yr Adroddiad Gwybodaeth ym mharagraff 4.1 o'r adroddiad 
eglurhaol.

PENDERFYNIAD: Bod y Cabinet yn cydnabod cyhoeddiad y ddogfen a restrir yn yr 
adroddiad

558. PENODI LLYWODRAETHWYR AWDURDOD LLEOL

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Chymorth i 
Deuluoedd, a oedd yn gofyn am gymeradwyaeth gan y Cabinet i benodi llywodraethwyr 
awdurdodau lleol i'r cyrff llywodraethu ysgolion a restrir ym mharagraff 4.1 o'r adroddiad.

Esboniodd fod pob un o'r 13 ymgeisydd a restrir yno ar gyfer y 9 ysgol yn y tabl yn yr 
adran hon o'r adroddiad, yn bodloni'r meini prawf cymeradwy ar gyfer eu penodi'n 
llywodraethwyr awdurdodau lleol ac nad oedd cystadleuaeth am unrhyw un o'r swyddi 
gwag

Ychwanegodd fod Atodiad A yr adroddiad yn manylu ar y 49 o swyddi gwag eraill yr 
oedd angen eu llenwi mewn 35 o ysgolion.

Pwysleisiodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Addysg ac Adfywio bwysigrwydd gweddill y swyddi 
gwag mewn ysgolion, fel y cyfeirir atynt uchod, yn cael eu llenwi fel mater o flaenoriaeth.

Diolchodd hefyd i'r ymgeiswyr a benodwyd yn llwyddiannus fel Llywodraethwyr 
Awdurdodau Lleol fel y cadarnhawyd yn yr adroddiad a phwysleisiodd y pwynt bod 
unrhyw un a oedd â diddordeb yn y rôl hon ac a oedd yn barod i ddilyn yr hyfforddiant 
perthnasol yn gallu cael ei ystyried yn Ddarpar Lywodraethwr Ysgol.

PENDERFYNIAD:                  Bod y Cabinet wedi cymeradwyo penodi 
Llywodraethwyr ALl a restrir ym mharagraff 4.1 o'r 
adroddiad.

559. GWAHODD TENDRAU AR GYFER CONTRACTAU CLUDIANT O'R CARTREF I'R 
YSGOL

Cyflwynwyd adroddiad gan y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Chymorth i 
Deuluoedd, a'i ddiben oedd:

  gofyn i'r Cabinet gymeradwyo cynnal ymarfer caffael i wahodd tendrau i wneud 
cais am gontractau ar gyfer nifer o wasanaethau cludiant rhwng y cartref a'r 
ysgol, am gyfnod o bum mlynedd gyda'r opsiwn o ymestyn dau gyfnod pellach o 
flwyddyn; a 

Page 16



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

  dirprwyo awdurdod i'r Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol, Addysg a Chymorth i 
Deuluoedd, i awdurdodi derbyn y tendrau mwyaf manteisiol yn economaidd a 
dderbyniwyd a llunio contractau gyda'r cynigwyr llwyddiannus yn dilyn y broses 
gaffael.  

Fel rhan o wybodaeth gefndirol yr adroddiad, dywedodd wrth y Cabinet fod gan yr 
awdurdod lleol ddyletswydd statudol o dan Fesur Teithio gan Ddysgwyr (Cymru) 2008 i 
wneud trefniadau cludiant addas i hwyluso presenoldeb plant bob dydd yn y mannau 
perthnasol lle y maent yn cael eu haddysg neu eu hyfforddiant. Cyflawnwyd hyn yn 
bennaf drwy gontractio gwasanaethau trafnidiaeth o'r sector preifat.

Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd ymhellach, 
ym mis Gorffennaf 2020, fod y Cabinet wedi gohirio adroddiad ar ganlyniad yr 
ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus i newid Polisi Cludiant rhwng y Cartref a'r Ysgol/Coleg yr 
awdurdod lleol. Roedd yr adroddiad hwn hefyd yn ceisio atal rheolau gweithdrefn 
contract yr awdurdod lleol i ganiatáu i'r awdurdod lleol ymestyn y contractau cludiant 
presennol rhwng y cartref a'r ysgol a ddaeth i ben ym mis Gorffennaf 2020. Gan fod yr 
adroddiad wedi'i ohirio, roedd angen, yn gynnar ym mis Medi 2020, geisio awdurdod 
dirprwyedig gan yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg ac Adfywio i ailddechrau darparu'r 
gwasanaethau ar yr un telerau â'r contractau a ddaeth i ben tan ddiwedd mis Mawrth 
2021. 

Erbyn hyn roedd nifer o gontractau cludiant rhwng y cartref a'r ysgol y mae angen eu 
gwrthod er mwyn sicrhau bod yr awdurdod lleol yn cyflawni ei gyfrifoldebau o dan 
Reoliadau Contractau Cyhoeddus 2015, rheolau gweithdrefn contract y Cyngor ac i 
geisio gwerth am arian. 

Ychwanegodd, wrth ystyried ffactorau marchnad capasiti sy'n ei chael yn anodd yn y 
sector hwn, mai'r cynnig amlinellol yw cynnal ymarfer caffael sy'n dyfarnu contractau am 
gyfnod o bum mlynedd gyda'r opsiwn o ymestyn am ddau gyfnod arall o flwyddyn. Bydd 
hyn yn caniatáu i'r awdurdod lleol gynnig contractau hwy i annog buddsoddi, cryfhau'r 
trefniadau cytundebol presennol ac o bosibl agor y farchnad i gyflenwyr newydd.  

Cwblhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd ei adroddiad 
drwy ddweud bod 272 o lwybrau ar hyn o bryd a fyddai'n cael eu tendro. Manylwyd ar 
gost amcangyfrifedig y contractau cyfunol hyn dros gyfnod y tendr yn Nhabl 2 ym 
mharagraff 8.1 o'r adroddiad.

Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet – Addysg ac Adfywio wrth gefnogi argymhellion yr 
adroddiad, fod hwn yn Gontract pwysig iawn fel y cadarnhawyd gan ei werth a nodir ym 
mharagraff 1.2 ac wedi'i rannu yn adran goblygiadau ariannol (yr adroddiad). 

PENDERFYNIAD:                             Bod y Cabinet wedi:

1. Awdurdodi gwahoddiad tendrau fel y nodir yn yr adroddiad;
2. Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i'r Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol, Addysg a Chymorth i 

Deuluoedd, ar ôl ymgynghori â'r Swyddog Monitro a’r Swyddog Adran 151, i 
awdurdodi derbyn y tendrau sy’n rhoi’r fantais economaidd fwyaf ac i lunio 
contractau gyda'r cynigwyr llwyddiannus ac unrhyw weithredoedd a dogfennau 
pellach eraill sy'n atodol i'r contractau hynny yn dilyn y broses gaffael.

560. CYHOEDDIAD GAN YR ARWEINYDD

Cyhoeddodd yr Arweinydd ei bod yn angenrheidiol newid dyddiad cyfarfod nesaf 
Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb y Cabinet rhwng 2 Tachwedd a 3 Rhagfyr 2020, 2:00yh. 

Page 17



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 20 HYDREF 2020

Gofynnodd Swyddogion am hyn a chytunwyd arno gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cabinet 
hwn.

PENDERFYNWYD: Cytunodd y Cabinet i newid dyddiad cyfarfod nesaf Pwyllgor 
Cydraddoldeb y Cabinet, fel yr amlygwyd uchod.

561. EITEMAU BRYS

Dim.

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 16:10

Page 18



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

ARBED PROGRAMME IN CAERAU

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on an independent survey, 
commissioned by the Council and undertaken by  NuVision Energy (Wales) Ltd 
(NuVision), on Arbed 1 funded properties in Caerau, and for Cabinet to further 
consider the findings.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In 2011 the Welsh Government (WG) introduced a domestic energy efficiency 
programme which ran until 2013. This was known as the Arbed 1 Programme and 
had two primary objectives: to reduce carbon emissions and lower fuel bills within 
properties to alleviate the effects of fuel poverty. More than 6,000 homes across 
Wales were included in the Arbed 1 Scheme.  

3.2 The initial programme involved a £30m investment from WG which enabled a further 
£30m to be leveraged from Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) and energy supply 
companies. The funding can be broken down to the following sources: 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 £30 million from the Strategic Capital Investment Fund (SCIF) from the Welsh 
Government (WG) and the UK Department of Energy and Climate Change 
(DECC) under the Strategic Energy Performance Investment Programme;

 £10 million from energy suppliers through carbon saving obligations (Carbon 
Emission Reduction Target (CERT) and Community Energy Saving Programme 
(CESP);

 £20 million from RSLs and local authorities’ brought forward budgets for 
maintenance, housing renewal and neighbourhood support to take advantage of 
the cost savings and economies of scale.

3.3 In the early part of the scheme work was being undertaken in Caerau which was 
neither funded by, administered, or involved the Council.  At this time RSL’s sought 
funding from energy companies to undertake CESP work in social housing in Caerau. 
In addition Wales Co, a Community Interest Company, were working with private 
sector home owners to gauge interest in accessing energy efficiency schemes. 

3.4 In August 2012 Welsh Government provided the Council with an opportunity to bid 
for additional funding to complement existing Community Energy Saving Programme 
(CESP) projects.  Funding of £56,050 was approved for the installation of boilers and 
insulation of lofts. In January 2013, additional funds were made available by Welsh 
Government to progress CESP schemes.  The Council made a joint bid with Green 
Renewable Wales (GRW) Ltd for external wall insulation at 25 owner occupied 
properties in Caerau. The Council were advised that the bid for £259,825 was 
successful in early February 2013 and completion had to be by 31st March 2013.  
Therefore, total funding of £315,875 was received by Bridgend Council from Welsh 
Government. The funding for both projects was paid to Green Renewable Wales Ltd 
by Bridgend Council.

3.5 GRW Ltd project managed both schemes and appointed sub contractors to carry out 
the work, including WalesCo.  The same contractors and sub contractors were also 
appointed by GRW Ltd and WalesCo to utilise funding (CESP) they gained via energy 
companies to work on additional properties in Caerau.  This  resulted in properties 
having similar work being undertaken by the same contractors regardless of the 
funding stream.  It is evident that the property owners were unaware  which funding 
stream was used on their property. 

3.6  It is estimated that 150 properties in the Caerau ward had boiler replacement, loft 
insulation, external wall insulation (EWI) and internal wall insulation (IWI) works 
undertaken during  2012 to 2013, utilising money from different funding streams. 70 
of these properties had work undertaken  via the funding administered by the Council, 
of which 25 properties had  EWI and IWI work.  Based on information gathered, a 
total of 104 of the 150 properties had EWI and IWI work undertaken in Caerau at this 
time, so 79 of these were not funded or administered by the Council.

3.7 The work was completed in 2013. Subsequently there have been numerous 
complaints over the standard of work carried out by the contractors. Trading 
Standards were involved in 2014 and some issues were satisfactorily resolved by the 
contractors.  The majority of the complaints related to the external and internal wall 
insulation undertaken via all funding streams. 

Page 20



3.8 In view of ongoing concerns brought to the attention of the Council, in 2018, 
Bridgend’s Internal Audit Service were requested to carry out a review by the then 
Chief Executive to ascertain the extent to which the Council’s policies and procedures 
had or had not been applied in respect of the Arbed funding scheme for the period 
September 2012 to April 2013 in Caerau.  Particular concerns were raised by the 
then Chief Executive relating to an apparent absence of an audit trail.  The findings 
of Internal Audit highlighted a number of internal procedural issues relating to the 
governance, decision making, procurement, monitoring and control aspects of the 
funding that the Council administered for this scheme at this time.  There is no 
evidence that these issues were widespread in the Council and to provide assurance 
Internal Audit have recently undertaken a review of the procurement and governance 
aspects of 10 externally funded schemes from 2018 onwards. No issues were 
identified.  Audit Wales have been appraised of the findings throughout this work.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The Council and WG agreed to evaluate the work undertaken in Arbed 1 in the 
Caerau ward. It was anticipated that a jointly commissioned survey would be 
undertaken, The joint commission did not materialise and so the Council 
subsequently commissioned NuVision Energy (Wales) Ltd (NuVision) to undertake a 
study on a sample of homes within the whole programme in Caerau. 

4.2 A non-invasive investigation and evaluation was carried out by NuVision with the 
objectives of ascertaining:

 Have the measures lowered energy bills for residents?
 Have the measures achieved carbon savings?
 Could the properties currently transition away from a gas boiler to a heat pump? 
 What is the current condition of the measures installed?

4.3 For the UK to meet its ambitious decarbonisation targets domestic properties will 
need to transition away from gas boilers, with the likely transition technology being 
heat pumps.  For the heat pumps to deliver effective levels of warmth it is generally 
considered necessary for the property to have thermal insulation applied to its fabric.  
For this reason the focus of the study was centred on the wall insulation measures to 
gather evidence around their effectiveness in saving carbon, reducing energy bills 
and current condition to understand the longevity of the insulation product.    Excluded 
from the study were issues relating to the  installation of other measures such as gas 
boilers.

4.4 The NuVision report  (a copy of the report is attached at Appendix 1) surveyed a total 
of 32 properties (as a sample) but due to a lack of baseline information it was not 
ultimately possible to accurately quantify either the carbon or cost savings generated 
by the measures.  However, when assessing the current condition of the measures 
that were installed, defects were identified in each. Seven of these properties 
surveyed by NuVision had work carried out through the funding stream administered 
by the Council.  The remaining properties had worked carried out utilising funding 
from other non Council administered funding streams. 

4.5 The NuVision report concludes that some of the work is defective, some of it 
significantly so. It further states that whilst there is a case for remedial action to be 
undertaken to every property surveyed, it is possible that not all homeowners will 

Page 21



want further work to be undertaken in view of the inevitable disruption. The NuVision 
report has provided an estimated cost per property of £16,000 which will involve 
removing the wall insulation, making good and redecorating where necessary.   
However, these costs are indicative only and will vary between properties. Whilst only 
a sample of homes were surveyed it is considered a reasonable sized sample and 
there is a degree of uniformity in the defects identified.  It is therefore reasonable to 
assume that defects would be indentified in most or all of the 25 properties where 
funding was administered via the Council where internal and external wall insulation 
was installed. It is however evident from the NuVision report that the same defects 
were present regardless of how the work was funded.  

4.6   In summary, the funding mechanisms and implementation of the whole Arbed 1 
programme in Caerau during 2012 and 2013 are reasonably complex.  The passage 
of time with regard to this historical matter, and the fact that the Council officers 
involved in the delivery of the scheme no longer work for the Council,  has made the 
investigation and compilation of this report more difficult.  However, it is clear from 
the work undertaken and the independent survey carried out, that the Council was 
involved in administering funding for 70 properties in the Caerau ward.  Of these 25 
mainly focused on external wall and internal wall insulation.  It is apparent from the 
non invasive survey of building condition that much of the wall insulation work, 
whether it was on properties where the Council administered the funding or when 
other parties were responsible, is not of a standard that homeowners would expect. 
It is important therefore that the Council now seeks to liaise as quickly as possible 
with other relevant stakeholders involved in the wider EWI / IWI programme in Caerau 
to explore available options and determine if a collective and consistent approach  
can be agreed to address the matters raised in this report. 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no direct impact on the policy framework and procedure rules. The current 
Council’s Contract Procudure Rules and procurement processes have been 
considered by Internal Audit and their findings will be reported to the Governance and 
Audit Committee. 

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out.  The purpose of the 
Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council has understood the 
potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality so that it can ensure that it is 
making proportionate and rational decisions having due regard to its public sector 
equality duty. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1      The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Council should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people.  The Council “must act 
in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs”.  Accordingly, 
before making any decision, Cabinet must take account of the following five ways of 
working:

Page 22



 Involvement
 Long Term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration

            Should Cabinet approve the recommendations in this report the five ways of working 
will continue to be taken into consideration when the Chief Executive engages with 
relevant stakeholders and further explores available options. Cabinet will have further 
opportunity to consider their duties under the Act when they receive further reports.

8. Financial implications

8.1 Following engagement with relevant stakeholders involved in the wider EWI /IWI 
scheme, and exploration of available options, the financial implications for each will 
be considered further. 

9. Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is recommended:

 to note the content of the NuVision report and that the Council was responsible 
for administering the funding for 70 properties, of which 25 properties had 
external wall insulation/ internal wall insulation work.

 to delegate authority to the Chief Executive to engage with relevant stakeholders 
involved in the wider external wall insulation / internal wall insulation programme 
in Caerau, and to further explore available options with a view to bringing a further 
report to Cabinet for consideration. 

 to note that the recently completed Internal audit report on the current Council 
Contract Procudure Rules and procurement processes for externally funded 
schemes will be presented to the Governance and Audit Committee.

Mark Shephard
Chief Executive
November 2020

Contact officer: Michael Jenkins, Team Leader Sustainable Development 

Telephone: (01656) 643179

Email: michael.jenkins@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 0 of 51 

 
 
 
  

 

Report on the Evaluation of the  
ARBED 1 Programme in Caerau 
 

Prepared by 
 

Nuvision Energy Wales Ltd 

 

Page 25



Page 1 of 51 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Report on the Evaluation of the  
ARBED 1 Programme in Caerau 

 
 
 

for 
Bridgend County Borough Council 

 
 
 
 

Prepared 
by 

Nuvision Energy (Wales) Ltd 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date July 2020 

Revision 1 (Final) 

 
Document Number NVEW/BCBC/EA 01 

 
 
 
 
50 White Barn Road, 
Llanishen, 
Cardiff, 
CF14 5HB 
T: 02921 321054 
E: info@nuvisionenergywales.co.uk 
W: https://nuvisionenergywales.co.uk 
  

Page 26

mailto:info@nuvisionenergywales.co.uk
https://nuvisionenergywales.co.uk/


Page 2 of 51 

 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

1 Objectives and Scope of the Evaluation .................................................................. 3 
1.1 Background ..................................................................................................................................................... 3 
1.2 Aim and objectives of the study .............................................................................................................. 3 
1.3 Excluded from the study ............................................................................................................................ 3 

2 Evaluation Methodology ........................................................................................ 4 
2.1 Methodology Summary .............................................................................................................................. 4 

3 Findings/Results ..................................................................................................... 5 
3.1 External Observations ................................................................................................................................ 5 
3.2 Internal Observations .............................................................................................................................. 11 

4 Discussion of findings and options for repair ......................................................... 12 

5 Conclusions. ......................................................................................................... 13 
5.1 Conclusions .................................................................................................................................................. 13 
 
 
 
Appendix A: Plan view of Caerau showing locations of homes surveyed. 
Appendix B: Summary of individual home defects. 
Appendix C: Individual home survey reports.  
 
  

Page 27



Page 3 of 51 

1 Objectives and Scope of the Evaluation 
 

1.1 Background 
During 2013, domestic energy efficiency measures were installed within the village of 
Caerau under the Welsh Government Arbed 1 Programme.   Some 100 properties, all in the 
private housing sector, were involved in the programme.  Caerau is a high fuel poor area 
with the majority of the housing being constructed in the late 19th/early 20th Centuries, 
typically of the terrace archetype.   

The aim of the Arbed 1 Programme was to install a number of energy efficiency measures 
into the properties with a view to reducing energy bills for the occupier and alleviate fuel 
poverty. These measures included loft insulation and external solid wall insulation. Some 
homes also received new gas boilers for space heating and hot water. 

Shortly after completion of the works, some homes began to experience issues such as 
damp and black mould on internal walls. In 2019, Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) 
commissioned Nuvision Energy (Wales) Ltd to carry out a study on a representative sample 
of homes and to produce a report outlining the issues encountered.  32 homes in total were 
surveyed. A plan view of Caerau is given in Appendix A, showing the locations of the homes 
surveyed  

 

1.2 Aim and objectives of the study 
The aim of the study was to carry out a non-invasive investigation and to produce an 
evaluation report on the implementation of the works carried out within Caerau under 
the Welsh Government Arbed 1 Programme.   

The objectives of the study were to; 

▪ Establish the current condition of the measures. 

▪ Make recommendations on any further actions that may need to be taken. 

▪ Give indicative costs of any remedial work to be undertaken. 

 

1.3 Excluded from the study 
The study was focused specifically on evaluating the current state of the wall insulation 
measures.  This included the External Wall Insulation (EWI) and Internal Wall Insulation 
(IWI). Issues relating to the performance of the workmen on site and the installation of 
other measures such as gas boilers are outside the scope of the study.  

 

  

Page 28



Page 4 of 51 

2 Evaluation Methodology 

2.1 Methodology Summary 
Our methodology and approach is based upon use of good practice guidelines and varied 
tools and techniques to fully understand the installation programme and its consequences. 
These include:  

▪ Desk research of available best practice documents and literature related to the 

installation of EWI and IWI to establish a full understanding of the installation 

programme as it was applied at Caerau. 

▪ Surveys of a sample of 32 properties, representative of the 100 plus homes that 

received the measures to establish their current condition. 

▪ Semi structured interviews with homeowners to gain additional context.  

▪ Examination of the work undertaken and comparison with best practice. 

▪ Analysis of the options for repair including indicative costs. 

Homes were given an identification number ‘ARB01 to ARB36 which was used during the 
surveys and throughout the report.  Of the 36 homes originally contacted, 4 homes (namely 
ARB05, 13, 27 and 32) did not ultimately participate in the survey. 

Each home surveys comprised a non-intrusive inspection of the measures, noting all defects 
encountered.  The condition of the properties both internally and externally was recorded, 
and photographs taken.  Floor plans were prepared to establish and record the location of 
the measures and to assist in estimating quantities of materials used and hence indicative 
costs of any remedial action required.  

Defects were identified for each home and the major issues were categorised and 
presented in section 3 of this report.  A summary of the main defects found in homes is 
given in Appendix B and a condensed version of each individual home survey report is given 
in Appendix C. 

An examination of (a) the defects found measured against good practice and (b) the surveys 
of the consequences of the work undertaken were used to draw the final conclusions. 

 

  

Page 29



Page 5 of 51 

3 Findings/Results 

3.1 External Observations 
 

Staining from windows and gutters 

28 of the 32 homes exhibited poor finishing of details around 
gutter stop ends and EWI trims as shown in the adjacent 
photograph. Where this has occurred, water was observed to 
by-pass the gutter system and run down the wall, causing 
staining and mould growth. In many cases, damp areas were 
in evidence within the adjacent internal walls. 

Due to the non-intrusive nature of the surveys, it was not 
possible to determine whether water had penetrated behind 
the EWI, and if needed, this could be the focus of future 
investigative work.  

Main issue: The poor detailing and workmanship around 
gutters and EWI trims has resulted in unsightly staining and 
mould growth. Without remedial action, this will ultimately 
lead to a premature breakdown of the system and deterioration of the internal wall surface 
due to damp and mould build up. This will be further exacerbated where water has 
penetrated behind the EWI. 

Further investigative work could check for water penetration behind the EWI. 

Staining on walls general 

In addition to specific areas such as poor detailing 
around gutters, 29 of the 32 homes exhibited staining 
generally.  This was due to a variety of reasons such 
as water runoff from poorly constructed windowsills 
and surfaces more exposed to wind and rain.  

Staining is not only associated with poor 
workmanship but also the type of render used.  
Cheaper Acrylic render does not have the same self-
cleaning characteristics as Silicone render for 
instance. It was not possible to determine which 
manufacturer supplied the EWI system and hence the 

type of render was not known. If required, further investigative work could be undertaken 
to determine the type of render used.  

Main issue: Excessive water runoff causes discolouration of the render.  This discolouration 
is exacerbated where cheaper Acrylic render solutions are employed which allow the build-
up of surface water.  Good practice would be to use more appropriate Silicone render 
systems which repel water and are more self-cleaning than Acrylic renders. They should 
also be treated with biocides.  

Further investigative work could check for the type of render used.  

 
 

 
 

Photograph  
Removed 

 

 
 

 
 

Photograph  
Removed 

 

Page 30



Page 6 of 51 

Green algae growth in evidence, no DPC 

Green algae was present on the external walls of 22 of 
the 32 homes surveyed. There was no visible DPC on 
any of the walls.  The EWI in most cases stopped short 
of the floor level with the render extended to the floor.  

The lack of a DPC between the floor level and the start 
of the EWI has resulted in excessive damp forming at 
the lower levels of the walls which has encouraged the 
growth of green algae. The lack of insulation at the 
lower levels has also resulted in thermal bridges 
forming which in turn has caused damp and mould to 
form on the internal wall surfaces.  

Main issue: Lack of a DPC has caused green algae 
growth to occur on the lower wall levels and lack of 
insulation at the lower levels has caused thermal 
bridging to occur within the lower walls. 

 

Gas Pipes 

In 20 of the32 homes, the EWI had been cut 
around existing gas pipes as shown in the 
adjacent photographs.  In one case, no trims 
were used and hence gaps were evident 
where damp ingress could occur.  

Good practice would have been to move the 
existing gas pipes but it’s acknowledged that 
this is not always practicable given time 
constraints and budgets. 

In all cases, there were no PPC aluminium 
vented cover plates fixed to the EWI to 
protect the location from water ingress and to make the installation more visually 
acceptable. 

There is no evidence to suggest that the Gas supplier had been contacted to check that the 
detail was acceptable – this was the responsibility of the installer/main contractor. 

Main issue: Thermal bridging occurs where the insulation has been cut around gas pipes 
which in turn caused damp and mould growth at that location within the property. In 
addition, where trims have not been installed, there is further risk of damp ingress.  

  

Page 31



Page 7 of 51 

Services and protrusions 

EWI on 18 of the 32 homes surveyed had pipe protrusions that 
had not been sealed as shown in the adjacent photographs. 

It is essential that opening around pipe protrusions are 
weathertight to prevent cold and the ingress of water which will 
compromise the insulation and also increase the risk of interstitial 
condensation.  

Unsealed protrusions will result in water penetration into the 
insulation and wall, causing the insulation to lose its effectiveness.  
Interstitial condensation is also more likely to occur as the 
temperature drops sufficiently for the dew point to be reached 
within the Wall. Interstitial condensation could cause problems 
such as mould growth within the wall which would not be visible. 

Main issue: Deterioration in the EWI coupled with damp and mould growth on the internal 
surface of the wall and within the fabric of the wall itself. 

  

No sealant around window sills 

EWI on 11 of the 32 homes surveyed had 
window sills that had been left unsealed. 
Whilst the sill overhand will prevent driving 
rain from entering the insulation, the lack of 
a sealant will nevertheless enable some 
water to ingress. In addition draughts can 
enter through the gap and a thermal bridge 
will occur, causing damp to form on the 
internal surfaces of the wall. 

Main issue: Unsealed window sills will result in some water ingress and thermal bridging 
which in turn will lead to damp and mould growth on the surfaces of internal walls. 

 

Sills less than 40mm 

In 14 of the 32 homes surveyed, it was 
observed that the overhang on the installed 
window sills was less than 40mm. In one case 
there was a window where a sill had not been 
installed at all. Examples of this defect are 
shown in the adjacent photographs. 

Main issue: The lack of overhang in the sills has resulted in excessive damp areas on the 
render from water run-off.  This has resulted in staining and mould growth on walls. 

  

Page 32



Page 8 of 51 

Window sills Poorly installed 

Window sills In 11 of the 32 homes had been poorly installed 
with various unintended outcomes, including sill surface at a 
very steep angle, bent and loose.  An example of a poorly 
installed sill placed at a steep angle is shown in the adjacent 
photograph. 

Windows Jammed 

In 12 of the 32 homes it was observed that some windows would 
not open due to jamming against the newly installed render. An 
example of a jammed window is shown in the attached 
photograph. This  

Main issue: Poorly installed sills are visually unacceptable as well as causing issues in 
relation to the integrity of the system.  Jammed windows prevent adequate ventilation as 
well as restricting the use of the window as a fire escape. 

 

 

EWI cut around stone walls 

15 of the 32 homes surveyed had not 
addressed the issue of thermal bridging 
caused by natural obstructions, such as 
walls, fences and gates connected to the 
properties. In the 15 properties, EWI had 
been cut around the walls. This increases 
the risk of thermal bridging and hence 
cold damp areas leading to mould growth 
forming on the surfaces of internal walls. 

Good practice to reduce the risk of 
thermal bridging, would be to cut back the walls so that the EWI could be installed 
seamlessly along the wall.  The wall could then be rebuilt back up to the face of the 
insulation. 

Main issue: EWI cut around obstructions increases the risk of thermal bridging resulting in 
cold damp areas and mould growth forming on the surfaces of internal walls. 

  

Page 33



Page 9 of 51 

Poor verge trims & sealant detailing 

20 of the 32 homes surveyed had poor details produced 
at roof line and gable end with mastic sealant being 
used to provide resistance to water penetration. In 
many cases the sealant had already failed, allowing 
water to ingress into the EWI and wall of the house. In 
other cases, there was no sealant visible between the 
verge trims and EWI resulting in water ingress and 
thermal bridging problems. 

Main issue: Poorly installed verge trims with 
overreliance on mastic sealant has resulted in damp 
ingress and thermal bridging problems.   

 

 

 

Cables not clipped to walls 

In 8 of the 32 homes surveyed, it was noted that cables were not 
clipped to the external walls. This can cause accidental damage to 
the cables by being snagged. It’s good practice for contractors to fit 
cable clips at maximum spacing of 250mm intervals for horizontal 
runs and 300mm for vertical runs.  

Main issue: Damage to cables through snagging. 

 
 
 
Pipes not fixed to walls 

5 of the 32 homes surveyed had downpipes 
that had not been secured to the walls. This 
looks unsightly and has resulted in damage 
to some downpipes with water cascading 
out through breaks in the jointing. 

Main issue: Damage to downpipes due to 
inadequate wall fixings. 

 

  

Page 34



Page 10 of 51 

Poor detailing 

In addition to the defects described in other 
sections, 25 of the 32 homes exhibited general poor 
detailing as show in the attached photographs. 

EWI was installed over flues and vents in many 
homes (a). Many vents were covered over during the 
surveys, however EWI had subsequently been 
removed from areas where boiler flued had been 
covered over.  

Some extract fan grills had been fixed with mastic (b) 
which had quickly failed, leaving a large hole in the 
wall. 

One home had been left with a large hole through 
the wall at ground level (c), resulting in the risk of 
rodents entering the home. The homeowners had 
installed their own grill post installation. 

Some starter tracks had not been fixed properly (d) 
or left with fence posts protruding through.   

Main issue: Miscellaneous poor detailing and insulation causing a variety of opportunities 
for water to ingress into the property and for thermal bridging to occur.  Installing EWI over 
the boiler flues were particularly concerning. 

 

  

Page 35



Page 11 of 51 

3.2 Internal Observations 
The internal observations from the survey are summarised here by describing one home, 
ARB007 which represented one of the more severe examples. This home had EWI 
installed to the front and rear of the property. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Damp in evidence in Lounge 
     (front ground floor) 

 

 

       Damp and black mould in evidence  
           in kitchen (rear ground floor) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      Damp on walls, ceiling and windows 
               in all three Bedrooms 

 

 

 

 

Damp on walls, ceiling and windows 
               in all three Bedrooms  

Page 36



Page 12 of 51 

4 Discussion of findings and options for repair 
It can be seen from Appendix B ‘Summary of main defects found in homes’ that the EWI 
and IWI on every property exhibited issues associated with poor workmanship and/or 
materials. Internally, there was also evidence of damp and mould on walls and ceilings, 
plaster spalling and wallpaper peeling off walls in all but 5 homes. 

There is a case for remedial action to be undertaken to every property surveyed although 
it’s quite possible that a few homeowners may not wish any further work to be carried out. 
With this in mind, there are potentially two options to be considered, namely; 

▪ Option 1 - do nothing (at the homeowner’s request). 

▪ Option 2 – remove and return to the original state. 

On the assumption that the option for repair would be offered to all 
homeowners, preliminary costs for options 2 were estimated.  

Floor plans for each home were prepared and the quantity of EWI and 
IWI calculated.  From these quantities, the costs of removal and 
remedial work for each property was estimated. The figures presented 
in the options below are an average cost of repair for each property.  

Costs vary from property to property and it should be emphasised that they are indicative 
only. Should an option for removal and repair be taken forward, then each property would 
require a more detailed survey to ascertain exact costs. 

 

Option 2 – Remove and return to the original state 

Cost of removal (EWI / IWI)     £ 4,000.00 

Cost of making good (Re-render)    £ 5,000.00 

Contingency Drying out     £ 4,000.00 

Internal decoration      £ 3,000.00 

       TOTAL £16,000.00 

  

Page 37



Page 13 of 51 

5 Conclusions. 

5.1 Conclusions 
The evaluation finds that; 

1. The EWI and IWI on all 32 properties surveyed exhibited issues associated with poor 
workmanship and/or materials.  

2. Internally, there was also evidence of damp and mould on walls and ceilings, plaster 
spalling and wallpaper peeling off walls in all but 5 homes. 

3. There is a case for remedial action to be undertaken to every property surveyed 
although it’s quite possible that a few homeowners may not wish any further work 
to be carried out.  

4. There are potentially two options to be considered, namely; 
▪ Option 1 - do nothing (at the homeowner’s request). 

▪ Option 2 – remove and return to the original state. 

5. An average cost for each option has been estimated as follows; 
▪ Option 1 – no cost 

▪ Option 2 – £16,000. 

 

 

Page 38



Page 14 of 51 

APPENDIX A 
PLAN VIEW OF CAERAU SHOWING LOCATIONS OF HOMES SURVEYED 

 

  

P
age 39



Page 15 of 51 

APPENDIX B 
SUMMARY OF MAIN DEFECTS FOUND IN HOMES 

 
Home Identification Number ARB0 

Home ID > 01 02 03 04 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 28 29 30 31 33 34 35 36 
External Defects 

EWI cut around gas pipes ●   ●  ●  ● ● ● ● ● ●   ● ● ● ●  ● ● ●   ●  ● ●   ● 
Staining from windows and gutters ● ●  ●  ●   ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Staining on walls general  ● ●  ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●  ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
No sealant around windowsills  ●    ●   ●  ● ● ●     ● ●    ●   ●    ●   
Windowsills poorly installed ●     ● ●    ●      ● ●    ●   ●    ● ●  ● 
Windows jammed ●     ● ●  ●  ●    ●  ● ●  ●     ●     ●  ● 
Sills less than 40mm ●  ● ●   ●   ●     ● ●   ●  ●   ● ● ●   ● ●   
No sealant around pipes ● ● ● ●    ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●    ● ● ●    ● ● ●      
Cables not clipped to walls ●      ●  ● ● ●  ● ●  ●  ● ●      ● ●   ●    
Pipes not fixed to walls         ●    ●           ●     ● ●   
EWI cut around garden walls   ●  ●    ● ● ●  ●  ● ●    ● ●  ● ● ●    ●  ●  
Poor detailing ● ●   ● ● ● ● ● ●  ● ● ● ● ●  ● ● ● ●  ● ● ●  ● ● ● ● ●  
Poor verge trims & sealant detailing     ● ●  ●   ● ●  ● ● ●   ● ● ●  ●  ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● 
Algae in evidence ● ●  ●   ●  ● ● ● ● ● ●  ●  ●  ● ●  ●  ● ● ● ● ● ● ●  

Internal Defects 
Ground floor                                 

Damp in walls & ceilings ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●  ● ●  ● ●    ●  ● ● ● ●   ● ● ● 
Mould on walls & ceilings ● ● ●  ● ● ● ● ●  ● ●  ● ●  ● ●    ●  ● ● ● ●   ● ● ● 
Plaster/Artex spalling ●   ●     ●  ●    ●   ●              ● 
Wallpaper peeling   ● ●                            ●  

                                 
First floor                                 

Damp in walls & ceilings ● ● ●  ● ● ● ● ●      ●  ● ●   ●   ● ●  ● ● ●  ● ● 
Mold on Walls & ceilings     ● ● ● ● ●      ●  ● ●   ●   ● ●  ● ● ●  ● ● 
Plaster spalling ●    ●                            
Wallpaper peeling                      ●   ●         
                                 

 

P
age 40



Page 16 of 51 

APPENDIX C 
INDIVIDUAL HOME SURVEY REPORTS. 

ARB001 

Description 
Traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall construction with a two-storey extension to 
the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The 
property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC 
windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   

Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

Main observations 
▪ has been installed down to ground level with no visible DPC. 

▪ Cable runs have been clipped at over the recommended intervals of250mm. 

▪ Algae growth in evidence along the lower section of the wall. 

▪ Disused pipe has not been sealed.  

▪ Corner detail around the gutter is poorly designed/fitted. This has resulted in water 

running off the roof and down the wall, causing significant staining and algae growth. 

▪ Window reveals have been rendered but no EWI, resulting in the creation of thermal 

bridges in these areas.  

▪ Several windows cannot open due to the additional thickness of render applied in the 

window reveals. 

▪ There was no sill beneath the kitchen window resulting in water runoff and staining on 

wall below. 

▪ Window reveals have been rendered but no EWI, resulting in the creation of thermal 

bridges in these areas. 

▪ Window sill overhang is too small resulting in water flowing down and staining the wall 

below. 

▪ Large gap between facia board and EWI with birds nesting in eaves (see photograph14) 

▪ Cable protrusions not sealed. 

▪ Window sill overhang less than 40mm 

▪ EWI has not been continued along boundary wall for a short distance giving the potential 

for a thermal bridge to occur in this corner.  

▪ Pipe penetrations not sealed. 

Page 41



Page 17 of 51 

 

Internal observations 
▪ IWI installed on lounge front wall. New plasterboard installed to cover damp issues 

▪ Corrosion in evidence on gas meter base plate due to damp ingress. 

▪ Damp around ceiling support beam in lounge. 

▪ EWI installed to floor with no visible DPC around kitchen door area. Note thinner layer of 

EWI to a height of 300mm above door causing a cold bridge in kitchen wall (see 

photograph 22). 

▪ Plaster spalling around kitchen windows due to cold bridge caused by no insulation in 

window reveals. 

▪ Damp on kitchen wall around door caused by cold bridge from poorly installed EWI. 

▪ Plaster stained and flaking around back bedroom window due to cold bridging as no EWI 

installed in window reveals. 

▪ Plaster stained and flaking around back bedroom side wall. 

  

Page 42



Page 18 of 51 

ARB002 

Description 
The property is a traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and with a three-
storey extension to the rear. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia 
boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  99% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 99% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 99% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ EWI not continued into window reveals.  Discolouration in evidence  

▪ Poor corner detail with no DPC in evidence  

▪ Discolouration around window reveal 

▪ No sealant between EWI and windowsill 

▪ Discolouration and algae growth on EWI at floor level 

▪ Poor detailing resulting in discolouration on render 

▪ Poorly placed and sub-specification sealant 

▪ No sealant around pipework  

 

Internal observations 
 

▪ Black mould around windows 

▪ Damp on walls with wallpaper peeling away  

▪ Black mould on window reveal  

  

Page 43



Page 19 of 51 

ARB003 

Description 
The property is a traditional Welsh mid-terraced house of solid wall construction and with a two-
storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor and bedroom 
on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic 
guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Window reveals mortared  

▪ Staining on EWI. Also, EWI cut around garden wall causing potential cold bridging 

▪ EWI stopped short around vent, causing potential cold bridging.  

▪ EWI stopped short along extension roof causing potential cold bridging. Cabling not 

clipped to wall but fixed with cable tie to downpipe.  

▪ No sealant around pipe, causing cold bridging and water ingress.  

▪ Window sill less than 30mm protrusion from wall, with poor sealant.  

▪ Render at ground level but no DPC visible.  

▪ No sealant around pipes, causing cold bridging and water ingress  

▪ Damp along floor and base of wall  

▪ EWI stopped short around garden wall, causing cold bridging, also no sealant.  

▪ EWI not fixed to wall, with large gap forming causing cold bridging and ingress of water  

▪ Staining and bulging of render  

Internal observations 
▪ Poor detailing of IWI, causing visually unacceptable feature through lobby window 

▪ EWI installed to floor with no visible DPC around kitchen door area. Thinner layer of EWI 

to a height of 300mm above door causing a cold bridge in kitchen wall 

▪ Plaster spalling around kitchen windows due to cold bridge caused by no insulation in 

window reveals 

▪ Damp on kitchen wall around door caused by cold bridge from poorly installed EWI  

▪ Damp and black mould around kitchen door  

▪ Damp and black mould on ceiling  

▪ Wallpaper damp and peeling off  

▪ Damp along floor and base of wall   

Page 44



Page 20 of 51 

ARB004 

Description 
Traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall construction with a two-storey extension to 
the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The 
property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC 
windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   

Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 

▪ No visible DPC and Algae growth in evidence. 

▪ No sealant in place beneath starter track. This has resulted in a void in the EWI thus 

exposing the wall to thermal bridge issues. 

▪ Timber fence post left in place with EWI placed around it, allowing damp ingress and cold 

bridging. 

▪ Discolouration on wall and window reveal caused by dripping water from poorly formed 

guttering and flashing. 

▪ Sagging window sill and window cannot open due to the poor installation of render.  

▪ Pipework cut but not properly sealed, causing water ingress and cold bridging. 

▪ Contractor’s waste left in garden. 

▪ Algae and staining in evidence around window reveal due to poorly formed EWI around 

windows. 

▪ No sealant under window sill causing cold bridging within kitchen  

▪ Sill less than 30mm and end breaking away  

▪ Plastic trim detail allowing water to spill and stain wall.  

▪ Holes in EWI from scaffolding left open allowing water to penetrate and cold bridging to 

occur. 

▪ Render built around door frame making it difficult to replace in future  

▪ Extraction vent cover inadequately fixed with sealant resulting in a large hole being 

exposed in the EWI. 

▪ No DPC visible. 

▪ Render damaged and stained above window  

▪ Flashing and guttering poorly fixed, resulting in water ingress through sealant  

▪ No sealant around pipework causing damp ingress and cold bridging 

Page 45



Page 21 of 51 

▪ Starter track not placed properly resulting in void and cold bridging  

▪ Render placed in window reveal preventing window from opening fully 

▪ Staining of render and sill bowing  

▪ EWI poorly formed around pipework 

▪ EWI bowing out, possibly due to failure of insulation anchor fixings  

 

Internal observations 
No notable internal observations 

  

Page 46



Page 22 of 51 

ARB006 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the 
ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, 
plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front, side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 

▪ Roof line damaged  

▪ EWI down to ground level, no DPC, algae forming  

▪ No sealant between EWI and windowsill  

▪ No EWI in window reveal  

▪ Poor detailing of flashing  

▪ Side elevation 

▪ Staining on render  

▪ EWI cut around wall, causing thermal bridging.  

▪ Roof line not covering flashing, leaving seal and causing ingress of damp.  

▪ Poor flashing detailing causing ingress of damp 

▪ Rear elevation 

▪ Guttering loose causing rainwater spillage  

▪ Guttering uneven with downpipe positioned too high to allow water through  

▪ Staining on wall  

▪ Building waste left by installers  

▪ No sealant around pipes 

Internal observations 
▪ Black mould on wall  

▪ Damp and black mould on kitchen wall 

▪ Damp and plaster breaking down around bedroom window  

▪ Damp in bedroom ceiling  

  

Page 47



Page 23 of 51 

ARB007 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terrace house of solid wall construction and 
with a single-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor 
and a workshop in the cellar. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia 
boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

Main observations 
▪ EWI installed down to ground level with no DPC visible. Rain dripping from window sill 

causing discolouration of render 

▪ Sealant breaking down between EWI and wall causing potential for water ingress into wall.  

▪ EWI cut around gas pipe, causing potential for thermal bridging 

▪ Side and rear elevation 

▪ Staining on render caused by rainwater dripping from sill 

▪ Slope in window sill 

▪ No sealant between EWI and window sill 

▪ Poor gutter and facia board detailing causing staining on side of wall 

▪ Staining around window sill 

▪ EWI cut around garden wall causing thermal bridging  

▪ Staining on render 

▪ Damaged EWI with gaps in render causing cold bridging and ingress of water 

Internal observations 
▪ Damp in Lounge walls 

▪ Black mould and damp on kitchen walls 

▪ Damp and black mould on tiles in WC 

▪ Damp on wall in front bedroom 

▪ Extensive damp and black mould on walls around various rooms in house 

▪ Plaster stained and flaking around back bedroom side wall. 

  

Page 48



Page 24 of 51 

ARB008 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the 
ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, 
plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ The thinner layer of EWI has been installed down to ground level with no visible DPC 

▪ The cable runs have been clipped at over the recommended intervals of250mm 

▪ There is algae growth in evidence along the lower section of the wall 

▪ Disused pipe has not been sealed 

▪ Corner detail around the gutter is poorly designed/fitted. This has resulted in water 

running off the roof and down the wall, causing significant staining and algae growth.  

▪ Window reveals have been rendered but no EWI, resulting in the creation of thermal 

bridges in these areas 

▪ Several windows cannot open due to the additional thickness of render applied in the 

window reveals 

▪ There was no sill beneath the kitchen window resulting in water runoff and staining on 

wall below 

▪ Window reveals have been rendered but no EWI, resulting in the creation of thermal 

bridges in these areas.  

▪ Window sill overhang is too small resulting in water flowing down and staining the wall 

below.  

▪ Algae in evidence around lower wall.  

▪ Large gap between facia board and EWI with birds nesting in  

▪ Cable protrusions not sealed  

▪ Window sill overhang too small 

▪ EWI has not been continued along boundary wall for a short distance giving the potential 

for a thermal bridge to occur in this corner 

▪ Pipe penetrations have not been sealed  

 

Page 49



Page 25 of 51 

Internal observations 
▪ IWI installed on lounge front wall. New plasterboard installed to cover damp issues  

▪ Corrosion in evidence on gas meter base plate due to damp  

▪ Damp around ceiling support beam in lounge 

▪ EWI installed to floor with no visible DPC around kitchen door area. Note thinner layer of 

EWI to a height of 300mm above door causing a cold bridge in kitchen wall  

▪ Plaster spalling around kitchen windows due to cold bridge caused by no insulation in 

window reveals  

▪ Damp on kitchen wall around door caused by cold bridge from poorly installed EWI  

▪ Plaster stained and flaking around back bedroom window due to cold bridging as no EWI 

installed in window reveals  

▪ Plaster stained and flaking around back bedroom side wall  

  

Page 50



Page 26 of 51 

ARB009 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the 
ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, 
plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Flashing has become detached from wall, causing ingress of water and cold bridging  

▪ Discolouration on render and flashing becoming detached along height of wall.  

▪ EWI continued to ground level with no visible DPC. 

▪ Inadequate drip beading.  

▪ Discolouration on render, no drip beading 

▪ Poorly constructed detail around pipework causing thermal bridging 

▪ Discolouration on render, no sealant on pipework, EWI not continued around windows  

▪ Poor detailing around flashing, staining on render and ingress of water into property  

▪ No sealant around pipe and poor detailing of flashing  

▪ No EWI around window and poor flashing.  Detailing as P19 and 11  

▪ Gap in EWI causing ingress of water and cold bridging  

▪ EWI cut short around pipe causing cold bridging  

▪ Discolouration on render  

▪ Staining at base of EWI around door reveals  

▪ No sealant between flashing and EWI  

▪ No sealant between EWI and wall  

▪ No sealant around pipe  

▪ No sealant around ventilation grill 

▪ Staining and cracking of window reveal  

 

Internal observations 
▪ Black mould and damp throughout various locations in house on walls 

▪ Black mould on various windows throughout house  

Page 51



Page 27 of 51 

ARB010 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the 
ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, 
plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front, side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  99% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 99% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 99% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Cracks in window reveal  

▪ The cable runs have been clipped at over the recommended intervals of250mm 

▪ Insulation cut around gas pipe  

▪ Cable not clipped back to wall at regular intervals - 300mm for vertical runs recommended  

▪ Discolouration on render  

▪ Discolouration on window reveal.  Note thin render layer only applied to window reveal  

▪ Cold bridge exacerbated by placement of insulation around an obstruction. Best practice is 

to cut back obstruction to allow EWI to be placed.  Also, no sealant used to fill gap 

▪ Pipe fixings not completed  

▪ Render not completed  

▪ Render patched up  

▪ EWI curtailed around extract pipe  

▪ Staining on render  

▪ No EWI in window reveals, only think render  

▪ Sealant failing around window sills  

▪ Pipe fixings not completed  

▪ Render not complete and flaking off 

▪ Cracking in render 

 

Internal observations 
▪ No observations made as home had recently undergone refurbishment and no visible 

issues could be attributed to measures undertaken 

  

Page 52



Page 28 of 51 

ARB011 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terrace house of solid wall construction and 
with a one-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom. The property has a 
pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and 
doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
Internal observations 

▪ EWI installed to ground level with no DPC in evidence, algae growth in evidence around 

base of EWI  

▪ EWI cut around pipe, causing cold bridging  

▪ Window reveals rendered and out of alignment  

▪ Algae growth around base of EWI  

▪ Drip beading uneven  

▪ EWI cut around garden wall, causing cold bridging  

▪ Discolouration from damp due to water flowing from window sill 

▪ Window still protruding less than recommended 30mm causing water to drip onto render 

▪ Window reveals rendered and out of alignment see  

▪ EWI cut around gutter causing potential cold bridging  

▪ EWI cut around gutter causing cold bridging and loose cables 

▪ Poor joint detail resulting in potential water ingress  

▪ Cables from satellite dish have not been clipped to wall 

▪ Cables left loose and hanging free 

▪ No sealant around pipe and flashing causing potential for water to ingress into property  

▪ No sealant around pipe  

▪ No sealant between flashing and EWI  

▪ Poorly formed window reveal  

▪ Poor Flashing detail with loose cables  

▪ Hole cut through bedroom wall, not used and not made good 

 

  

Page 53



Page 29 of 51 

ARB012 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a single-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on 
the ground floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic 
guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Discolouration in door reveal  

▪ EWI cut around pipe causing potential for cold bridging.  No DPC visible  

▪ Discolouration in window reveal  

▪ Render slumped beneath window sill with no sealant between EWI and sill. Thus, gives 

potential for damp ingress and cold bridging  

▪ Staining on window reveal  

▪ Damage caused to footpath by scaffolding  

▪ A hole cut through EWI became a home for rodents, homeowner subsequently placed a 

metal grating to cover hole 

▪ EWI cut around garden wall resulting in cold bridging.  Staining in evidence on wall and 

insulation within EWI loose on floor after being chewed by rodents 

▪ Loose cables not clipped to wall 

▪ EWI taken to ground level with no visible EWI  

▪ Sealant around Facia boards breaking down causing damp ingress  

▪ Staining around walls and window sills  

▪ Window cannot open due to EWI and render being installed too close to the window 

▪ Flat roof replaced by installers (due to damage caused by installers) failing 

 

Internal observations 
▪ Damp on ceiling with Artex breaking down and flaking away  

▪ Black mould around kitchen door reveal 

 

  

Page 54



Page 30 of 51 

ARB014 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the 
ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, 
plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ EWI has been installed down to ground level and there is no visible DPC. Green algae is in 

evidence  

▪ EWI cut around gas pipe creating the potential for thermal bridging. Also, dampness and 

green algae around bottom of EWI 

▪ Window reveal rendered but EWI has not been carried around to the window giving rise to 

the potential for cold bridging.  

▪ EWI cut around cable fixing causing potential for thermal bridge.  

▪ Poor detailing around corner 

▪ Green algae in evidence at base of wall with no visible DPC 

▪ No sealant between window sill and EWI 

▪ No sealant around pipe 

▪ Poor gutter detail causing water spillage and staining to render 

▪ Hollow sound is heard when the wall is tapped, suggesting that the EWI has become 

detached from wall 

 

Internal observations 
▪ The main issue observed was the damp and black mould in bathroom 

 
  

Page 55



Page 31 of 51 

ARB015 

Description 
The property is a traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall construction and with a two-
storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor and bedroom 
on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic 
guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ EWI installed down to floor level, no DPC visible. Some Algae growth in evidence 

▪ Cracks in window reveal 

▪ The cable runs have been clipped at over the recommended intervals of250mm 

▪ Insulation cut around gas pipe  

▪ Cable not clipped back to wall at regular intervals - 300mm for vertical runs recommended  

▪ Discolouration on render  

▪ Discolouration on window reveal.  Note thin render layer only applied to window reveal 

▪ Cold bridge exacerbated by placement of insulation around an obstruction. Best practice is 

to cut back obstruction to allow EWI to be placed.  Also, no sealant used to fill gap 

▪ Pipe fixings not completed  

▪ Render not completed  

▪ Render patched up  

▪ EWI curtailed around extract pipe  

▪ Staining on render 

▪ No EWI in window reveals, only think render  

▪ Sealant failing around window sills 

▪ Pipe fixings not completed  

▪ Render not complete and flaking off 

▪ Cracking in render 

Internal observations 
This home had recently been decorated throughout and there were no visible issues that could be 
attributed to the measures undertaken.  

  

Page 56



Page 32 of 51 

ARB016 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and 
with a single-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen bathroom and WC. The property has 
a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and 
doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) was in the end not installed due to owner losing confidence 

in the installers  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  50% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 50% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 50% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

Main observations 
▪ Discolouration and algae in evidence on EWI with no visible DPC  

▪ Discolouration down wall and cable not clipped to wall  

▪ Cables loose down length of wall having not been clipped to EWI  

▪ No sealant provided around tap  

▪ Discolouration on wall  

▪ Weep hole in window damaged and not repaired  

▪ Inadequate flashing detail resulting in water ingress  

▪ No sealant between EWI and flashing allowing water ingress and potential for cold 

bridging  

▪ No sealant between gutter and EWI allowing ingress of water and potential cold bridging  

▪ Poor flashing detail causing water ingress 

 
Internal observations 

▪ Mould around window in Living Room 

▪ Note some areas of mould had been covered up by plastic cladding 

▪ Plaster stained and flaking around back bedroom side wall 

  

Page 57



Page 33 of 51 

ARB017 

Description 
The property is a traditional Welsh terrace house of solid wall construction and with a two-storey 
extension to the rear containing kitchen and WC on the ground floor and bedroom on the first 
floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering 
and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Badly formed corner  

▪ Flashing has not been extended over EWI, thus allowing water to ingress into the cladding 

and causing dampness within the building  

▪ Garden block wall was not cut back to allow EWI to be installed right through to the corner 

of the home.  This has resulted in a cold bridge forming  

▪ Discolouration in window reveal.  

▪ Discolouration in render adjacent to window  

▪ Render damaged and window unable to open due to positioning of EWI  

▪ Window sill less than 30mm, causing water to drip onto wall 

▪ No sealant around pipe through EWI causing a pathway for water ingress and the 

formation of a cold bridge within the wall  

▪ Render at corner flaking away and no sealant between flashing and render 

▪ Window unable to open due to render in window reveal  

▪ No sealant around pipes 

Internal observations 
▪ Black mould in evidence and plaster cracking in WC  

▪ Black mould in evidence around door where cold bridge occurred due to EWI not being carried 

through past the external wall  

▪ Black mould in evidence on bathroom wall  

▪ Black mould in evidence on bedroom wall  

 
  

Page 58



Page 34 of 51 

ARB018 

Description 
The property is a traditional Welsh end-of-terrace house of solid wall construction and with a 
three-storey extension to the rear containing basement below, kitchen on the ground floor and 
bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia 
boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front, side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Poor detailing around drip bead with render taken down to ground level and no DPC in 

evidence 

▪ Sill less than 30mm with staining visible around wall 

▪ EWI not carried around window reveal giving potential for cold bridging. Staining in reveal.  

Also, cable not clipped at the recommended spacing of 250mm.  

▪ EWI cut short around gas pipe giving rise to potential cold bridging.  

▪ Render taken down to ground level and covers up pipe  No DPC in evidence 

▪ EWI cut short around fence post, giving rise to potential cold bridging.  

▪ EWI cut short around flue support, causing thermal bridging 

▪ Poor detailing around fascia board and guttering, causing staining down wall 

▪ EWI cut short around door reveal, no DPC in evidence, green algae present.  

▪ Poor detailing around gutter and fascia board causing staining down wall and potential 

cold bridging.  

▪ EWI stopped short of wall, causing thermal bridging. Note! Wall should have been cut back 

and EWI extended through.  

▪ The homeowner’s main issue was that many downpipes had not been replaced along the 

street.  This resulted in rainwater runoff from the street flowing down to No11 and 

overflowing due to the gutter being unable to take the excess water. 

Internal observations 
No visible problems observed within the home 

 

  

Page 59



Page 35 of 51 

ARB019 

Description 
The property is a traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and with a two-storey 
to the rear housing the kitchen on the ground floor and back bedroom above. A single storey 
extension also to the rear houses the bathroom.  The property has a pitched roof covered with 
slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. 
 Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  50% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 50% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 50% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Elevations of the extensions showing discolouration from overflowing gutter 

▪ The works around the waste stack is inadequate 

▪ The underside of the EWL is incorrectly finished 

▪ EWI around pipe outlet defective  

Internal observations 

▪ Mould Throughout various parts of the house, such as on windows and in room corners 

 
  

Page 60



Page 36 of 51 

 

ARB020 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a single-storey extension to the rear. The property has a pitched roof 
covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The 
extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ The drip bead situated at first floor level has been poorly placed with discolouration in 

evidence 

▪ EWI installed down to floor level, no DPC visible. Some Algae growth in evidence 

▪ Insulation cut around the gas pipe causing a cold bridge to occur within wall 

▪ Poor corner detail potentially causing ingress of water  

▪ Insulation cut around cable causing a cold bridge to occur within wall  

▪ Window unable to open and discolouration on reveal  

▪ Discolouration around door reveals  

▪ Poorly placed render slipped down wall during construction leaving a distinctive indent 

over much of the wall which has also discoloured 

▪ Window cills are loose with no sealant between cills and the EWI. There were also some 

cigarette marks on the cills reported by the homeowner as being caused by the installers 

▪ Cables have not been clipped back to the wall 

▪ Some areas, render was not completed or flacking away, with the mesh below exposed 

▪ Sealant around cills peeling away with the potential to allow the ingress of water  

▪ Cables not clipped back and discolouration on walls 

Internal observations 
▪ Plaster blistering and flaking away off front wall in lounge. 

▪ Plaster blistering on front wall in lounge.  Water ingress was very prominent here with a 

very high moisture content reading in the wall around the BT box.  The BT box frequently 

failed with BT reporting the ingress of water a cause  

▪ Damp was in evidence all along party wall, with plaster flaking away 

▪ Black mould in evidence on ceiling of back bedroom 

▪ Black mould in evidence throughout attic ceiling   

Page 61



Page 37 of 51 

ARB021 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a single-storey extension to the rear. The property has a pitched roof 
covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The 
extension is of cavity wall construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to rear elevation is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Poor corner detail potentially causing ingress of water 

▪ Cabling left hanging and not fixed 

▪ Discolouration at rear of extension 

▪ Pipework not fixed to discoloured  

▪ New windows installed to mitigate damp ingress 

▪ Pipework not sealed correctly 

▪ Base of patio doors poorly finished  

 

Internal observations 

No photographs were taken as all of the damp areas in the bathroom have been covered with 
plastic panels and there is no visible evidence of damp or mildew on the rear walls of the house  

This is house is in good conditions internally as the home owner has invested in a high level  of 
decoration and any faults have been repaired and decorated over them. 

 
  

Page 62



Page 38 of 51 

ARB022 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the 
ground floor and bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, 
plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front and rear of the property   

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ EWI installed down to floor level, no DPC visible. Some Algae growth in evidence.  

▪ Cracks in window reveal  

▪ The cable runs have been clipped at over the recommended intervals of250mm. 

▪ Insulation cut around gas pip 

▪ Cable not clipped back to wall at regular intervals - 300mm for vertical runs recommended  

▪ Discolouration on render  

▪ Discolouration on window reveal.  Note thin render layer only applied to window reveal  

▪ Cold bridge exacerbated by placement of insulation around an obstruction. Best practice is 

to cut back obstruction to allow EWI to be placed.  Also, no sealant used to fill gap 

▪ Pipe fixings not completed 

▪ Render not completed 

▪ Render patched up  

▪ EWI curtailed around extract pipe  

▪ Staining on render  

▪ No EWI in window reveals, only think render  

▪ Sealant failing around window sills  

▪ Pipe fixings not completed  

▪ Render not complete and flaking off. 

▪ Cracking in render 

Internal observations 

This home had recently been decorated throughout and there were no visible issues that could be 
attributed to the measures undertaken. 

 
  

Page 63



Page 39 of 51 

ARB023 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and 
with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen on the ground floor and bedroom on 
the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic 
guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ EWI installed down to ground level, no DPC visible  

▪ Cabling not fixed to wall correctly  

▪ Algae and staining next to front door  

▪ Sealing strip at EWL separating from insulation  

▪ Rear elevation and staining  

▪ Pipework fixing inadequate and no DPC visible  

▪ Rainwater pipe incorrectly connected to foul drainage 

▪ Facia reinstatement poor, cabling not fixed to wall and gas pipe surround not in 

compliance 

▪ Corner beading not finished correctly on return 

▪ Window sill fixing defective  

Internal observations 
 

▪ Mildew in back bedroom of house (photograph 11) 

▪ Wallpaper separating form wall in lounge due to damp (photograph p12) 

 

  

Page 64



Page 40 of 51 

ARB024 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh end of terrace two storey house of solid wall 
construction with the kitchen and bedroom bathroom in an extension at the rear. The property 
has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows 
and doors. The extension has single skin walls.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property 

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.   

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Gable wall showing termination close to ground with staining/damp ingress at rear corner   

▪ Rear wall showing staining from water overflowing guttering  

▪ Defective installation of facia and guttering on house above extension which extends to 81 

Victoria street which also has EWL  

▪ Inset allowed for garden gate so no insulation; gate  does not open fully  

▪ Rear of extension showing staining and poor sealing of outlet pipe  

Internal observations 

▪ Mould in room corners and windows 

 
  

Page 65



Page 41 of 51 

ARB025 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terraced two storey house of solid wall 
construction with the lounges, kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor and three bedrooms on 
the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic 
guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension has single skin walls.  
 Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  50% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 50% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 50% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Rear of house with extension showing staining  

▪ Extension roof showing staining from water pooling on roof after damage by EWI installers  

▪ Rainwater outlet not compliant with good practice 

▪ EWI at rear door poorly installed 

Internal observations 
These home owners are very factitious and maintain the house to a high standard 

internally such that there is no evidence of damp /mildew but instrument show thermal 

break through at some windows in the extension, so no photographs taken   

 

  

Page 66



Page 42 of 51 

ARB026 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached three storey house of solid wall 
construction with a very small extension to the basement which houses kitchen and bathroom. 
The ground floor houses the lounge with the first floor having two bedrooms. The property has a 
pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and 
doors. The extension has single skin walls.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front, side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ EWI installed over three floors , no DPC visible. Extensive staining on front and gable  

▪ Badly fitted window cill(s) with excessive use of mastic   

▪ Poor sealing around dwarf wall on access bridge 

▪ EWL on basement wall at front  

▪ Staining and unfixed pipework on rear wall 

▪ End joint on facia of extensions poor and leaks water 

▪ Damp/mildew on inside rear bedroom  

Internal observations 
▪ This house is very damp indeed especially the inside of the gable wall with wallpaper 

separated from the plaster in several location. The use of heavy emulsion wallpaper 

disguises the problem.  Damp meter readings exceeded 40% 

▪ The bathroom in the basement was very wet (as advised by homeowner) so the entire 

room has been lined with plastic decorative panelling to cover mildew and damp walls 

▪ The house felt damp and humid and ‘unhealthy’. Both homeowners were dependent upon 

medication to control lung ailments. 

 
  

Page 67



Page 43 of 51 

ARB028 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and 
with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor and 
bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, 
plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  50% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 50% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 50% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Elevations of the rear and extension showing discolouration   

▪ Elevation of rear of extension with badly installed waste stack 

▪ Edge beading at side of extension – works not completed  

▪ EWI stopped at too high a level  

▪ Pipe fitting badly made  

▪ Ground floor window sills of extension not changed  

Internal observations 
▪ Damp around back door 

 
 
  

Page 68



Page 44 of 51 

ARB029 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and 
with a two-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom on the ground floor and 
bedroom on the first floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia 
boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall 
construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Elevations of the rear and extension showing discolouration  

▪ The guttering and downpipe connections are inadequate and allow water to overflow  on 

adjoin property resulting in discolouring of wall beneath gutter 

▪ Pipe installed with mild steel fitting and Insulation cut around gas pipe  

▪ Damp and mould on wall beneath window of house 

         
Internal observations 

▪ Mould on inside of house beneath window 
▪ Mould on inside of back bedroom of extension 

 
  

Page 69



Page 45 of 51 

ARB030 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a single-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom. The 
property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC 
windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Staining on render  

▪ Staining on render and poor gutter detailing causing water to overflow resulting in staining  

▪ Staining along wall  

▪ Poor detailing around flue causing ingress of water and cold bridging  

▪ EWI extended to floor level with no DPC in evidence.  Staining at lower level 

▪ EWI extended around door reveal causing potential thermal bridging 

▪ No sealant between EWI and flashing 

▪ Poor flashing detailing around gutter/downpipe 

Internal observations 
▪ Homeowner painting over damp at window reveal 

▪ Damp in evidence in bedroom ceiling 

▪ Damp and black mould on bedroom wall 

▪ Damp and black mould on window reveals in bedroom 

▪ Damp and black mould in evidence around back door 

 
 
  

Page 70



Page 46 of 51 

ARB031 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh semi-detached house of solid wall 
construction and with a single-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and WC.  The 
property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC 
windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction. 
   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Discolouration at base of EWI, no DPC visible 

▪ Drip bead uneven, hence render finish is uneven 

▪ EWI formed around window, restricting opening 

▪ No sealant around flashing 

▪ EWI stopped short around gas pipe, causing thermal bridge 

▪ EWI taken to ground level, and not extended past stone wall, causing thermal bridge 

▪ EWI not sealed at end elevation, causing potential ingress of water and thermal bridging  

▪ EWI not taken to apex on gable end.  

▪ Poor detail around flashing, causing potential ingress of water and thermal bridging  

 

Internal observations 

▪ Black mould and damp in evidence in front bedroom window 

▪ Condensation forming on windows 

▪ Condensation and black mould forming on bedroom window 

▪ Black mould forming on bedroom window  

 

  

Page 71



Page 47 of 51 

ARB033 

Description 
The property is an end of terrace traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and 
with a single storey kitchen extension to the rear.  The property has a pitched roof covered with 
slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of 
cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the front, side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Front elevation with all surfaces covered except for supports to dwarf roof (Photo 1) 

▪ Side and rear elevations showing staining  

▪ Patch repairs at front corner  

▪ Window sills bowing upwards at end 

▪ Cable box out and EWI over cabling  

▪ New rainwater pipe by home own to reduce staining by facia run off  

Internal observations 
▪ Mould in back bedroom ceiling  
▪ Bathroom ceiling bowing 

 

 

 

  

Page 72



Page 48 of 51 

 

ARB034 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terraced house of solid wall construction and 
with a two-storey extension to the rear housing kitchen on ground floor and bathroom on the first 
floor. The property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering 
and UPVC windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  50% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 50% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 50% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Elevations of the rear and extension showing discolouration   

▪ The guttering and downpipe connections are inadequate 

▪ Lounge window does not open  

▪ Waste outlet pipe not fixed to wall  

▪ Excessive use of mastic on ill-fitting windows 

Internal observations 
▪ Mould on inside of kitchen units 

  

Page 73



Page 49 of 51 

ARB035 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh detached house of solid wall construction. The 
property has a pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC 
windows and doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) applied to the front first floor.  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  80% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 80% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 80% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

 
▪ Sealant between flashing deteriorating, causing staining of render along length of wall 

▪ Poor detailing around flashing allowing water to potentially ingress into EWI 

▪ Poor detailing around flashing causing staining of render on face of wall 

▪ EWI taken down to ground level with no DPC in evidence.  Green algae growth visible at 

base of wall 

▪ EWI cut short around external garden wall, causing cold bridging.  Also, hole cut in EWI 

causing water ingress and cold bridging  

▪ No sealant between end of EWI and wall, with void visible between EWI and facia board.  

These would be potential areas for old bridging and water ingress  

Internal observations 

▪ Damp around window reveals in lounge, with wallpaper peeling off wall 

▪ Wall paper peeling off damp wall in front bedroom 

▪ Black mould in evidence on walls and ceiling of bedroom 

 
  

Page 74



Page 50 of 51 

ARB036 

Description 
The property is a privately owned traditional Welsh terrace house of solid wall construction and 
with a single-storey extension to the rear containing kitchen and bathroom. The property has a 
pitched roof covered with slates, plastic facia boards, plastic guttering and UPVC windows and 
doors. The extension is of cavity wall construction.   
 
Measures undertaken  
Measures undertaken include: 

▪ External Wall Insulation (EWI) installed to the side and rear of the property  

▪ EWI covered with a pebble dashed finish with window and door reveals rendered. 

External observations 
Summary of percentage of EWI and IWI applied to all elevations is presented below: 

▪ Percentage of wall completed.  100% 

▪ Percentage of boarding completed. 100% 

▪ Percentage of mesh coat completed. Unable to verify due to non-invasive survey. 

▪ Percentage of finish coat completed. 100% 

▪ Is the home suitable for system? Yes, subject to the DPC being identified. 

Main observations 
▪ EWI cut around gas pipe causing potential cold bridging 

▪ Window sill less than 30mm with staining on render due to water runoff  

▪ No insulation in window reveal and cables not clipped to wall at recommended spacing  

▪ EWI installed to ground level with no DPC visible 

▪ Flashing bent in middle with potential for water to ingress  

▪ Flat roof damaged by scaffolding 

▪ Window sill bent with discolouration on render due to water runoff 

▪ Gutter sloping wrong way, causing ponding, cables not clipped to wall 

▪ Discolouration on render around window and in window reveal 

▪ Damp in kitchen roof due to water ingress from damaged flat roof  

Internal observations 

▪ Plaster damp and blistering due to water ingress around rear window. 

▪ No sealant around window sill giving potential for water ingress. 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES 

VALLEYS REGIONAL PARK FUTURE FUNDING

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an update on the Valleys Regional Park (VRP) 
scheme and the request from the VRP board that BCBC continue in its role as host.  
The report also seeks approval to accept grant offers, subject to their full approval, 
from the Welsh European Funding Office (WEFO) and Welsh Government for future 
funding from the European Social Fund (ESF) and the Rural Development 
Programme (RDP) respectively to fund the continued development of the Valleys 
Regional Park to June 2023.  

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 The Valleys Regional Park (VRP) has been developed through the Welsh 
Government Ministerial Taskforce for the Valleys in partnership with the Valleys local 
authorities (Merthyr Tydfil, Blaenau Gwent, Rhondda Cynon Taff, Caerphilly, Torfaen, 
Bridgend, Neath Port Talbot, Swansea and Carmarthenshire), Natural Resources 
Wales, Visit Wales and Welsh Government officials in Health and Environment 
Divisions. It reflects the views of stakeholders from Valleys communities, the Third 
Sector, Public Health Wales and feedback received through a series of engagement 
events. The VRP prospectus was published on 18th October 2018 and plans have 

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



been further developed through the partnership led by the VRP team, hosted by 
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC).

3.2. The VRP aims to connect people and place, bringing together the health of the land, 
people and the economy.  The ambition is that:

 
 The Valleys landscape is recognised for its quality through a regional 

commitment to coordinated promotion and management
 People are re-connected to the Valleys landscape for their wellbeing, so that 

it becomes a place for exercise, work, relaxation and nature, as well as for arts 
and heritage, and for education

 The Valleys landscape underpins a resilient local economy, supporting 
businesses, community enterprise and the development of skills and learning  

3.3. The VRP has three interlinked delivery themes:

 Landscape, Culture and Identity
 Recreation and Wellbeing
 Communities and Enterprise

3.4. In April 2019 discussions took place between the partner local authorities and the 
Deputy Minister for Economy and Transport.  The Deputy Minister expressed a desire 
for a local authority to act as host for the delivery team element of the next stage of 
the VRP – to March 2021.  BCBC was invited to be the host authority.  

3.5. In July 2019 BCBC accepted the invitation from Welsh Government to be the host 
organisation for the initial phase for a period from August 2019 to March 2021.  A 
funding agreement was established between BCBC and Welsh Government and a 
legal agreement was developed, which is to be agreed and signed by all Local 
Authorities forming the VRP area. 

3.6. In the autumn of 2019, Welsh Government and WEFO indicated that funding 
opportunities existed through RDP and ESF resources to potentially support the 
continuation of the VRP delivery from March 2021 to June 2023.  At its meeting in 
March 2020 the VRP Board invited BCBC to apply for funding through ESF and RDP 
in its role as host.  This invitation was subsequently supported by the VRP Forum. 

 
4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 In June 2020 BCBC officers under delegated authority submitted two full business 
cases to Welsh Government and WEFO.

4.2 The proposal to Welsh Government was submitted under the RDP Co-operation and 
Supply Chain Development Scheme to support the continued development of the 
VRP Guardians Scheme.  The current work will provide an evaluation of the 
development phase which is funded by Welsh Government and is currently being 
delivered through a contract with Groundwork Wales working to the VRP team. This 
proposal would deliver the ongoing Guardian Scheme that will utilise the facilities 
being delivered through the Discovery Gateway capital investments that have been 
made directly by Welsh Government.  The proposal would enable a procurement 
process to be undertaken that would seek to take forward the current approach and 
enable funding to be in place to June 2023 for the Guardians element of the VRP.

Page 78



4.3 The second was a proposal submitted to WEFO for ESF Priority 5, Specific Objective 
5: Public Services Reform.  This proposal was based on an approach to regional 
working that would strengthen sustainable management of natural resources through 
strategic regional collaboration to establish and enable the long-term vision and aims 
of the VRP to provide significant social, economic and environmental benefits. This 
proposal would support the VRP team and the development of the partnership with 
funding in place to June 2023.  The proposal supports the development of proposals 
for the long term governance, operating model and funding mechanism for the VRP. 
Welsh Government and WEFO have agreed to allow the current funding for VRP to 
be used as retrospective match for the ESF proposal and attract the grant offer.

4.4 Based on the request of the VRP forum to do so, these proposals outline that BCBC 
will continue to act as host for the programme team and to extend the appropriate 
financial and legal agreements with Welsh Government and the Local Authorities that 
form the VRP.  The VRP Strategic and Operational lead would remain as a Welsh 
Government employee but be hosted by BCBC via an extension of the terms and 
conditions of the existing hosting agreement.  

4.5 BCBC has been working with public, private and third sector organisations involved 
across the 10 Local Authority areas of the Cardiff Capital Region along with Swansea, 
Neath Port Talbot and Carmarthenshire to develop and deliver the Valleys Regional 
Park as set out in the Valleys Regional Park Prospectus. The ESF and RDP funding 
would enable that to continue to develop the regional partnership, piloting new ways 
of working and to develop options for the long term governance, operating model and 
funding mechanism for the VRP.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial assessment has identified that there are no equality issues related to this 
report.  

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template has 
been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment relating to 
the five ways of working is below:

 Long-term: The activities that form part of the scheme have been identified by the 
partners that will take part and are closely aligned with the long-term ambitions set 
out in the VRP prospectus.  A regional collaborative approach, linked to regional 
working as part of the Cardiff Capital Region area works towards long-term delivery.

 Prevention: On their own none of the partners or participating areas would be able to 
achieve the scale of impact that such a partnership approach offers.  Therefore 
delivering in this way offers the opportunity to build on success to date and prevent a 
deterioration of the value that the development of the VRP brings to the region.  

Page 79



 Integration: The scheme will achieve this way of working by recognising the 
approaches that are proposed for support are those that have been identified by 
partner organisations due to their synergy with local, regional and national priorities.  

 Collaboration: The proposals have been developed and will be delivered through a 
strong partnership between BCBC and those partners that will form part of the 
delivery.  

 Involvement: The scheme will be delivered in close partnership with a range of local 
stakeholders in each area.  Discussions and development with neighboring Counties 
has taken place through BCBC’s Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 
team and relevant officers from neighbouring Councils as well as representatives 
from a range of private and third sector partners.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 Welsh Government made available funding of up to £342,000 for 2019/20 and 
£571,000 for 2020/21 to be allocated to the current phase of the VRP and the work 
involved to be paid via a grant to BCBC. Any costs incurred by BCBC through hosting 
the VRP will be covered by the grant funding available.

8.2. The RDP funding package through the Co-operation and Supply Chain Development 
Scheme is for a proposed value of £866,321. This will be 100% grant funded and 
does not require any match funding from BCBC or its partners.  Delivery would be 
managed via a procurement exercise complying with BCBC Contract Procedure 
Rules. The project is proposed to complete in June 2023. 

 
8.3. The ESF funding package is for a proposed value of £1,602,990. It is anticipated that 

this will be made up of £981,655 grant funding and £621,335 match funding.  WEFO 
have agreed that the current Welsh Government funding provided to BCBC to act as 
host for the current phase can be used as retrospective match funding.  

8.4. There may be minor amendments to these proposed scheme values to reflect 
existing project costs as actual expenditure replaces projections. Welsh Government 
and WEFO have confirmed their agreement for this to be the case and all final values 
will be subject to approval from the Section 151 Officer.  

8.5 The funding agreement with WEFO currently requires Welsh Government to become 
a joint beneficiary and in doing so they will receive funding to continue to directly 
employ and then host with BCBC the role of VRP Strategic and Operational Lead. 

8.6. The Section 151 Officer will ensure that the grant funding provided is used solely for 
the purposes outlined in the respective grant offer letters. Expenditure of the grant 
will comply with all statutory requirements for accounting and internal audit (including 
supporting records and all systems of internal checks and control), and will be 
included with any internal or external audit of the Council’s funding.

9. Recommendations

Cabinet is recommended to:

9.1 Note progress to date in developing the VRP. 

Page 80



9.2 Note the request from the VRP board that BCBC continue in its role as host of the 
VRP

9.3 Approve the proposal for BCBC to extend its role as host of the VRP delivery team 
to June 2023 and delegate authority to the Corporate Director Communities, in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and the Chief Officer of Legal, HR & 
Regulatory Services, to:

(i) approve the final terms of the grant offers and accept the offers of funding from 
Welsh Government and WEFO for RDP and ESF resources upon their receipt; 
and  

(ii) enter into any appropriate funding and legal agreements necessary to fulfil its role 
as host the VRP delivery team and its obligations in relation to RDP and ESF 
funding.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities
3rd November 2020

Contact Officer: Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager: Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 

Telephone: (01656) 815334

E-mail: Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel
Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:
None 

Page 81

mailto:Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES

DEVELOPMENT OF A TOURIST FOCUSSED LAND TRAIN OR SIMILAR PASSENGER 
CARRYING VEHICLE OPERATION IN PORTHCAWL

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to a proposal to support the 
establishment of a tourist focussed land train or similar passenger carrying vehicle 
operation in Porthcawl.  The proposal will aim to add value to on-going work to 
develop a range of sustainable transport methods that better connect the attractions, 
facilities and services that exist across the seafront with the town centre. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

2.1 In 2014, Visit Wales (VW) stated that as part of their European Regional Development 
Fund (ERDF) Infrastructure Development Programme, they were looking to prioritise 
a small number of regional tourist ‘Attractor Destinations’ within Wales and 
anticipated that 2-3 priority schemes may be taken forward in the parts of South East 
Wales eligible for ERDF funding.

2.2 Following a regional prioritisation exercise involving all 10 Local Authorities in the 
South East Wales area, Porthcawl was scored as a priority for support. This highlights 
the importance of the resort in tourism terms, both locally, and for the wider Welsh 
economy. 

2.3 In April 2015 Cabinet authorised the Corporate Director - Communities to develop the 
detail of the priority scheme for Porthcawl in partnership with local, regional and 
national stakeholders and, in consultation with the s151 Officer, to put in place the 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



necessary match-funding arrangements for the delivery of the Scheme in line with 
the VW funding timetable.

2.4 VW submitted an Operation Logic Table (OLT) for proposed EU operations to the 
Welsh European Funding Office (WEFO) and subsequently received approval on 16 
July 2015. The business plan for the programme was submitted on 27 November 
2015 with information from each of the schemes involved in the programme. 

3. Current situation/proposal
3.1 To date Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) has delivered the following 

through the TAD programme:

a. Watersports Centre at Rest Bay. The creation of a £1.5m watersports centre 
over two floors that appeals to a wide range of watersports enthusiasts whilst 
providing enhanced facilities for visitors to Rest Bay. 

b. Porthcawl Harbour enhancement facility. The refurbishment of the existing 
kiosk building at Porthcawl Harbour has created an adaptable space which 
currently supports the operation of the harbour by providing a small office space 
and accessible facilities for berth holders along with one commercial unit. 

c. Your Porthcawl Marketing Campaign. The Your Porthcawl marketing 
campaign is unique to Porthcawl that is building a recognisable brand identity 
that will evoke positive feelings about Porthcawl. 

d. Visit Bridgend Website. In 2020 BCBC launched the new VisitBridgend 
website that superseded BridgendBites showcasing all that Bridgend borough 
has to offer to both residents and visitors to the area. The Porthcawl Resort 
Investment Fund (PRIF) project funded the creation and content of the 
Porthcawl section on the Visit Bridgend Website. 

3.2 As a result of re-profiling the funding package that has already been secured by 
BCBC through the TAD programme an opportunity now exists to allocate funds to 
support the establishment of a tourist focussed land train or similar passenger 
carrying vehicle operation in Porthcawl. 

3.3 The intention would be to seek to link the town centre, beaches and other attractions 
along the seafront from Sandy Bay/Coney Beach to Rest Bay.  An initial route has 
been agreed internally between BCBC officers. This group included Highways 
Network Manager, Town Centre Manager, Destination Management Officer and 
Traffic Management Officers. The proposed operational season would be expected 
to cover, as a minimum, the main holiday periods and therefore generally commence 
at the end of March or beginning of Easter through to the end of September. The 
operator would be responsible for providing the vehicle and meeting all maintenance, 
repair, insurance and all other operating costs and be responsible for obtaining all 
approvals necessary to operate the vehicle.

3.4 This proposal has been discussed in principle with VW and subject to BCBC following 
appropriate financial processes and procedures is considered to be in line with the 
overall aspiration of the TAD programme and to add value to work undertaken to 
date.    

Page 84



3.5 It is proposed that the opportunity to operate a tourist focussed land train or similar 
passenger carrying vehicle on the roads across Porthcawl Seafront be openly 
advertised and expressions of interest sought from potential operators. Interested 
operators would be invited to submit their proposals for the consideration of BCBC 
officers. Proposals will be evaluated against prescribed criteria including vehicle type, 
potential passenger numbers, proposed ticketing costs and the previous experience 
of the operator. 

3.6 Once an operator has the appropriate consents required to operate the vehicle, route 
signage, line painting and amendments to   the Bridgend County Borough Council 
(Prohibition and Restriction of Waiting and Loading and Parking Places)(Civil 
Enforcement) Order 2013 (TRO) will be required to assist in the safe delivery of the 
local transport link. It is proposed that eligible costs to facilitate these works be funded 
through the resources already secured by BCBC as part of the TAD programme. 

4.7.     It is proposed that an experimental traffic order (ETO) is made which would
Amend the TRO to enable the vehicle to stop and pick up passengers. During the 
initial 6 month period that the ETO is in force, members of the public will be able 
object to the experimental amendment of the TRO. During the period the ETO is in 
force, the operation of the route will be monitored and evaluated. Within 18 months 
of the ETO being made, a decision will need to be made on whether to make the 
experimental changes to the TRO permanent.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial assessment has identified that there are no equality issues related to this 
report.  

6.2 It is to be noted that within the expression of interest BCBC will make clear the need 
for consideration and compliance with relevant accessibility standards.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template has 
been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment relating to 
the five ways of working is below:

 Long-term: The activities that form part of the scheme have been identified internal 
and external stakeholders that will take part in and are closely aligned to Destination 
Management Plan of the area.  

 Prevention: Support to develop a range of sustainable transportation methods aim to 
reduce the reliance on cars and the number of vehicles on the road.  The proposal 
will build on success to date in this area of work. 

 Integration: The scheme will achieve this way of working by recognising the 
approaches that are proposed for support are those that have been identified by 

Page 85



internal and external stakeholders and the proposal itself will integrate with other 
existing means of transportation.    

 Collaboration: The proposals have been developed and will be delivered through a 
strong partnership between BCBC and those partners that will form part of the 
delivery through the Coastal Partnership.  

 Involvement: The proposal will be delivered in close partnership with a range of local 
stakeholders.  Discussions and development with key BCBC officers will be 
undertaken.   

8. Financial implications

8.1 The funding for the proposed development of a land train or similar passenger 
carrying vehicle operation is available as a result of a re-profile exercise undertaken 
by BCBC and utilises funds already secured as part of the TAD programme.  A total 
of £11,453 is to be allocated through existing TAD resources.  In addition, an amount 
of £844 will be provided by the Council’s tourism budget to support the proposed 
development in the financial year 2020/2021. These resources will cover such costs 
as design and legal fees

8.2 All costs associated with the tourist focused transport link are revenue costs and 
funded via the amount detailed in 8.1. This includes route design, route signage, line 
painting, advertisement costs, translation fees and legal fees. There are no on-going 
maintenance costs associated with the actions proposed.  

8.3 The funding BCBC has secured through the TAD programme currently has an agreed 
end date of the 31st May 2021 and therefore all costs must be incurred before that 
date.  Should it be considered that a longer time period be required then an extension 
would need to be requested and approved by VW. 

 
9. Recommendation(s)

Cabinet is recommended to

9.1 Note progress of work to date in delivering the aspirations of the TAD programme in 
Porthcawl

9.2 Approve the proposal to support the establishment of a tourist focused land train or 
similar passenger carrying vehicle operator in for Porthcawl.

9.3 Authorise officers to undertake the processes and procedures outlined in section 4 of 
this report and in doing, and in agreement with the Section 151 Officer and Head of 
Legal and Regulatory Services, grant any necessary consents and enter into any 
required agreements with the preferred operator.  

Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director, Communities
3rd November 2020

Contact Officer: Sean Warrington
Destination Management & Coastal Operations Team Leader

Page 86



Telephone: (01656) 815915

E-mail: sean.warrington@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel
Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:
Cabinet Report on Tourism Investment Opportunities and Prioritisation dated 28th April 2015

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



   

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

17 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT – HALF YEAR REPORT 2020-21 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 
 comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy’s ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice’ to produce interim Treasury Management Reports.  

 

 report on the projected Treasury Management Indicators for 2020-21.   
 

 provide an update on the proposed changes to the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2020-21 and recommend that they be presented 
to Council for approval.  

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 

priorities 
 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:   
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively 
and efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources 
throughout the community that can help deliver the Council’s well-being 
objectives.  
 

2.2 The Treasury Management Report is integral to the delivery of all of the 
Council’s well-being objectives as the allocation of resources determines the 
extent to which the well-being objectives can be delivered. 

 
3. Background  
 
3.1 Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 

borrowing and investments, and the associated risks. The Council is exposed 
to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of 
financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial 
management.  

  

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



3.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA 
Code) which requires the Council to approve a Treasury Management Strategy 
(TMS) before the start of each financial year. The CIPFA Code also requires 
the Council to set a number of Treasury Management Indicators, which are 
forward looking parameters and enable the Council to measure and manage its 
exposure to treasury management risks, and these are included throughout this 
report. In addition, the Welsh Government (WG) issued revised Guidance on 
Local Authority Investments in November 2019 that requires the Council to 
approve an Investment Strategy before the start of each financial year. This 
report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 
to have regard to both the CIPFA Code and the Welsh Government Guidance. 

 
 
3.3 In 2017 CIPFA also published a new version of the Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). The updated Prudential 
Code includes a requirement for Local Authorities to provide a Capital Strategy, 
which is a summary document approved by full Council covering capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury 
investments. The definition of investments in the revised 2017 CIPFA Code now 
covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial 
assets which the authority holds primarily for financial return. The Council’s 
Capital Strategy 2020-21, complying with CIPFA’s requirement includes the 
Prudential Indicators which in previous years were included in the TMS, along 
with details regarding the Council’s non-treasury investments. The Capital 
Strategy and TMS should be read in conjunction with each other as they are 
interlinked as borrowing and investments are directly impacted upon by capital 
plans and were approved together by Council on 26 February 2020.  

 
3.4 Following a recent re-tender exercise for the Council’s treasury management 

advisors, Arlingclose were the successful tenderer and will continue to be the 
Council’s advisors for the next 4 years. The services provided to the Council 
include:- 

  
 advice and guidance on relevant policies, strategies and reports 
 advice on investment decisions 
 notification of credit ratings and changes 
 other information on credit quality 
 advice on debt management decisions 
 accounting advice 
 reports on treasury performance 
 forecasts of interest rates 
 training courses 

 
4. Current Situation/Proposal  
 
4.1 The Council has complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements 

during the first half of 2020-21.  The TMS 2020-21 was reported to Council on 
26 February 2020 with the Half Year Outturn scheduled to be reported on 18 

Page 90



November 2020. In addition, a quarterly monitoring report was provided to 
Cabinet in July 2020. 

 
4.2 A summary of the treasury management activities for the first half of 2020-21 is 

shown in table 1 in Appendix A. The Council has not taken long term borrowing 
since March 2012 and it is not expected that there will be a requirement for any 
new long term borrowing in 2020-21. Favourable cash flows have provided 
surplus funds for investment and the balance on investments at 30 September 
2020 was £64.29 million with an average rate of interest of 0.24%. This is a 
significant reduction from the same time last year when the average rate was 
0.85%, and shows the impact of the reductions in interest rates during March 
2020.   

 
4.3 Restructuring of the debt portfolio, and in particular the Lender Option Borrower 

Option (LOBO) loans has been previously considered.  The LOBOs have two 
trigger points during the year at which point the lender may consider offering 
the Council the option to repay the loan without penalty.  At the current interest 
rates the lender is not likely to exercise that option.  Any renegotiation of the 
LOBO would result in a premium payable by the Council.  At current rates the 
premium would far outweigh the savings achievable.  The Council will continue 
to review its long term lending and would take the option to repay these loans 
at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so.    
 

4.4  Table 4 in section 4 of Appendix A details the movement of the investments 
by counterparty types and shows the average balances, interest received, 
original duration and interest rates for the first half of 2020-21.  

   
4.5 The TM Code requires the Council to set and report on a number of Treasury 

Management Indicators. The indicators either summarise the expected activity 
or introduce limits upon the activity. Details of the estimates for 2020-21 set out 
in the Council’s TMS, against current projections, are shown in Appendix A and 
these show that the Council is operating in line with the approved limits. 

 
4.6 The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having 

a credit rating of A- or higher and Appendix B shows the equivalence table for 
credit ratings for Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and explains the 
different investment grades. 

 
4.7 CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management requires all local authorities 

to conduct a mid-year review of its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities. The outcome of this review is that there are changes required to 
investment limits as below: 

 
 increase the investment limit to Registered Providers from £3 million to 

£5 million.  As the Council has had positive cash balances this will provide 
the Council with wider scope in making investments at a practical level 
(Table 6 of the TMS – Appendix C). 

 increase the total amount that can be invested in Money Market Funds 
(MMFs) from £20 million to £30 million.  This is to enable the Council to 
increase the number of MMF’s available to it thus assisting Treasury 

Page 91



Management activities on a practical level, whilst also providing greater 
diversity of funds available to the Council (Table 9 of the TMS – Appendix 
C). 

 
The proposed revised TMS is included at Appendix C and the proposed 
amendments highlighted in red.  Both these amendments have been discussed 
with our Treasury Management Advisors. 
 

5. Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 20.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

all investments and borrowing transactions have been undertaken in 
accordance with the TMS 2020-21 as approved by Council with due regard to 
the requirements of the CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 
the Public Services. 

 
6. Equality Impact Assessment  
 
6.1 There are no equality implications. 
 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report. As the report is for information only and is retrospective in nature it 
is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1      The financial implications are reflected within the report. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 note the Council’s treasury management activities for 2020-21 for the period 1 
April 2020 to 30 September 2020 and the projected Treasury Management 
Indicators for 2020-21. 

 recommend that the proposed changes to the Treasury Management Strategy 
2020-21 be presented to Council for approval on 18 November 2020.  
 

Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change  
6 November 2020 
 
Contact Officer: Nigel Smith 
   Group Manager – Chief Accountant  
 
Telephone:  01656 643605 
 

Page 92



E-mail:   nigel.smith@bridgend.gov.uk 
  
Postal Address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 
  
Background documents:  
 
Capital Strategy 2020-21 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            APPENDIX A 
 
 

SUMMARY OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 2020-21 
1 APRIL TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
1.      External Debt and Investment Position 
 

On 30 September 2020, the Council held £96.87 million of external long term 
borrowing and £64.29 million of investments. The Council’s external debt and 
investment position for 1 April to 30 September 2020 is shown below in Table 
1; more detail is provided in section 3 - Borrowing Strategy and Outturn - and 
section 4 - Investment Strategy and Outturn:   
 

    Table 1: External debt and investment position 1 April 2020 to 30 September 2020 
 

 

 
* (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 13.75 years remaining term 
*** these funds provide instant access 

 
 
Where a Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside revenue 
resources to repay that debt in later years and this amount charged to revenue 
is called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The Local Authority (Capital 

Principal Average Principal Average
Rate  Rate 

01/04/2020 01/04/2020 30/09/2020 30/09/2020
£m % £m %

External Long Term Borrowing:

Public Works Loan Board 77.62 4.70 77.62 4.70

Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option 19.25 4.65 19.25 4.65

Total External Borrowing 96.87 4.69 96.87 4.69

Other Long Term Liabilities (LTL): 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI)* 16.30 15.94

Other LTL 1.10 1.02

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 17.40 16.96

Total Gross External Debt 114.27 113.83

Treasury Investments:

Debt Management Office 37.00 0.06 15.20 0.01

Local Authorities 18.00 0.97 28.50 0.49

Banks 5.00 0.34 3.59 0.07

Building Societies 2.00 0.78 - -

Money Market Fund*** - - 17.00 0.07

Total Treasury Investments 62 0.37 64.29 0.24

Net Debt 52.27 49.54

Page 95



Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2008  requires the 
Council to produce and approve an annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Statement before the start of the financial year that details the methodology for 
the MRP charge and this is detailed in the Council’s Capital Strategy. The 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are 
the underlying resources available for investment. The Council’s current 
strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, 
sometimes known as internal borrowing. This strategy is prudent as investment 
returns are low and counterparty risk is relatively high. Whilst the CFR is 
forecast to remain static over this financial year at £171.78 million, going 
forward it is expected to increase due to the amount of prudential borrowing in 
the capital program in future years.  
 
The liability benchmark measures the Council’s projected net debt requirement 
plus a short term liquidity allowance in the form of minimum cash and 
investment balances.  The purpose of the benchmark is to set the level of risk 
which the Council regards as its balanced or normal position. The forecast 
liability benchmark, or level of debt as at 31 March 2021 is £103.3 million, which 
is below the estimate within the TMS.  The current level of long-term borrowing 
is £96.87 million, which is an under-borrowed position as the Council has 
available reserves it can use to fund capital expenditure in the short term.  This 
is a prudent approach to managing its cash resources. Table 2 below has been 
produced using estimates of capital spend and forecasts on usable reserves 
for the current financial year. The Loans CFR ignores cash balances and may 
be too high if the authority benefits from long term positive cash flows which 
this Council does benefit from. The benchmark assumes that cash and 
investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £10 million at each year-
end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk.  
 
Table 2: Liability benchmark 
 

                        
2. External Context 
 

The interest rate views incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2020-21 were based 
upon officers’ views supported by a forecast from Arlingclose. When the TMS 
2020-21 was prepared at the beginning of 2020, it was written on the basis of 
an orderly transition to a deep free trade agreement between the United 
Kingdom (UK) and the European Union. Consequently Arlingclose forecasted 

 

2019-20 
Actual 

 
£m  

2020-21 
Estimate 

TMS 
£m  

2020-21 
Projection 

 
£m  

Loans Capital Financing 
Requirement  

157.0 157.4 157.0 

Less: Usable reserves (76.0) (48.1) (63.7) 

Working capital (7.0) - - 

Plus: Minimum investments 10.0 10.0 10.0 

Liability Benchmark 84.0 119.3 103.3 

Page 96



that the Bank Rate would remain at 0.75% until the end of 2022, unless Brexit 
uncertainty dragged on or global growth failed to recover.  To date no trade deal 
has been agreed and the transition period will end on 31 December 2020. 
 
In addition to the Brexit uncertainty, at the start of the year nobody could have 
predicted the widespread Covid-19 pandemic, the prolonged period of 
lockdown across the UK or the devastating impact on the economy in general, 
UK finances and the Council’s own budgets. The Bank Rate was reduced from 
0.75% to 0.25% on 11 March 2020 and then lowered again to 0.1% on 19 March 
2020. In May 2020 the Bank of England governor suggested that there is a risk 
that Britain’s economy will take longer to recover from the impact of the 
coronavirus than originally anticipated. He said that the risks were undoubtedly 
to the downside for the economic recovery to be “longer and harder”. He added 
"It is also possible that the pace at which activity recovers will be limited by 
continued caution among households and businesses even as official social 
distancing measures are relaxed". The Bank of England has stated that it is 
ready to provide further support for the economy and this includes cutting 
interest rates below zero, but this would need careful consideration. Arlingclose 
has indicated that any further reduction in the bank rate to zero, or a negative 
rate, will have an impact on money market and deposit account rates, money 
market fund returns and borrowing costs. The impact of the pandemic on the 
Council’s financial position will be kept under continuous review during the 
financial year and any necessary changes reported at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Since the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, the UK and Welsh Governments 
have announced a wide range of financial support schemes to try and mitigate 
the impact on the economy, businesses and individuals. These include: 
 
• Job Retention Scheme (furlough) (UK) 
• Self Employed Income Support Scheme (UK) 
• Business Rates Grants (WG) 
• Small Charities Business Rates Grants (WG) 
• Local Government Hardship Fund, including £67m for Adult Social Care, 

£51 million for free school meals and £10 million for homelessness, in 
addition to £198 million for lost income. 

• Lockdown Grants (WG) 
• Economic Resilience Fund (WG) 
 
 
The local authority has administered a number of the Welsh Government 
Schemes which involved the payment of over 2,400 business and charity grants 
worth almost £30 million, as well as bearing the upfront costs of additional 
support required throughout the pandemic in advance of receiving WG funding. 
This has clearly had an impact on the Council’s cash flow during the first quarter 
of the financial year and measures were put in place to manage the significant 
sums of money flowing into and out of the Council’s bank account, including 
receiving earlier payments of Revenue Support Grant and interim business 
grant payments from Welsh Government, making short term deposits until 
funding is required and increasing our daily BACS limits to enable more 
payments to be processed quickly. As the year progresses more Welsh 

Page 97



Government grants are being announced and paid, so close management of 
the Council’s cash flow is a priority. 
 
 

3.      Borrowing Strategy and Outturn for 1 April to 30 September 2020 
 

At 30 September 2020, the Council held £96.87 million of long-term loans as 
part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes. The TMS 
2020-21 forecast that the Council would need to borrow £16 million in 2020-21. 
Currently it is forecast that the Council may need to borrow £2.45 million as a 
result of anticipated slippage of capital schemes following the Covid-19 
pandemic. It is likely that this will reduce to zero should there be any further 
slippage of the Capital Programme in the remainder of the year.  More detail on 
forecast capital spend is provided in the Capital Strategy 2020-21 which was 
approved by Council on 26 February 2020 and the Capital Monitoring report 
approved by Council on 21 October 2020.  
 
The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are required.  
The flexibility to renegotiate loans, should the Council’s long-term plans 
change, is a secondary objective. Therefore the major objectives to be followed 
in 2020-21 are: 
 
• to minimise the revenue costs of debt 
• to manage the Council’s debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future 

year with a high level of repayments that could cause problems in re-
borrowing  

• to effect funding in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate 
with future risk 

• to monitor and review the level of variable interest rate loans in order to 
take greater advantage of interest rate movement 

• to reschedule debt if appropriate, in order to take advantage of potential 
savings as interest rates change 

• to optimise the use of all capital resources including borrowing, both 
supported and unsupported, usable capital receipts, revenue 
contributions to capital and grants and contributions 

 
Given the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the economy and public finances 
in general, as well as on local government funding in particular, and the 
uncertainty going forward, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to 
address the key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term 
stability of the debt portfolio. The ever increasing uncertainty over future interest 
rates increases the risks associated with treasury activity.  As a result the 
Council will take a cautious approach to its treasury strategy. With short-term 
interest rates currently much lower than long term rates, it is likely to be more 
cost effective in the short term to either use internal resources or take out short 
term loans instead. 

 

Page 98



The Council’s primary objective for the management of its debt is to ensure its 
long term affordability. The majority of its loans have therefore been borrowed 
from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at long term fixed rates of interest 
but we will also investigate other sources of finance, such as Welsh 
Government and local authority loans and bank loans that may be available at 
more favourable rates.  Following the increase in the numbers of local 
authorities taking out PWLB loans to buy commercial properties for yield, the 
UK government undertook a consultation on the PWLB future lending terms.  
The outcome of this consultation may impact on future borrowing opportunities 
for the Council. 

 
The last time the Council took out long term borrowing was £5 million from the 
PWLB in March 2012 and, as detailed above, the current forecast is that there 
will be no requirement for new long-term borrowing in 2020-21. The Council 
may take out short term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages. Market conditions have meant that there has 
been no rescheduling of the Council’s long term borrowing so far this year 
however, in conjunction with Arlingclose, the loan portfolio will continue to be 
reviewed for any potential savings as a result of any loan rescheduling. 
 
The £19.25 million in table 1 above relates to Lender’s Option Borrower’s 
Option (LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054, however these may 
be re-scheduled in advance of this maturity date.  The LOBO rate and term may 
vary in the future depending upon the prevailing market rates, the lender 
exercising their option to increase rates at one of the bi-annual trigger points 
(the trigger dates being July and January) and therefore, the Council being 
given the option to accept the increase or to repay the loan without incurring a 
penalty. The lender did not exercise their option on 22 July 2020 and the next 
trigger point is 22 January 2021. The lender is unlikely to exercise their option 
in the current low interest rate environment, however, an element of refinancing 
risk remains.  The Council would take the option to repay these loans at no cost 
if it has the opportunity to do so in the future. The current average interest rate 
for these LOBO’s is 4.65% compared to the PWLB Loans average interest rate 
of 4.70%. The premiums payable to renegotiate the Council’s Lender’s Option 
Borrower’s Option (LOBO) continues to be cost prohibitive. 
 
The Treasury Management indicator shown in Table 3 below is for the Maturity 
Structure of Borrowing and is set for the forthcoming financial year to control 
the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk with respect to the maturity of the 
Council’s external borrowing, and has been set to allow for the possible 
restructuring of long term debt where this is expected to lead to an overall 
saving or reduction in risk. It is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in 
each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing. The upper and lower 
limits on the maturity structure of borrowing set out in the TMS 2020-21 and the 
projection for 2020-21 are: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



 
 
 
Table 3: Treasury Management Indicator Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
2020-21 
 

 
The 19.87% shown in Table 3 above relates to the £19.25 million LOBO loans 
which may be re-scheduled in advance of their maturity date of 2054, as 
detailed in the paragraph above.  The CIPFA Code requires the maturity of 
LOBO loans to be shown as the earliest date on which the lender can require 
payment, i.e. the option/call dates in 2020-21, so the maturity date is actually 
uncertain but is shown in the “Under 12 months” category as per the Code. 
 

4. Investment Strategy and Outturn 1 April to 30 September 2020 
 

Both the CIPFA Code and the WG Guidance require the Council to invest its 
funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s 
objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between 
risk and return, balancing the risk of incurring losses from defaults against 
receiving unsuitably low investment income.  

The major objectives during 2020-21 were:-  

To maintain capital security 
To maintain liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is needed  
To achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels of 
security and liquidity 

 
The Annual Investment Strategy incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2020-21 
includes the credit ratings defined for each category of investments and the 
liquidity of investments. The Council’s investments have historically been 
placed in mainly short term bank and building society unsecured deposits and 
local and central government.  However, investments may be made with any 
public or private sector organisations that meet the minimum credit criteria and 
investment limits specified in the Investment Strategy. The majority of the 
Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in Money Market Funds and with 
other local authorities but the Council will continue to look at investment options 
in line with the limits detailed in the Investment Strategy. In the last 6 months 
Arlingclose has been constantly stress testing the financial institutions on its 
recommended counterparty list during the pandemic and, as a result, has 

Refinancing rate risk indicator  
Maturity structure of  borrowing 2020-
21 

TMS 2020-21 
Upper limit 

% 

TMS 2020-21 
Lower limit 

% 

Projection  
31-3-21 

% 
 Under 12 months  50 - 19.87 
 12 months and within 24 months 25 - - 
 24 months and within 5 years 25 -   9.59 
 5 years and within 10 years 40 - 16.33 
 10 years and within 20 years 50 - 11.48 
  20 years and above 60 25 42.73 

Page 100



removed a number from its recommended list for unsecured deposits and 
revised the credit rating, outlook and recommended deposit period for a number 
of others. This reflects the revised likely credit worthiness of the institutions from 
the economic and financial market implications of coronavirus. The Council 
takes into account updated advice from its advisors before making any 
investment decisions. 

 
The Council holds surplus funds representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves and as shown in Table 1 above, the 
balance on investments at 30 September 2020 was £64.29 million. Table 4 
below details these investments by counterparty type. The average investment 
rate in the period 1 April to 30 September 2020 was 0.33% (Table 4) and was 
0.24% at 30 September 2020 (Table 1 – Total treasury investments). On 25th 
September the rates on Government Debt Management Office (DMO) deposits 
up to 2 weeks dropped below zero percent to -0.03%, 0% for 3-week deposits 
and 0.01% for maturities over 3 months.  As a result of the pandemic there is 
potential for future average returns to reduce further. 

Table 4: Investments Profile 1 April to 30 September 2020 

 

The Treasury Management indicator shown below in Table 5 is for Principal 
Sums Invested for periods longer than a year. Where the Council invests, or 
plans to invest, for periods longer than a year, an upper limit is set for each 
forward financial year period for the maturing of such investments. The purpose 
of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses 
by seeking early repayment of long term investments. The limit on the long term 
principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end are set out in 
the TMS 2020-21. 

Table 5: Treasury Management Indicator Principal Sums Invested for 
periods longer than a year 

Price risk indicator TMS 2020-21 
£m 

Projection 31-3-21 
£m 

Limit  on principal invested beyond 
financial year end 

 
15 

 
Nil 

 

Investment 
Counterparty 

Category

Balance 
01 April 

2020
(A)

£m

Investments 
raised

(B)

£m

Investments 
Repaid

(C)

£m

Balance 30 
September 

2020
(A+B-C)

£m

Investment 
income 

received**
Apr-Sep 2020

£'000

Average 
original 

duration of 
the 

Investment
Days

Weighted 
average 

investment 
balance Apr-

Sept 2020
£m

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
Apr-Sept 20

%

Government DMO 37.00      573.53         595.33          15.20            13.86                15                    28.30                0.04             
Local Authorities 18.00      33.50            23.00            28.50            113.48              291                  28.07                0.73             

Banks (Fixed Maturity) 2.00        2.00              2.00              2.00              13.08                123                  2.00                  0.49             
Banks Instant 
Access/Notice Period 
Account* 3.00        8.63              10.04            1.59              -                    -                   3.55                  0.05             
Building Societies 2.00        2.00              -                -                    182                  0.33                  0.78             
Money Market Fund 
(Instant Access)* -          17.00            17.00            11.20                -                   13.26                0.20             
Total/Average 62.00      634.66         632.37          64.29            151.62              153                  75.51                0.33             

Page 101



All investments longer than 365 days (non-specified) will be made with a 
cautious approach to cash flow requirements and advice from Arlingclose will 
be sought as necessary.  
 

Two investments with Local Authorities whose original duration was 4 years are 
due to mature within the next 3 months and are therefore no longer classified 
as long-term. Therefore all investments at 30 September 2020 were short term 
deposits including Government Debt Management Office, Money Market Funds, 
Local Authorities, instant access and notice accounts. Table 6 below details 
these investments by counterparty type based on the remaining maturity period 
as at 30 September 2020: 

Table 6: Investments Outstanding Maturity Profile 30 September 2020 
 
 

 
 

Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies to ensure that this lies 
within the Council’s agreed minimum credit rating. Where available the credit 
rating relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, 
otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions 
are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors 
including external advice will be taken into account. Appendix B shows the 
equivalence table for credit ratings for three of the main rating agencies Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and explains the different investment grades. 
The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having a 
credit rating of A- or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with 
a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher. 

The pie chart below summarises Table 6 by credit ratings and shows the £64.29 
million investments at 30 September 2020 by percentage. Most Local 
Authorities do not have credit ratings and the £17 million invested with an AA- 
rated MMF was an approved counterparty by Arlingclose, whilst the remainder 
of the investments all had a credit rating of A or above.  

Counterparty Instant Deposits Deposits Deposits Total

Category Access Maturing Maturing Maturing

Within Within Within

  1 Month   2-3 Months 4-12 Months

£m £m £m £m £m

Government DMO 15.20 15.20

Local Authorities 5.00 18.50 5.00 28.50

Banks 1.59 2.00 3.59

Building Societies 0.00

Money Market Fund 17.00 17.00

Total 18.59 22.20 18.50 5.00 64.29

Page 102



 

 

5.   Interest Rate Exposures – Borrowing and Investments 

The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing 
financial instrument periods. Short term and variable rate loans expose the 
Council to the risk of short term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to 
the Treasury Management indicator in Table 7 below to manage Interest Rate 
Exposures. 

Table 7: Treasury Management Indicator Interest Rate Exposures 

Interest rate risk indicator Indicator 
£’000 

As at 30-09-20 
£’000 

One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest 
rates 

(264) (427) 

One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 181  619 

 

This has been set as an indicator (not a limit) to measure the net impact over 
one year on the revenue account of both a 1% rise and a 1% fall in all interest 
rates for borrowing net of treasury investments. This is calculated  at a point in 
time on the assumption that maturing loans and investments will be replaced at 
rates 1% higher or lower than they would otherwise have been on their maturity 
dates and that the treasury investment and borrowing portfolios remain 
unchanged over the coming year. Interest rates can move by more than 1% 
over the course of a year, although such instances are rare. 

AA-, 26%

A+, 6%

DMO, 24%

LOCAL 
AUTHORITY, 

43%
Credit Ratings

AA- A+ DMO LOCAL AUTHORITY

Page 103



The figures for the 1% fall in interest rates indicator are not the same figures as 
the 1% rise in interest rates (but reversed) as the borrowing relates to variable 
LOBO loans where it is assumed that the lender would not exercise their option 
if there was a fall in interest rates. All other borrowing does not have a rate reset 
in the next year and is with the PWLB at fixed rates 

 

6.   Review of the Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 

CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management requires all local 
authorities to conduct a review of its treasury management policies, practices 
and activities. As a result of the current economic climate and so as to provide 
greater flexibility with investments it is proposed to increase the Investment 
Limit for MMF’s from £20 million to £30 million in total. In addition it is proposed 
to increase the approved investment counterparty limit for Registered Providers 
from £3 million to £5 million.  
 
These changes can be seen in Appendix C and have been highlighted 
accordingly.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



APPENDIX B 
 
 
 

 
 
Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch are the three most significant 
rating agencies in the world.  These agencies rate the creditworthiness of 
countries and private enterprises. 

 
“AAA” or “Aaa” is the highest rating across all three rating agencies and 
indicates the highest level of creditworthiness.  A “D” rating (“C” rating from 
Moody’s) indicates poor creditworthiness of a company or government.  A 
difference is made between short-term and long-term ratings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Draft Amended Treasury 
Management 

Strategy 
2020-21 

 
Bridgend County Borough Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 2  
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
The Council carries out its treasury management activities in accordance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (2017) (the ‘Code’).  These 
require the Council to set out the policies and objectives of its treasury management 
activities and to manage its treasury risks in accordance with the Code.   
 
CIPFA has adopted the following as its definition of treasury management activities: 
 
‘The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.’ 
 
The definition of ‘Investments’ above includes: 
 

 Treasury Management investments (held for the prudent management of 
financial affairs), and 

 Non-Treasury Investments, undertaken as part of a Capital Strategy either in 
the course of provision of services; or made for commercial reasons purely to 
make a financial gain.  These are managed outside of normal treasury 
management activity 

 
In addition, the Welsh Government (WG) issued revised Guidance on Local Authority 
Investments in November 2019 that requires the Authority to approve an investment 
strategy before the start of each financial year.  This Strategy fulfils the Authority’s legal 
obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to both the CIPFA 
Code and the WG Guidance.  In accordance with the WG Guidance Council would be 
asked to approve a revised Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) should the 
assumptions on which it is based change significantly.  This might be for example a 
large unexpected change in interest rates, in the Council’s Capital Programme, or in 
the level of its investment balance, or a material loss in the fair value of a non-financial 
investment identified as part of the year end accounts preparation and audit process, 
or a change in Accounting Standards.   
 
Local authorities are required to separately approve a Capital Strategy for capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments. The 
Council’s Capital Strategy includes the Prudential Indicators along with details 
regarding the Council’s non-treasury investments. The CIPFA Code requires the 
Council to set a number of Treasury Management Indicators which are forward looking 
parameters and enable the Council to measure and manage its exposure to treasury 
management risks which are integral to the TMS. The Capital Strategy and TMS should 
be read in conjunction with each other as borrowing and investments are directly 
impacted upon by capital plans. 
 
The Council has an integrated TMS where borrowing and investments are managed 
in accordance with best professional practice, which is assessed either from internal 
expertise or consultation with our external advisers. The Council borrows money either 
to meet short term cash flow needs or to fund capital schemes approved within the 

Page 108



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 3  
 

capital programme. Therefore any actual loans taken are not generally associated with 
particular items of expenditure or assets. The Council is exposed to financial risks 
including the potential loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing 
interest rates. The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are therefore 
central to the Council’s TMS. Should these change significantly, a revised TMS will be 
presented to Council for approval.  A half year review of treasury management 
performance will also be presented to Council for approval as will an annual report for 
the financial year  
 
The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of 
its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions to the Section 151 Officer, who will 
act in accordance with the organisation’s strategy, Treasury Management Practices 
(TMP) and CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 
Quarterly reports will be presented to Cabinet. The Council nominates the Audit 
Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury 
management strategy and policies and regular reports will be presented to Audit 
Committee for their consideration. 
 
2.0 ECONOMIC CONTEXT   

Economic background: The UK’s progress negotiating its exit from the European 
Union, together with its future trading arrangements, will continue to be a major 
influence on the Council’s TMS for 2020-21. The Bank of England maintained Bank 
Rates at 0.75% in December 2019 following a 7-2 vote by the Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC).  The Committee’s latest projections for activity and inflation were 
set out in the November Monetary Policy Report and were based on the assumption 
of an orderly transition to a deep free trade agreement between the United Kingdom 
and the European Union. Despite keeping rates on hold, MPC members did confirm 
that if Brexit uncertainty drags on or global growth fails to recover, they are prepared 
to cut interest rates as required.  Moreover, the downward revisions to some of the 
growth projections in the Monetary Policy Report suggest the Committee may now be 
less convinced of the need to increase rates even with a Brexit deal. 

Credit outlook: Credit conditions for larger UK banks have remained relatively benign 
over the past year.  The UK’s departure from the European Union was delayed three 
times in 2019 and while there remains some concern over a global economic 
slowdown, this has yet to manifest in any credit issues for banks.  Meanwhile, the post 
financial crises banking reform is now largely complete, with the new ringfenced banks 
embedded in the market. 
 
Looking forward, the potential for a “no-deal” Brexit and/or a global recession remain 
the major risks facing banks and building societies in 2020-21 and a cautious approach 
to bank deposits remains advisable. 
 
Interest rate forecast: The Council’s treasury management advisor Arlingclose is 
forecasting that the Bank Rate will remain at 0.75% until the end of 2022.  The risks 
to this forecast are deemed to be significantly weighted to the downside, particularly 
given the result of the general election, the need for greater clarity on Brexit and the 
continuing global economic slowdown.  The Bank of England, having previously 
indicated interest rates may need to rise if a Brexit agreement was reached, stated in 

Page 109



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 4  
 

its November Monetary Policy Report and its Bank Rate decision to hold rates that the 
MPC now believe this is less likely even in the event of a deal. 
 
Gilt yields have risen but remain at low levels and only some very modest upward 
movement from current levels are expected based on Arlingclose’s interest rate 
projections.  The central case is for 10-year and 20-year gilt yields to rise to around 
1.00% and 1.40% respectively over the time horizon, with broadly balanced risks to 
both the upside and downside.  However, short-term volatility arising from both 
economic and political events over the period is a near certainty. 
  
3.0     EXTERNAL DEBT AND INVESTMENT POSITION 
 
On 31 December 2019, the Council held £96.87 million of borrowing and £38.95 million 
of investments. The external debt and investment position is shown in table 1 below 
and more detail is provided in sections 4.0 Borrowing Strategy and 5.0 Investment 
Strategy.  
 

     Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position as at 31 December 2019 
 

 
* (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 14.25 years remaining term 
** Loan from the Welsh Government Central Capital Retained Fund for regeneration works within the Llynfi Valley which has not yet commenced 
***the funds provide instant access  
 

Table 2 below shows forecast changes borrowing and investments and has been 
produced using estimates of capital spend and forecasts on useable reserves for the 
current financial year and the next three years. The Capital Plans highlight that the 
Loans CFR, which is the Council’s need to borrow to fund capital expenditure, is 
increasing year on year due to additional prudential borrowing. 
 
 

Principal as at 
31 March 19

Average 
Rate

£m %
External Long Term Borrowing
Public Works Loan Board (77.62) 4.70
Lender's Option Borrower's Option (19.25) 4.65
Total External Long Term Borrowing (96.87) 4.69
Other Long Term Liabilities
Private Finance Initiative* (16.83)
Llynfi Loan** (2.25)
Other Long Term Liabilities (1.22)
Total Other Long Term Liabilities (20.30)
Total Gross Debt (117.17)
Treasury Investments
Banks 4.90 0.91
Building Societies 2.00 0.78
Local Authorities 22.50 0.91
Money Market Funds*** 9.55 0.74
Total Treasury Investments 38.95 0.86
Net Debt (78.22)

Page 110



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 5  
 

Table 2: Balance sheet summary and forecast 
 

 
*The accounting practice followed by the Council requires financial instruments in the accounts (debt and investments) to be 
  measured in a method compliant with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) so these figures will differ from  
  other figures in the TMS which are based on the actual amounts borrowed and invested  
 

Where a Council finances capital expenditure by borrowing it must put aside revenue 
resources to repay that debt in later years, known as ‘Minimum Revenue Provision’ or 
MRP. The Local Authority (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (Wales) 
Regulations 2008  requires the Council to produce and approve an Annual Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement before the start of the financial year that details 
the methodology for the charge as detailed in the Council’s Capital Strategy. The 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying 
resources available for investment.  The Council’s current strategy is to maintain 
borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal 
borrowing. This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk 
is relatively high. The Council is forecasting an increased CFR due to the level of 
prudential borrowing in the capital programme and the impact of the new MRP policy 
approved by Council in September 2018.  Changes in the accounting treatment for 
leases under International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 - will also have an 
impact and, once this impact is known, an updated TMS will be presented to Council 
for approval.  As the implementation of the new Standard is for 2020-21, further work 
is needed before the changes are applied.  This requires the Council to ‘bring on’ to 
the balance sheet a ‘Right of Use Asset’ and an equivalent liability, for any assets it 
leases or is presumed to lease though service contract arrangements  
 
 

Liability benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an 
alternative strategy, a liability benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk 
level of borrowing. This forecasts the minimum amount of debt the Council could hold 
if its internal resources are used in lieu of external borrowing.  This assumes the same 
forecasts as table 2 above, but that cash and investment balances are kept to a 
minimum level of £10 million at each year-end to maintain sufficient liquidity but 
minimise credit risk. CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
recommends that the Council’s total debt should be lower than its highest forecast 
CFR over the next three years. Table 3 below shows that the Council complied with 
this in 2018-19 and expects to comply with this recommendation during 2019-20, 
2020-21 and the following two years.  More detail is provided in the Capital Strategy. 
 

 

31 March 19 
Actual

31 March 20 
Estimate

31 March 21 
Estimate

31 March 22 
Estimate

31 March 23 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Capital Financing Requirement 170.88 172.08 172.20 178.25 178.50
Less: Other Debt Liabilities (16.31) (15.57) (14.77) (13.90) (12.97)
Loans Capital Financing Requirement 154.57 156.52 157.44 164.35 165.53
Less: External Borrowing (96.87) (96.87) (103.09) (105.39) (105.39)
Internal Borrowing 57.70 59.65 54.35 58.96 60.14
Less: Usable Reserves (76.70) (70.54) (48.13) (38.37) (36.69)
Less: Working Capital (2.00) - - - -
Investments 21.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00
New Borrowing - cumulative 0.00 0.00 16.22 30.59 33.45

Page 111



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 6  
 

Table 3: Liability benchmark  
 

 
 
4.0 BORROWING STRATEGY 
 
The Council currently holds £96.87 million of loans as part of its strategy for funding 
previous years’ capital programmes. The balance sheet forecast in table 2 above 
shows that the Council will have to borrow over the next three years as detailed in 
table 4 below: 
 
 Table 4: New Borrowing 
 

 
 
The Section 151 Officer will monitor and update the liability benchmark assumptions 
on an on-going basis and report any significant changes within the treasury 
management monitoring reports to Cabinet, Audit Committee and Council as 
appropriate. This could be as a result of changes in the level of useable reserves at 
year end, slippage within the Capital Programme or changes within the working capital 
assumptions. 
 
The Council’s primary objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those 
costs over the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans 
should the Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective. 
 
Therefore the major objectives to be followed in 2020-21 are: 
 
 to minimise the revenue costs of debt 
 to manage the Council’s debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future year with a 

high level of repayments that could cause problems in re-borrowing  
 to effect funding in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate with future 

risk 
 to monitor and review the level of variable interest rate loans in order to take greater 

advantage of interest rate movement 
 to reschedule debt if appropriate, in order to take advantage of potential savings as 

interest rates change 

31 March 19 
Actual

31 March 20 
Estimate

31 March 21 
Estimate

31 March 22 
Estimate

31 March 23 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Loans Capital Financing Requirement 154.57 156.52 157.44 164.35 165.53

Less: Usable Reserves (76.70) (70.54) (48.13) (38.37) (36.69)
Less: Working Capital (2.00) - - - -
Plus: Minimum Investments 21.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00
Liability Benchmark 96.87 95.98 119.31 135.97 138.84

31 March 19 
Actual

31 March 20 
Estimate

31 March 21 
Estimate

31 March 22 
Estimate

31 March 23 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

New Borrowing 0.00 0.00 16.22 14.37 2.86

Page 112



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 7  
 

 to optimise the use of all capital resources including borrowing, both supported and 
unsupported, usable capital receipts, revenue contributions to capital and grants 
and contributions 

 
Given the significant cuts to public expenditure in recent years and in particular to local 
government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key 
issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt 
portfolio. The uncertainty over future interest rates increases the risks associated with 
treasury activity.  As a result the Council will take a cautious approach to its treasury 
strategy. With short term interest rates currently much lower than long term rates, it is 
likely to be more cost effective in the short term to either use internal resources or 
borrow short term instead.  
 
The Section 151 Officer will take the most appropriate form of borrowing depending 
on the prevailing interest rates at the time. However, with long term rates forecast to 
rise modestly in future years, any such short term savings will need to be balanced 
against the potential longer term costs. The Council’s treasury management advisers 
will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. The last time 
the Council took long term borrowing was £5 million from the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB) in March 2012. As detailed above, it is anticipated that there will be a 
requirement for new long term borrowing in 2020-21, 2021-22 and 2022-23. It is 
anticipated that this would be from PWLB and for estimate purposes it has been 
assumed that this will be over 30 years.  
 
Alternatively, the Council may arrange forward starting loans during 2020-21 where 
the interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This would 
enable certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry in the 
intervening period. In addition, the Council may borrow short term (normally for up to 
one month) to cover unexpected cash flow shortages.  
 
Sources of borrowing: The approved sources of long term and short term borrowing 
are: 

• PWLB and any successor body 
• any institution approved for investments (see Investment Strategy below) 
• any other bank or building society authorised  to operate in the UK 
• any other UK public sector body 
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except the Council’s Pension Fund) 
• capital market bond investors 
• special purpose companies created to enable local authority bond issues 
 
Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by the 
following methods that are not borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities: 
 

 leasing 
 hire purchase 
 Private Finance Initiative 
 sale and leaseback 

 

Page 113



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 8  
 

The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the 
PWLB, but the government increased PWLB rates by 1% in October 2019 making it 
now a more expensive option.  The Council will look to borrow any long-term loans 
from other sources such as Welsh Government and local authority loans and bank 
loans, which may be available at more favourable rates. Alternatively the Council may 
arrange forward starting loans, where the interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash 
is received in later years.  This would enable certainty of cost to be achieved without 
suffering a cost of carry in the intervening period. 
 
LOBOs: The £19.25 million shown in table 1 above, relates to Lender’s Option 
Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054, however these 
may be re-scheduled in advance of this maturity date.  The LOBO rate and term may 
vary in the future depending upon the prevailing market rates, the lender exercising 
their option to increase rates at one of the bi-annual trigger points and therefore the 
Council being given the option to accept the increase or to repay the loan without 
incurring a penalty. There are two trigger points in 2020-21 and although the Council 
understands that the lender is unlikely to exercise this option in the current low interest 
rate environment, an element of refinancing risk remains and the Council would take 
the option to repay these loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so in the future.  
 
Short term and variable rate loans: These loans expose the Council to the risk of 
short term interest rate rises should interest rates change. 
 
Debt rescheduling:  The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and 
either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current 
interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption 
terms.  The Council may take advantage of this and replace some higher rate loans 
with new loans at lower interest rates, or repay loans without replacement, where this 
is expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk.  
 
Maturity structure of borrowing indicator: This indicator is set for the forthcoming 
financial year to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk with respect to the 
maturity of the Council’s external borrowing and has been set to allow for the possible 
restructuring of long term debt where this is expected to lead to an overall saving or 
reduction in risk. It is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing. The upper and lower limits on the maturity 
structure of borrowing will be: 
 
Table 5: Treasury Management Indicator Maturity Structure of Borrowing 2020-21 
 

 
 
 

Refinancing rate risk indicator  
Maturity structure of  borrowing 2020-21 

Upper limit lower limit 

 Under 12 months  50% 0% 
 12 months and within 24 months 25% 0% 
 24 months and within 5 years 25% 0% 
 5 years and within 10 years 40% 0% 
 10 years and within 20 years 50% 0% 
  20 years and above 60% 25% 

Page 114



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 9  
 

5.0 INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 
The preparation each year of an Investment Strategy is central to the Welsh 
Government statutory guidance on Local Authority Investments. It encourages the 
formulation of policies for the prudent investment of the surplus funds that authorities 
hold on behalf of their communities. In addition, the need for the Strategy to be 
approved by full Council ensures that these policies are subject to the scrutiny of 
elected Members: this is particularly important as since 2004 central government no 
longer closely regulates local government investment. 
 
The Council holds surplus funds representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves and as shown in table 1 above in section 3, 
the balance at 31 December 2019 was £38.95 million. Investments are estimated to 
drop to between £10 and £20 million by 31 March 2020. As in previous years this is 
due partly to increased expenditure expected to be incurred in respect of the capital 
programme and the reduction in income collected from Council Tax in February and 
March 2020 as the majority of residents continue to pay Council Tax over 10 months 
rather than 12. Based on its cash flow forecasts, the Council anticipates its investment 
balances in 2020-21 to range between £10 million to £55 million with an average 
investment rate of between 0.75% to 1.00% depending on the Bank Rate and 
investment types, which will be reviewed at half year and reported to Council. The 
actual balance varies because of the cash flow during the year as to when income is 
received (such as specific grant income, housing benefits subsidy and Revenue 
Support Grant) and payments are made (such as salaries and wages, major capital 
expenditure and loan repayments). 

The Council may also hold investment properties with a view to securing a financial 
return, such as rental income.  The Council will consider such investment opportunities 
should they arise, in line with CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services 
Code of Practice.  As at 31 December 2019, the Council owned £4.635 million of 
investment properties with an expected return of £0.478 million in 2020/21, 
representing a rate of return of 10.3%. 

Both the CIPFA Code and the Welsh Government Guidance require the Council to 
invest its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments while seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s main 
objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and 
return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income. Where balances are expected to be invested for 
more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal to or 
higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of 
the sum invested.  
The major objectives are: 

 to maintain capital security 
 to maintain portfolio liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is 

needed  
 to achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels of 

security and liquidity 
 

Page 115



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 10  
 

Negative interest rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2020-21, there is a small 
chance that the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is 
likely to feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment 
options. This situation already exists in some other European countries. In this event, 
security will be measured as receiving the contractually agreed amount at maturity, 
even though this may be less than the amount originally invested. 
 
Strategy: The Council’s investments have historically been placed in mainly short term 
bank and building society unsecured deposits and local and central government. 
However, investments may be made with any public or private sector organisations 
that meet the credit criteria detailed below. Given the increasing risk and very low 
returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, the Council will consider further 
diversifying into more secure and/or higher yielding asset classes during 2020-21 as 
appropriate in consultation with the Council’s treasury management advisers. The 
majority of the Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in Money Market Funds 
(MMF) and with other local authorities but the Council will continue to look at 
investment options in line with the limits detailed below. 

 
With short term interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, due 
consideration will also be given to using surplus funds to make early repayments of 
long term borrowing if appropriate options become available as referred to in section 
4.0  Borrowing Strategy.  
 
Business Models:  Under the new IFRS 9, the accounting for certain investments 
depends on the Council’s “business model” for managing them.  The Council aims to 
achieve value from its internally managed treasury investments by a business model 
of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore these investments will continue 
to be accounted for at amortised cost.  
 
Approved counterparties: The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the 
counterparty types shown in table 6 below, subject to the cash limits and the time limits 
shown. These cash/time limits are per counterparty and relate to principal only 
and exclude any accrued interest.  
 
Table 6: Approved investment counterparties and limits 
 
These limits must be read in conjunction with the notes immediately below the 
table.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank must 
not exceed the cash limit for secured investments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 11  
 

Credit Rating Banks 
(including 
building 

societies) 
Unsecured 

Banks 
(including 
building 

societies) 
Secured 

Government Corporates  
 

Registered 
Providers         

UK Central 
Government 

n/a n/a £ Unlimited  n/a n/a 
50 Years 

UK Local 
Authorities  

n/a n/a £12,000,000 n/a n/a 
10 Years 

AAA 
 

£3,000,000     
   

£6,000,000   £6,000,000            £3,000,000  £5,000,000  

5 Years 
 

20 Years 50 Years 20 Years 20 Years 

AA+ 
 

£3,000,000  
      

£6,000,000   £6,000,000            £3,000,000  £5,000,000  

5 Years 10 Years 25 Years 10 Years 10 Years 
AA 
 

£3,000,000  
       

£6,000,000    £6,000,000             £3,000,000  £5,000,000  

4 Years 5 Years 15 Years 5 Years 10 Years 
AA- 
 

£3,000,000   
      

£6,000,000    £6,000,000           £3,000,000  £5,000,000  

3 Years 4 Years 10 Years 4 Years  10 Years 
A+ 
 

£3,000,000   
     

£6,000,000    £3,000,000           £3,000,000  £5,000,000  

2 Years 3 Years 5 Years 3 Years 5 Years 
A 
 

£3,000,000     
     

£6,000,000   £3,000,000           £3,000,000  £5,000,000  

13 Months 2 Years 5 Years 2 Years 5 Years 
A- 
 

£3,000,000    
      

£6,000,000    £3,000,000           £3,000,000  £5,000,000  

6 Months 13 Months 5 Years 13 Months 5 Years 
None 
 

£1,000,000  
        

n/a see above central 
government and 
local authority 
limit 
 

n/a £5,000,000  

6 Months  5 Years 
Pooled Funds  £6,000,000 per fund  

 
Credit rating: Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies to ensure that this lies within 
our agreed minimum credit rating. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the 
specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit 
rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit 
ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into 
account. Schedule A shows the equivalence table for credit ratings for three of the 
main rating agencies Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and explains the different 
investment grades.   

Page 117



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 12  
 

Banks unsecured:  Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured 
bonds with banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  
These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator 
determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.  Where additional amounts received 
into our accounts with our own bankers are received too late in the day to make an 
investment the same day, the limit in table 6 will not apply as this does not count as 
an investment. 
 
Banks secured: Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other 
collateralised arrangements with banks and building societies.  These investments are 
secured on the bank’s assets, which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of 
insolvency, and means that they are exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment 
specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a 
credit rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating 
will be used to determine cash and time limits.   
 
Government: Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, 
regional and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments 
are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although 
they are not zero risk.  Investments with the UK Central Government may be made in 
unlimited amounts for up to 50 years. 
 
Corporates: Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than 
banks and registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are 
exposed to the risk of the company going insolvent. Loans to unrated companies will 
only be made following an external credit assessment and consultation with the 
Council’s treasury management advisers. 
 
Registered providers: Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by, or secured on the 
assets of registered providers of social housing and registered social landlords, 
formerly known as housing associations. These bodies are tightly regulated by the 
Welsh Government and as providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of 
receiving government support if needed. 
 
Pooled funds: Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles consisting of any of 
the above investment types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the 
advantage of providing wide diversification of investment risks, coupled with the 
services of a professional fund manager in return for a fee.  Short-term Money Market 
Funds that offer same-day liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an 
alternative to instant access bank accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes 
with market prices and/or have a notice period can be used for longer investment 
periods.  

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. As 
these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a 
notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 
investment objectives will be monitored regularly. 

Page 118



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 13  
 

Operational bank accounts: The Council may incur operational exposures, for 
example though current accounts, collection accounts and merchant acquiring 
services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater 
than £25 billion. These are not classed as investments, but are still subject to the risk 
of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept to a minimum. The Bank of 
England has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 
billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the 
Council maintaining operational continuity.  

Risk assessment and credit ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by 
the Council’s treasury advisers, who will notify the Council of changes as they occur.  
 
Long-term ratings are expressed on a scale from AAA (the highest quality) through to 
D (indicating default).  Ratings of BBB- and above are described as investment grade, 
while ratings of BB+ and below are described as speculative grade.  The Council’s 
credit rating criteria are set to ensure that it is very unlikely the Council will hold 
speculative grade investments, despite the possibility of repeated downgrades. 
 
Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved 
investment criteria then: 
 
• no new investments will be made 
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be 
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty 
 

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that 
it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be 
withdrawn will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is 
announced.  This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term 
direction of travel rather than an imminent change of rating. 

Other information on the security of investments: The Council understands that 
credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment default.  Full regard 
will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial 
statements, information on potential government support, reports in the quality 
financial press and analysis and advice from the Council’s treasury management 
adviser. No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive 
doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria. 

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations as happened in 2008 and 2011, it is not generally reflected in credit 
ratings, but can be seen in other market measures.  In these circumstances, the 
Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and 
reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of 
security. The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market 
conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high 
credit quality are available to invest the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will 
be deposited with the UK Government via the Debt Management Office  or invested 

Page 119



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 14  
 

in government treasury bills for example, or with other local authorities. This will cause 
a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will protect the principal sum 
invested. 

Specified investments: The Welsh Government Statutory Guidance on Local 
Government Investments defines specified investments as those: 
 denominated in pound sterling 
 due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement 
 not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and 
 invested with one of: 

o the UK Government 
o a UK local authority 
o a town or community council or      
o body or  investment scheme of “high credit quality”                                 

    
The Council defines “high credit quality” organisations and securities as those 
having a credit rating of A- or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country 
with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher. For money market funds and other pooled 
funds “high credit quality” is defined as those having a credit rating of A- or higher. 

Non-specified investments: Any investment that does not fall into the criteria 
detailed above under the Specified investments definition. The Council does not intend 
to make any investments denominated in foreign currencies nor any defined as capital 
expenditure. Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to: 
 long-term investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from 

the date of arrangement 
 investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition on high credit 

quality 
 

The Welsh Government Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments  
requires the Council’s Investment Strategy to set an overall limit for non-specified 
investments which is currently set at £20 million. Table 7 below shows the non-
specified categories and the relevant limits and although the total of the individual 
limits exceed £20 million, at any one point in time a maximum of £20 million could 
be invested in these non-specified investments.  
 
Table 7: Non-specified investment limits 
 

 
 

 Category Cash limit 

Total long-term investments                 £15m 

Total investments  without credit ratings  or rated below  the 
Council’s definition of “high credit quality” (A-) 
(except the UK Government and UK local authorities) 

                £10m  

Total investments (except pooled funds)with institutions 
domiciled in foreign countries with a sovereign rating below AA+ 

                  £3m 

Total Non-Specified Investments Outstanding                   £20m 

Page 120



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 15  
 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: All investments longer than 
365 days (non-specified) will be made with a cautious approach to cash flow 
requirements and advice from the Council’s treasury management advisers will be 
sought as necessary.  

Where the Council invests, or plans to invest, for periods longer than a year, an upper 
limit is set for each forward financial year period for the maturing of such investments. 
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring 
losses by seeking early repayment of long term investments. The limits on the long 
term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be as shown 
in table 8 below. 
 
Table 8: Treasury Management Indicator Principal sums invested for periods 
longer than a year 
 
Price risk indicator 2020-21 

£m 
2021-22 

£m 
2022-23 

£m 
Limit  on principal invested beyond 
financial year end 

 
15 

 
10 

 
8 

 
Investment Limits: In addition to the above limits, the combined values of specified and 
non-specified investments with any one organisation are subject to the approved 
investment limits detailed in table 9 below.  

Table 9: Investments limits  
 

 Category Cash limit 
Any single organisation, except the UK Central and Local 
Government 

£6m 

UK Central Government unlimited 

UK Local Authorities (per Authority) £12m 

Any group of organisations under the same ownership £6m per group 

Any group of pooled funds under the same management  £6m per manager 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £10m per broker 

Foreign countries £6m per country 

Registered providers and registered social landlords £5m in total 

Unsecured investments with Building Societies £6m in total 

Money market funds (MMF) £30m in total 

 
A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single organisation 
for limit purposes. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do 
not count against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified 
over many countries. 

The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank must not exceed 
the cash limit for secured investments. 

Liquidity Management: The Council forecasts on a prudent basis the maximum 
period for which funds may be committed therefore minimising the risk of the Council 

Page 121



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 16  
 

being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. A limit 
of £15 million (table 8 above) has been set for 2020-21 for long term investments and 
this has been set with reference to the Medium Term Financial Strategy and cash flow 
forecast as shown in the principal sums invested for periods longer than a year 
indicator in table 7 above. This represents just under 30% of the maximum amount of 
investments that the Council anticipates to have at any one point in time in 2020-21. 
 
6.0 INTEREST RATE EXPOSURES BORROWING AND INVESTMENTS 

The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing financial 
instrument periods. For instance, a rise in variable and fixed interest rates would 
have the following effects: 

 borrowings at variable rates – the interest charged to revenue within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement will rise; 

 borrowings at fixed rates – the fixed rate protects the Council from increased 
interest charges as an equivalent loan would now cost more. The fair value 
of the borrowing (liability) will fall; 

 investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement will rise;  

 investments at fixed rates – the fixed rate prevents the Council from receiving 
higher investment income from the same principal invested. The fair value of 
the investment (asset) will fall. 

 
An indicator has been set in table 10 below to measure the net impact over one year 
on the revenue account of both a 1% rise and a 1% fall in all interest rates for borrowing 
net of treasury investments.  This is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans 
and investments will be replaced at rates 1% higher or lower than they would otherwise 
have been on their maturity dates and that the treasury investment and borrowing 
portfolios remain unchanged over the coming year.  Interest rates can move by more 
than 1% over the course of a year, although such instances are rare. 
 
Table 10: Treasury Management Indicator Interest Rate Exposures 
 

Interest rate risk indicator £'000 
One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates (264) 

One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 181 
 

The figure for the 1% fall in interest rates indicator is not the same figure as the 1% 
increase (but reversed) as the borrowing relates to variable LOBO loans where it is 
assumed that the lender would not exercise their option if there was a fall in interest 
rates.   All other borrowing does not have a rate reset in the next year and is with the 
PWLB at fixed rates. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 122



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 17  
 

     7.0  PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
 

Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function over 
the year. These are distinct historic indicators as opposed to the treasury management 
and prudential indicators which are predominantly forward looking.  
 
One debt performance indicator is where the average portfolio rate of interest is 
compared to an appropriate average available such as the average PWLB Debt for 
Welsh and UK local authorities. The rate of return on investments can be monitored 
against the average rate of return on investments against the Bank Rate and the 
average rate of return on investments as compared to the average rate of Arlingclose’s 
Welsh local authority clients at each relevant quarter/year-end. 
 
8.0  NON-TREASURY INVESTMENTS 
 
The Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily 
for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful 
investment management.  Such activities includes loans, investments in subsidiaries 
and investments in property.  Welsh Government Guidance defines a loan as a written 
or oral agreement where the council temporarily transfers cash to a third party, joint 
venture, subsidiary or associate who agrees a return according to the terms and 
conditions of receiving the loan, except where the third party is another local authority.  
The council can demonstrate that its financial exposure to loans is proportionate by 
setting the limit as set out in table 11 below. 
 
Table 11: Loan Limits 
 

 
 
A schedule of the Council’s existing non-treasury investments (currently limited to 
owned property) is set out in table 12 below: 
 
Table 12: Non-treasury investments 
 

 
 
The Council considers that the scale of its investment properties is proportionate to the 
resources of the Council, since such investment represents less than 1% of its total 
long term assets. 
 

Loan limit £'000
Limit on loans to third parties 1,000

Non-treasury investments
Fair Value

£'000
Bridgend Science Park - Units 1 & 2 3,200             
Waterton Cross Land 600                 
Brynmenyn Industrial Estate Plot 53 220                 
Village Farm Plots 32,119 & 120 415                 
Tyrewise Bridgend 200                 
Total 4,635             

Page 123



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 18  
 

In accordance with Welsh Government Investment Guidance, these will be classified 
as non-treasury investments. 
 
9.0  IFRS9 – LOCAL AUTHORITY OVERRIDE 
 
The Welsh Government legislated in the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 for a statutory override for fair 
value gains and losses on most pooled investment funds not to be taken to revenue 
until 2023-24.  The statutory override takes effect for the 2019/20 financial year.  This 
has the effect of allowing any unrealised capital gains or losses arising from qualifying 
investments to be held on the balance sheet until 31 March 2023: this will enable 
Councils to initiate an orderly withdrawal of funds if required.   

 
     10.0 OTHER ITEMS 
 

In line with the CIPFA Code and Welsh Government guidance the following also forms 
part of the Council’s TMS. 
 
Financial Derivatives: In the absence of any explicit legal power to do so, the Council 
will not use standalone financial derivatives such as swaps, forwards, futures and 
options. Derivatives embedded into loans and investments including pooled funds and 
forward starting transactions may be used and the risks they present will be managed 
in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy. 
 

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II (MIFID II): From January 2018, MIFID 
II changed the classification of local authority investors. It reclassified local and public 
authorities as retail investors. The Council has opted up to professional client status 
with its providers of financial services, including treasury management advisers, 
banks, building societies and brokers, allowing it access to a greater range of services 
but without the greater regulatory protection afforded to individuals and small 
companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury management activities, 
the Section 151 Officer believed this to be the most appropriate status.  
       
Investment training: The needs of the Council’s treasury management staff for 
training in investment management are assessed every six months as part of the staff 
appraisal process and also if the responsibilities of individual members of staff change. 
 
Training is received from the Council’s treasury management advisers, CIPFA and 
other bodies in the form of training courses and seminars. The Council also supports 
personal development so individuals enhance their own knowledge through reading 
CIPFA guidance, publications and research on the internet.  
 
Investment advisers: The Council appointed Arlingclose Limited as treasury 
management advisers following a tender exercise in August 2016. They were awarded 
a four year contract, to provide advice and information relating to its borrowing and 
investment activities and capital finance issues. The contract will be reviewed annually 
and either party may at any time terminate this agreement on 3 months prior written 
notice. The quality of this service is controlled by having regular meetings with the 
advisers and regularly reviewing the service provided.  As the contract is due to end in 

Page 124



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 19  
 

September 2020 a re-tendering exercise will be undertaken during the spring and early 
summer 2020. 
 
Investment of money borrowed in advance of need: CIPFA’s Prudential Code sets 
out that authorities should never borrow for the explicit purpose of making an 
investment return.  Therefore borrowing in advance of need purely to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed is against the principles, however, the Council 
could potentially borrow in advance of need where this is expected to provide the best 
long term value for money. Since amounts borrowed will be invested until spent, the 
Council is aware that it will be exposed to the risk of loss of the borrowed sums, and 
the risk that investment and borrowing interest rates may change in the intervening 
period.  These risks will be managed as part of the Council’s overall management of 
its treasury risks. 
 
As the Council has an integrated TMS, borrowing is not linked to the financing of 
specific items of expenditure. The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as 
at 1 January 2020 was in excess of the actual debt of the Council as shown in table 2 
above indicating there was no borrowing in advance of need. More detail is provided 
in the Prudential Indicators in the Council’s Capital Strategy. 
 
    

      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 20  
 

Schedule A 
 
 

         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 21  
 

GLOSSARY 
 

Annuity 

A method of repaying a loan where the cash payment remains 
constant over the life of the loan, but the proportion of interest 
reduces and the proportion of principal repayment increases over 
time.  Repayment mortgages and personal loans tend to be repaid 
by the annuity method. 

Asset 
Management 

The stewardship of capital assets, including decisions around on-
going maintenance and eventual disposal 

Authorised limit 
The maximum amount of debt that a local authority may legally 
hold, set annually in advance by the Council itself.  One of the 
Prudential Indicators. 

BACS 
Bankers’ automated payment system.  UK bulk payments system 
allowing transfers between bank accounts with two days’ notice, 
for a small charge. 

Bail-in 

A method of rescuing a failing financial institution by cancelling 
some of its deposits and bonds.  Investors may suffer a reduction 
in their investment, but may be given shares in the bank as part 
compensation.  

Bail-out 
A method of rescuing a failing financial institution by the injection 
of public money.  This protects investors at the expense of 
taxpayers. 

Bank Regulated firm that provides financial services to customers. 
Bank of 
England 

The central bank of the UK, based in London, sometimes just 
called ‘the bank’. 

Bank Rate 
The official interest rate set by the Monetary Policy Committee, and 
the rate of interest paid by the Bank of England on commercial 
bank deposits.  Colloquially termed the ‘base rate’. 

Bond 
A certificate of long-term debt issued by a company, government, 
or other institution, which is tradable on financial markets 

Borrowing 
Usually refers to the stock of outstanding loans owned and bonds 
issued. 

Broker 
Regulated firm that matches either borrowers and lenders (a 
money broker) or buyers and sellers of securities (a stockbroker) 
with each other in order to facilitate transactions 

Brokerage Fee charged by a broker, normally paid by the borrower 
Building 
Society 

A mutual organisation that performs similar functions to a retail 
bank but is owned by its customers 

Capital 

(1) Long-term, as in capital expenditure and capital receipts 
(2) Principal, as in capital gain and capital value 
(3) Investments in financial institutions that will absorb losses 
before senior unsecured creditors 

Page 127



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 22  
 

Capital 
Expenditure 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of fixed 
asset that are expected to provide value for longer than one year, 
such as property and equipment, plus expenditure defined as 
capital in legislation such as the purchase of certain investments 

Capital 
Finance 

Arranging and managing the cash required to finance capital 
expenditure, and the associated accounting. 

Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR) 

A local authority’s underlying need to hold debt for capital 
purposes, representing the cumulative capital expenditure that has 
been incurred but not yet financed.  The CFR increases with capital 
expenditure and decreases with capital finance and MRP. 

Capital Receipt 

Cash obtained from the sale of an item whose purchase would be 
capital expenditure.  The law only allows local authorities to spend 
capital receipts on certain items, such as new capital expenditure.  
They are therefore held in a capital receipts reserve until spent. 

Capital 
strategy 

An annual policy document required by the Prudential Code that 
sets out a local authorities’ high-level plans for capital expenditure, 
debt and investments and its Prudential Indicators for the 
forthcoming financial year. 

CIFPA 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – the 
professional body for accountants working in the public sector.  
CIPFA also sets various standards for local government – eg 
Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code 

Cost of Carry 
When a loan is borrowed in advance of need, the difference 
between the interest payable on the loan and the income earned 
from investing the cash in the interim 

Counterparty The other party to a loan, investment or other contract 
Counterparty 
limit 

The maximum amount an investor is willing to lend to a 
counterparty, in order to manage credit risk. 

Credit rating 

Formal opinion by a credit rating agency of a counterparty’s future 
ability to meet its financial obligations.  As it is only an opinion, 
there is no guarantee that a highly rated organisation will not 
default. 

Credit rating 
agency 

An organisation that publishes credit ratings.  The three largest 
agencies are Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s but there are 
many smaller ones. 

Credit risk The risk that a counterparty will default on its financial obligations. 

Debt 

(1) A contract where one party owes money to another party, such 
as a loan, deposit, or bond. 
(2) In the Prudential Code, the total outstanding borrowing plus 
other long-term liabilities 

Page 128



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 23  
 

Default 
Failure to meet an obligation under a debt contract, including the 
repayment of cash, usually as a result of being in financial difficulty 

Deposit 
A regulated placing of cash with a financial institution.  Deposits 
are not tradable on financial markets. 

DMO 
Debt Management Office – an executive agency of HM Treasury 
that deals with central government’s debt and investments. 

Fair value IFRS term for the price that would be obtained by selling an 
investment, or paid to transfer debt, in a market transaction.  

FCA  Financial Conduct Authority – UK agency responsible for 
regulating financial markets and the conduct of financial 
institutions, brokers, custodians, fund managers and treasury 
management advisors.  

Financial 
institution  

A bank, building society or credit union. Sometimes the term also 
includes insurance companies.  

Financial 
instrument  

IFRS term for investments, borrowing and other cash payable 
and receivable.  

Financing 
costs  

In the Prudential Code, interest payable on debt less investment 
income plus premiums less discounts plus MRP.  

Forward deal  An arrangement where a loan or deposit is arranged in advance 
of the cash being transferred, with the advance period being 
longer than the standard period (if any) for such a transaction.  

GDP  Gross domestic product – the value of the national aggregate 
production of goods and services in the economy. Increasing 
GDP is known as economic growth.  

General Fund  A local authority reserve that holds the accumulated surplus or 
deficit on revenue income and expenditure, except on council 
housing.  

Gilt  Bond issued by the UK Government, taking its name from the 
gilt-edged paper they were originally printed on.  

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards, the set of accounting 
rules in use by UK local authorities since 2010.  

Impairment  A reduction in the value of an investment caused by the 
counterparty being in financial difficulty.  

Inflation risk  The risk that unexpected changes in inflation rates cause an 
unplanned loss, for example by costs rising faster than income.  

Interest  Compensation for the use of cash paid by borrowers to lenders 
on debt instruments.  

Interest rate 
risk  

The risk that unexpected changes in interest rates cause an 
unplanned loss, for example by increased payments on 
borrowing or lower income on investments.  

Page 129



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 24  
 

Internal 
borrowing  

A local government term for when actual “external” debt is below 
the capital financing requirement, indicating that difference has 
been borrowed from internal resources instead; in reality this is 
not a form of borrowing.  

Investment 
property  

Land and buildings that are held purely for rental income and/or 
capital growth. Investment properties are not owner-occupied and 
provide no direct service benefit.  

Investment 
strategy  

A document required by investment guidance that sets out a local 
authority’s investment plans and parameters for the coming year. 
Sometimes forms part of the authority’s treasury management 
strategy.  

Lease  A contract where one party permits another to make use of an 
asset in return for a series of payments. It is economically similar 
to buying the asset and borrowing a loan, and therefore leases 
are often counted as a type of debt.  

Lessee  Party to a lease contract that uses an asset owned by the lessor.  

Lessor  Party to a lease contract that own an asset but permits another 
(the lessee) to use it.  

Liability 
benchmark  

Term in CIPFA’s Risk Management Toolkit which refers to the 
minimum amount of borrowing required to keep investments at a 
minimum liquidity level. Used to compare against the actual and 
forecast level of borrowing.  

LIBOR  London interbank offer rate - the benchmark interest rate at which 
banks offer to lend cash to other banks. Published every London 
working day at 11am for various currencies and terms. Due to be 
phased out by 2022.  

Liquidity risk  The risk that cash will not be available to meet financial 
obligations, for example when investments cannot be recalled 
and new loans cannot be borrowed.  

Loan  Contract where the lender provides a sum of money (the 
principal) to a borrower, who agrees to repay it in the future 
together with interest. Loans are not normally tradable on 
financial markets. There are specific definitions in government 
investment guidance.  

Loans CFR  The capital financing requirement less the amount met by other 
long-term liabilities; i.e. the amount to be met by borrowing.  

LOBO  Lender’s option borrower’s option – a long-term loan where the 
lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate 
on pre-determined dates. The borrower then has the option to 
either accept the new rate or repay the loan without penalty. 
LOBOs increase the borrower’s interest rate risk and the loan 
should therefore attract a lower rate of interest initially.  

Long-term  Usually means longer than one year.  

Page 130



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 25  
 

Market risk  The risk that movements in market variables will have an 
unexpected impact. Usually split into interest rate risk, price risk 
and foreign exchange risk.  

Maturity  (1) The date when an investment or borrowing is scheduled to be 
repaid.  
(2) A type of loan where the principal is only repaid on the 
maturity date.  

MiFID II  The second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive - a 
legislative framework instituted by the European Union to 
regulate financial markets in the bloc and improve protections for 
investors.  

Monetary 
policy  

Measures taken by central banks to boost or slow the economy, 
usually via changes in interest rates. Monetary easing refers to 
cuts in interest rates, making it cheaper for households and 
businesses to borrow and hence spend more, boosting the 
economy, while monetary tightening refers to the opposite. See 
also fiscal policy and quantitative easing.  

Monetary 
Policy 
Committee 
(MPC)  

Committee of the Bank of England responsible for implementing 
monetary policy in the UK by changing Bank Rate and 
quantitative easing with the aim of keeping CPI inflation at around 
2%.  

Money market 
fund (MMF)  

A collective investment scheme which invests in a range of short-
term assets providing high credit quality and high liquidity. 
Usually refers to CNAV and LVNAV funds with a WAM under 60 
days which offer instant access, but the European Union 
definition extends to include cash plus funds.  

Money markets  The markets for short-term finance, including deposits and T-bills. 
See also capital markets.  

MRP  Minimum revenue provision - an annual amount that local 
authorities are required to set aside and charge to revenue for 
the repayment of debt associated with capital expenditure. Local 
authorities are required by law to have regard to government 
guidance on MRP.  

Net borrowing  Borrowing minus treasury investments.  
Net revenue 
stream  

In the Prudential Code, income from general government grants, 
Council Tax and rates.  

Non-specified 
investments  

Government term for investments not meeting the definition of a 
specified investment or a loan upon which limits must be set. 
Since 2018, the term does not apply to treasury investments in 
England. Not applicable in Scotland.  

Other long-
term liabilities  

Prudential Code term for credit arrangements.  

Page 131



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 26  
 

Operational 
boundary  

A prudential indicator showing the most likely, prudent, estimated 
level of external debt, but not the worst-case scenario. Regular 
breaches of the operational boundary should prompt 
management action.  

Operational 
risk  

The risk that fraud, error or system failure leads to an unexpected 
loss.  

Pension Fund  Ringfenced account for the income, expenditure and investments 
of the local government pension scheme. Pension fund 
investments are not considered to be part of treasury 
management.  

Private 
Finance 
Initiative (PFI)  

A government scheme where a private company designs, builds, 
finances and operates assets on behalf of the public sector, in 
exchange for a series of payments, typically over 30 years. 
Counts as a credit arrangement and debt.  

Property fund  A collective investment scheme that mainly invests in property. 
Due to the costs of buying and selling property, including stamp 
duty land tax, there is usually a significant fee charged on initial 
investment, or a significant difference between the bid and offer 
price.  

Prudential 
borrowing  

Another term for unsupported borrowing.  

Prudential 
Code  

Developed by CIPFA and introduced in April 2004 as a 
professional code of practice to support local authority capital 
investment planning within a clear, affordable, prudent and 
sustainable framework and in accordance with good professional 
practice. Local authorities are required by law to have regard to 
the Prudential Code.  

Prudential 
indicators  

Indicators required by the Prudential Code and determined by the 
local authority to define its capital expenditure and asset 
management framework. They are designed to support and 
record local decision making in a manner that is publicly 
accountable.  

PWLB  Public Works Loans Board - a statutory body operating within the 
DMO that lends money from the National Loans Fund to local 
authorities and other prescribed bodies and collects the 
repayments.  

Refinancing 
risk  

The risk that maturing loans cannot, be refinanced, or only at 
higher than expected interest rates leading to an unplanned loss. 
Managed by maintaining a smooth maturity profile.  

Supported 
borrowing  

Borrowing for which the repayment costs are supported by 
government grant.  

T-bill  Treasury bill - a bill issued by a government.  
TMS  (1) Treasury management strategy.  

(2) Treasury management system.  
Treasury bill  See T-bill.  

Page 132



 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Page | 27  
 

Treasury 
investments  

Investments made for treasury management purposes, as 
opposed to commercial investments and service investments.  

Treasury 
management  

The management of an organisation’s cash flows, investment 
and borrowing, with a particular focus on the identification, control 
and management of risk. Specifically excludes the management 
of pension fund investments.  

Treasury 
management 
advisor  

Regulated firm providing advice on treasury management, capital 
finance and related issues.  

Treasury 
Management 
Code (TM 
Code)  

CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Services and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes, to which local 
authorities are required by law to have regard.  

Treasury 
management 
indicators  

Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code to assist 
in the management of credit risk, interest rate risk, refinancing 
risk and price risk.  

Treasury 
management 
policy 
statement  

Document required by the Treasury Management Code setting 
out a local authority’s definition of and objectives for treasury 
management.  

Treasury 
management 
practices 
(TMPs)  

Document required by the Treasury Management Code setting 
out a local authority’s detailed processes and procedures for 
treasury management.  

Treasury 
management 
strategy  

Annual report required by the Treasury Management Code 
covering the local authority’s treasury management plans for the 
forthcoming year.  

Unsupported 
borrowing  

Borrowing where the cost is self-financed by the local authority. 
Sometimes called prudential borrowing since it was not permitted 
until the introduction of the Prudential Code in 2004. See also 
supported borrowing.  

Working capital  The cash surplus or deficit arising from the timing differences 
between income/expenditure in accounting terms and 
receipts/payments in cash terms.  

 
 

 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE

DIGITAL STRATEGY 2020 - 2024

1. Purpose of report

1.1 To seek Cabinet approval to adopt and implement the Digital Strategy 2020-2024, 
which has taken into consideration public consultation responses.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county 
borough a great place to do business, for people to work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions 
for all people in the county borough.

Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – taking steps 
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council 
and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and 
enabling them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives.

Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the development the creation of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In 2017, the Welsh Government commissioned the Society of Information Technology 
Managers (SocITM) Advisory Ltd to establish the digital maturity of all local 
authorities. It identified that while digital maturity was low, appetite to improve was 
high and a vital prerequisite to meet the Wales National Digital Agenda. 

3.2 The fast pace of change, through the availability of emerging technology, requires 
robust planning, understanding and leadership. Local Authorities have a duty to 
provide services in a way that is compatible with the changing demographics and 
increasing demands faced by its citizens.

3.3 The key aim for the Council is to modernise the services that it provides to its citizens.  
In September 2016 a Digital Transformation Programme of works commenced to 
primarily introduce a single ‘digital platform’ (My Account) and an accessible website. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 8



The Strategy builds on these improvements by further developing how citizens, 
businesses and visitors engage and transact with the Council.

3.4 The Strategy supports the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. This 
Act is about improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales. The five ways of working towards the sustainable development principles 
have been referenced throughout the Strategy reflecting the ambition to meet 
obligations to improve the long-term social, cultural, environmental and economic 
wellbeing both now and for future generations. 

3.5 As part of the 2019 Budget Consultation, feedback showed that 87% of Bridgend 
citizens want more council services online using better and more modern online 
functionality to support channel shift as well as self-serve facilities.  Also according to 
the Office for National Statistics (ONS), 85% of Bridgend citizens have access to the 
internet and prefer the convenience of online transactions.

3.6 As part of the Budget Consultation 2019 and in a separate Digital Survey undertaken 
between June and August 2019, the public were asked for feedback on current digital 
capabilities provided to them by the Council as well as suggestions to further enhance 
our services. The results have been incorporated into the assessment and delivery 
model. The results are attached as Appendix A.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 An ambitious four year Digital Strategy has been drafted which encapsulates 
Bridgend’s well-being objectives, the national digital landscape and includes a matrix 
of measurements utilised by SocITM to assess Bridgend’s digital maturity and growth. 
The Strategy has been divided into 3 key areas: Digital Citizen, Digital Council and 
Digital Place.

4.2 Each section has an allocated action plan, with dedicated owners to ensure the 
ambitions are achieved by 2024.  The Strategy is underpinned by an intricate 
programme of works supporting each ambition.

4.3 Key officers across the organisation were involved in the development of the Digital 
Strategy.  One of the aims within the Digital Strategy is to streamline routine and 
repetitive processes, delivering end-to-end connections to back office systems with 
the ambition of delivering efficiencies through digital automation. Robust business 
process reviews will be undertaken and solutions introduced to enhance service 
delivery.

4.4 The Council’s Digital Principles have been developed to underpin the foundations of 
the Five Ways of Working within the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, 
aligning a “Digital First” approach and encapsulating the good practice principles 
identified by SocITM.  

Digital services will therefore:

 Be designed around the people who are going to use them, across the whole 
sphere of service delivery

Page 136



 Be integrated where possible to deliver seamless connectivity and be simple and 
intuitive so that the user experience is positive, right first time and able to move 
easily between functions

 Be designed to safely and usefully share information, to better support the most 
vulnerable in communities, and to target the Council’s limited resources more 
effectively based on demand

 Demonstrate digital leadership, creating the conditions for genuine channel shift 

 Rise above traditional ways of working and challenge the status quo to ensure the 
Council is working smarter 

5.0 Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 None.

6.0 Equality Impact Assessment 

6.1 Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) will be carried out when each digital workstream 
is initiated.

7.0 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Council should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people. The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report: 

Involvement Consultation results have underpinned the residents’ need 
to provide more online services

Long Term To provide an improved, consistent and sustainable 
customer experience

Prevention Developing online solutions and encouraging and promoting 
self-service will prevent problems from occurring and build 
a sustainable service.  Also by developing digital solutions 
with front line service needs, prevents future problems and 
utilises smarter resourcing

Integration A single entry point into the Council with end-to-end  
integration to back office systems

Collaboration Collaborating with Business Managers and key services to 
enrich the customers experience

8.0 Financial Implications 

8.1 There are established Earmarked Reserves to support both the revenue and capital 
aspects of Digital Transformation. The current budget available is £407,000 (revenue) 
and £520,000 (capital).

8.2 During the delivery of the digital programme, business cases will be developed to be 
approved by Corporate Management Board ahead of any future development works.

Page 137



9.0 Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approve the Digital Strategy 2020 – 2024 attached 
as Appendix B.

Gill Lewis
INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
November 2020

Contact officer: Martin Morgans - Head of Partnership Services
Telephone: (01656) 642154
Email: martin.morgans@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 138



Bridgend County Borough Council

Date of issue: December 2019

Tel: (01656) 643 664
Email: consultation@bridgend.gov.uk
Web: www.bridgend.gov.uk/CitizensPanel

Summer survey 2019

Digital Developments

Page 139

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/CitizensPanel


Produced by Bridgend County Borough Council
www.bridgend.gov.uk

Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB
Tel: +44 (0) 1656 643664

Page 140



Introduction

Background 

Bridgend County Borough Council has independently undertaken a survey designed for its 

1268 Citizens’ Panel members. The following report provides a summary of the findings 

derived from a survey undertaken among panel members between 24 June 2019 and 18 

August 2019. The purpose of this survey was to seek views on digital developments, waste 

services, employability Bridgend, adult Community Learning, mental health provision, ‘Your 

Medicines Your Health’ Cwm Taf health board project, feedback on engaging through the 

Citizens’ Panel and contact with the councils Customer Services team.

Methodology 

All panel members were sent an invitation to complete the survey. 965 members received an 

email containing the online survey link and 303 members received a paper copy in the post.   

Surveys were provided in either Welsh or English depending on individual preferences. 

Accessible versions of Welsh and English surveys were made available to those who had 

requested these. Each panel member also received a letter from the Leader of the council and 

a newsletter called ‘You said, we did’ outlining the findings and the actions that had resulted 

from the last two Citizens’ Panel surveys. 

A reminder email was sent during the second and fourth week of consultation by the panel 

members whose preferred method was e-mail. By the survey end date of 18 August 2019, 

473 surveys had been completed. This represents an overall response rate of 37 per cent. 

The table below highlights the response rate based on format and language preference.

Online 

English

Paper  

English

Online 

Welsh

Paper 

Welsh

Total

Invitations          

sent
953 294 12 9 1268

Survey  

completions
314 154 1 4 473

% response rate 

(based on format)
33% 52% 8% 44.5% -

Page 141



1 Survey overview

This survey contained 82 questions (with an additional 14 supplementary questions which 

were asked based on responses from previous questions), split into eight sections. The 

sections included the following questions;

 The digital developments section included questions regarding navigating our website 

and online services;

 The waste services section looks at community recycling centres and collections; 

 The employability Bridgend section included questions to gain feedback on the service; 

 The Adult Community Learning section asked what course should be available and 

where courses should be running;

 The mental health provision section included questions about the new Mental Health 

Prevention services;

 ‘Your Medicine Your Health’, a campaign developed by the Health Board, looked at 

understanding members’ use and disposal of medicines;

 Engagement with Citizens’ Panel sections looked at the different ways members would 

like to engage with us during key council consultations;

 Contact with Customer Services team asked for feedback from a previous visit.

The survey also contained the standard equalities questions which were optional to 

respondents. 

Confidence testing

A sample of 473 is robust and is subject to a maximum standard error of ±3.57 per cent at the 

95 per cent confidence level on an observed statistic of 50 per cent. Thus, we can be 95 per 

cent confident that responses are representative of those that would be given by the total adult 

population, if a census had been conducted, to within ±3.57 per cent of the percentages 

reported. This means that if the total adult population of Bridgend had taken part in the survey 

and a statistic of 50 per cent was observed, we can be 95 per cent confident that the actual 

figure lies between 46.43 per cent and 53.57 per cent.

Rounding

Figures and tables are used throughout the report to assist explanation and analysis. Although 

occasional anomalies appear due to ‘rounding’ differences, these are never more than +/-1 

Page 142



per cent. These occur where rating scales have been added to calculate proportions of panel 

members who are satisfied at all (i.e. either very or fairly satisfied). For example, if 25.4 per 

cent of residents state they are very satisfied and 30.3 per cent of residents are fairly satisfied, 

these figures are rounded down to 25 per cent and 30 per cent respectively. However, the 

sum of these two responses is 55.7 per cent which is rounded up to 56 per cent, whereas the 

individual responses suggest this total should be 55 per cent. 

Page 143



Digital developments

Introduction

The first section of the survey asked 15 questions about contacting the council, Bridgend 

County Borough Council website, use of technology and accessing council services.

Contacting the council

Please tell us why you last contacted the council?

37% (176) of respondents stated that they last contacted the council regarding a 

waste/recycling issue, 11% (52) to report a highways issue and 9% (44) regarding council 

tax.

If 'other', please specify:
41 respondents identified another reason they contacted the council.

Blue Badge Scheme 5

Electoral roll 5

Bus passes 4

Damage to public property 3

Parks 3

Housing 3

Page 144



Pay a bill 2

Street lighting not working 2

Dog warden 2

Dumped vehicle 1

Citizen Panel 1

Applied for a job 1

Illegal camping in Newbridge fields 1

Wasps nest 1

Highways 1

Overgrown tree 1

The over-50s help scheme 1

Rights of way 1

I am a Councillor 1

Drain blockage 1

To speak to a specific member of staff 1

The table shows that the top three ‘other’ reasons respondents contacted the council were: 

 Blue Badge Scheme

 Electoral roll

 Bus passes

Page 145



What method did you use to contact the council?

208

30

117

5 0

32

62

19

Phone 
(44%)

Face to 
face (6%)

Email 
(25%)

Twitter 
(1%)

Facebook 
(0%)

Other 
(7%)

I have not 
contacted 

the 
council 
(13%)

No 
answer 

(4%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

44% (208) respondents contacted the council by phone, 25% (117) respondents emailed 

and 7% (32) identified another method they used.

If 'other', please specify:

BCBC website 14

Fix my street website 7

Letter 4

My Account 3

Talktous 2

My councillor 2

Page 146



What time of day do you typically contact the council?

71

197

17

53 50

68

17

Early morning 
(15%)

Mid-morning 
(42%)

Lunchtime 
(4%)

Mid-afternoon 
(11%)

Late 
afternoon 

(10%)

I have not 
contacted the 
council (14%)

No answer 
(4%)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

42% (197) respondents said they contacted the council mid-morning, followed by 15% (71) 

respondents said early morning and then 11% (53) respondents said mid-afternoon. The 

least popular response was lunchtime with 4% (17) respondents giving this answer. 

Bridgend County Borough Council website

How easy is it to use the website?

64

117

148

19

1

114

10

Very easy 
(14%)

Easy (25%) Okay (31%) Difficult 
(4%)

Very 
difficult (1%)

I don’t use 
the BCBC 
website 
(23%)

No answer 
(2%)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Page 147



39% (181) respondents said the website is either very easy or easy to navigate, 31% (148) 

respondents said it was okay and 5% (20) respondents said it is either difficult or very 

difficult to navigate. 

Does the website provide you with all the information you require about services?

278

61

119

15

Yes (59%) No (13%) I don't use the 
BCBC website 

(25%)

No answer (3%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

59% (278) respondents said the website provided them with all the information they required 

about services, 13% (61) respondents said it does not.

If 'no' please tell us what is missing

Recycling information 13

Difficult to navigate 10

Unable to find information easily 8

Did not answer my question 7

Planning information 3

Old fashioned design/ not fit for purpose 2

Unable to download forms 2

Blue badge information 1

Complaints process 1

Housing register 1

More links to community resources 1

Rights of way information 1

School meals information 1

Page 148



Social services information 1

Unable to report incidents in real time 1

53 comments were made in response to the question to tell us what is missing from the 

website. The top three responses were: 

 Recycling information

 Difficult to navigate 

 Unable to find information easily

Your use of technology

Which of the following do you use on a regular basis? 

200
214

277

235

7

38

Desktop 
computer 

(21%)

Laptop (22%)Smart phone 
(28%)

Tablet (24%) Other (1%) None (4%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

This was a multiple choice question that enabled respondents to choose more than one 

option. 28% (277) respondents said the use a smart phone, 24% (235) said they use a tablet 

and 22% (214) respondents said they use a laptop.

If 'other', please specify:

Acer Chromebook 1

land-line 1

library computer 1

kindle 1

Page 149



IPad 1

Five comments were made by respondents to identify other technology they used on a 

regular basis. The five comments were

 Acer Chromebook

 Land-line

 Library computer

 Kindle

 IPad

Which social media do you use? 

274

92
106

53

148

11

142

Facebook 
(33%)

Instagram 
(11%)

Twitter 
(13%)

Linkedin 
(7%)

YouTube 
(18%)

Other (1%) None 
(17%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

This was a multiple choice question that enabled respondents to choose more than one 

option. 33% (274) respondents said they use Facebook, 18% (148) said they use YouTube 

and 13% (106) said they use Twitter.

If 'other', please specify:

WhatsApp 7

e-mail 1

Telegram 1

Internet 1

11 comments were made by respondents to identify other social media platforms they use. 

The most popular response was WhatsApp, followed by email, telegram and internet.

Page 150



Does your household have access to the internet?

433

32
8

Yes (91%) No (7%) No answer (2%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

91% (433) respondents said their household has access to the internet. 7% (32) 

respondents said they did not have access and 2% (8) respondents did not answer this 

question. 

Have you signed up to My Account (our online portal allowing you to interact with 
services such as council tax on a 24 hours a day)?

183

284

6

Yes (39%) No (60%) No answer (1%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

39% (183) respondents said they had signed up to My Account, 60% (284) said they have 

not.

If 'no', please can you tell us why:

Page 151



Did not know about it 61

Do not need to 60

No access/ unable to use a computer 32

Haven't got round to it 21

Prefer to speak to someone 8

Prefer face to face 6

Prefer paper bills 6

Do not want to 4

I am not responsible for households council tax 2

Pay Council tax by direct debit 2

Prefer to pay at post office 2

Like to pay by card 1

Need more information about it 1

206 respondents commented as to why they have not signed up to My Account. The top 

three responses were: They did not know about it, they did not need to and they have no 

access to, or are unable to work, a computer.

Have you subscribed to council tax e-billing?

155

312

6

Yes (33%) No (66%) No answer (1%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

33% (155) respondents said they have subscribed to council tax e-billing and 66% (312) said 

they have not.

If 'no', please can you tell us why:

Page 152



Did not know about it 57

Prefer paper copy 53

No access/ unable to use a computer 29

Pay by direct debit 28

Do not need to 14

I am not responsible for households council tax 10

Haven't got round to it 10

Do not want to 7

Don't know 3

Have been unable to sign up 2

Prefer to pay in post office 1

Prefer face to face 1

Have you got the money for this? 1

Hardly seems worthwhile for one communication per 

annum 1

Give me an incentive and I will 1

218 respondents made comments as to why they have not signed up to council tax e-billing. 

The top three responses were: they did not know about it, they prefer a paper copy and they 

have no access, or are unable to use, a computer.

Accessing council services

Customers can currently contact us through phone, email, face to face, Twitter and 

Facebook. We are considering developing alternative online methods, would you use any of 

the following methods to contact us if they were available?

Page 153



160 165

211

12

162

Webchat (22%) eForms (online 
forms to book 
appointments) 

(23%)

Online reporting 
tools (30%)

Other (2%) I would not use 
online services 

(23%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

30% (211) respondents said they would contact the council using online reporting tools, 23% 

(165) would use eForms, 22% (160) would use webchat and 2% (12) chose another 

response.

If 'other', please specify:

Talking to a person can be useful 3

Messenger or WhatsApp 2

Option to obtain and print forms 1

Apply for bus pass 1

Ability to report issues with roads 1

Online tools to order more waste disposal bags 1

I am unable to use a computer 1

10 comments were made by respondents regarding other ways they would contact the 

council. The two most popular responses were: talking to a person can be useful followed by 

messenger of WhatsApp. 

We are looking to develop more online opportunities for customers to access 
services. Would you consider accessing any of the following services online?

Page 154



37

158

52 55

122

280 286

7

122

Clai
m housin

g b
enefits

 (3
%)

Pay
 co

uncil 
tax

 (1
4%)

Apply 
for y

our c
hild

 sc
hool 

plac
e (5

%)

Pay
 fo

r y
our c

hild
ren’s 

meals
 (5

%)

Apply 
for a

 Blue Bad
ge

 

(11%)

Report 
a h

igh
way

s is
su

e 

(25%)

Report 
an

 envir
onmental

 

iss
ue (2

5%) Other (1
%)

I w
ould not u

se onlin
e 

servi
ce

s (
11%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

25% (286) respondents said they would access a service to report an environmental issue 

online, 25% (280) said they would report a highways issue and 14% 9158) would pay their 

council tax.

If 'other', please specify:

Refuse collection 3

Apply for a course 1

Bus pass application 1

Anti-Social Behaviour 1

Six comments were made by respondents regarding what services they would access 

online. The most popular response was to organise refuse collections. 

We are looking to develop more online opportunities to book appointments with us, 
would you consider booking any of the following online?

Page 155



156
171

186

84

18

169

Registrars 
(20%)

Planning 
(22%)

Pest control 
(24%)

Housing (11%) Other (2%) I would not 
use online 

services (21%)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

24% (186) respondents said they would book pest control appointments online, 22% (171) 

said they would book planning appointments and 20% (156) said they would book 

appointments with registrars. 

If 'other', please specify:

Any service suitable for this 3

I have no need to contact these services 2

I would not use online service to deal with these 

services 2

Blue badge application 2

Waste Management 2

Highway issues 1

Employability Bridgend 1

Customer Services 1

Complaints 1

Benefits work capability assessment 1

Rights of way 1

17 comments were made by respondents regarding online services. The most popular 

response was that any service would be suitable to book appointments for online.

Would you sign up for email notifications on any of the following services?

Page 156



237

107 105

30

172

Events (36%) Job vacancies 
(17%)

School 
information 

(16%)

Other services 
(5%)

I would not use 
online services 

(26%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

36% (237) respondents said they would sign up for email notifications regarding events, 17% 

(107) chose job vacancies and 16% (105) chose school information. 

If 'other', please specify:

Highways or environmental issues 5

Waste/recycling 5

Information on road works and local 

developments 4

Council tax and any benefits 2

Any service is suitable for this 2

Decisions made by the council 2

Email social workers 1

Planning applications in my area 1

Employability Bridgend 1

Complaints 1

Housing 1

Music services 1

Children’s activities 1

28 comments were made by respondents regarding what email notifications they would like 

to receive. The top three responses were: highways or environmental issues, 

waste/recycling and information on road works and local developments. 

Please tell us if there is anything else we could do to improve our digital services:

Page 157



Improve the website (easier to find information) 14

Not everybody wants to go online 11

Faster follow up after using email 9

Improve face to face and phone service 7

Report environmental issues 3

Provide contacts for departments 3

Reassure personal information is safe 3

Support people to use the website 3

More forms online to download 2

Easier complaints/scrutiny procedure 2

Improve blue badge applications 2

Search facility on website returns invalid results 2

Advertise online facilities 1

Email reminders re. recycling and waste 1

Have web chat 1

Kiers details on BCBC website 1

Make an app 1

Save payment information on school meals 1

Self-serve technology in reception 1

Add a 'What’s on' section 1

69 comments were made by respondents on how digital services could be improved. The 

top three responses were: Improve the website so it is easier to navigate, not everyone 

wants to go online and faster follow ups if emailing the council. 

Page 158



BRIDGEND COUNTY 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

DIGITAL STRATEGY 
2020 - 2024

Page 159



Page 1

Foreword

Our Corporate Plan for Bridgend County Borough 2018-2022, recently reviewed for 2020-2021, outlines 
an ambitious list of well-being objectives to deliver more efficient, effective and accessible services to 
citizens in Bridgend County Borough. 

In that plan, we define how we will adopt new approaches, with residents and local services at the heart 
of how we deliver.  Embracing technology is a key factor in that plan.

As the internet continues to change the world around us at an ever-accelerating pace, our population 
is growing rapidly, at a time when central government funding for local authorities is decreasing.  We 
face increasing challenges and urgency around environmental sustainability, and we cannot afford to 
stand still as we work towards our vision of becoming a digitally connected county borough, fit for the 
21st century.

It is clear that such a radical new approach, and the future economic growth of our county borough rely 
on us making better use of both the existing and emerging opportunities that digital, data and technology 
can provide.  This is why this Digital Strategy is a crucial enabler in supporting us to deliver our 
Corporate Plan.  Local authorities have a duty to provide effective and efficient services in a way 
compatible to the changing demographics and increasing demands faced by our citizens and partners.

The key aim for the council is to continue to improve and modernise the services it provides, responding 
positively to opportunities, expectations and challenges posed by the ever-changing digital 
marketplace.

We have listened to our residents who expect efficient, high quality, online ways of communicating and 
transacting with us on a 24/7 basis that fits into their lifestyle, not our working patterns.

This ambitious four year Digital Strategy sets out how we will make the most of the opportunities digital 
presents us.  It has been divided into three main principles: 

 Digital Citizen
 Digital Council
 Digital Place.

Underpinning each principle is a programme of works to deliver our goals by 2024.  Setting out a clear 
vision of how we aim to streamline routine and repetitive processes, delivering end-to-end connections 
to back office systems, with the ambition of delivering efficiencies through automated digital services.

The council’s Digital Principles have been developed to underpin the foundations of the Five Ways of 
Working within the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, aligning a ‘Digital First’ approach to 
the national digital landscape.

We are defining what citizens, schools, businesses and visitors can expect and achieve from our digital 
services and how we will support our staff to work in a more agile way, assisted by the best technology.

In recent years, we have made good progress through the introduction of a citizen platform supporting 
online transactional services, improving the accessibility of our website and new methods of 
communicating e.g. Chatbot.  We have streamlined HR processes and invested in technology to enable 
staff to work in a more mobile and flexible way.

I am pleased to endorse this new strategy. It sets a clear path for the next four years, to maximise the 
opportunities of digital technologies to improve the services you use, the places where you live and 
work, and how efficiently the council functions so that it can provide the best services and best value to 
citizens.

Mark Shephard
Chief Executive

Page 160



Page 2

Contents

THE NATIONAL AGENDA......................................................................................................2

WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 ..........................................3

INTRODUCTION .....................................................................................................................4

VISION.....................................................................................................................................5

AIMS ........................................................................................................................................6

WHY DIGITAL..........................................................................................................................7

PRINCIPLES............................................................................................................................8

THEMES ..................................................................................................................................9

DIGITAL CITIZEN ....................................................................................................................9

DIGITAL COUNCIL................................................................................................................11

DIGITAL PLACE ....................................................................................................................13

GOVERNANCE .....................................................................................................................15

ACTION TABLE .....................................................................................................................17

Page 161



Page 3

THE NATIONAL AGENDA
Both the Welsh Government (WG) and Central Government have published their digital strategies that 
set out expectation and guidance for local government delivery of digital services. 

The Government’s Digital Service has shown how the application of digital culture, practice and 
technologies to central government can make government work better for users. These principles have 
been recognised and included throughout this Strategy.

The Welsh Government’s long-term strategy, ‘Digital Wales’ is aimed at making Wales a truly digital 
nation. It sets out five key objectives: 

1. To tackle the digital divide; 
2. To improve digital skills; 
3. To grow our digital economy; 
4. To deliver faster broadband across Wales and 
5. To provide better online public services. 

‘Digital First’, a Strategy issued by the Welsh Government to enhance objective 5, seeks to develop the 
infrastructure required to support digital service delivery throughout Wales. 

As part of this ambition, WG have invested in the Superfast Cymru Public Sector Broadband 
Aggregation (PSBA) infrastructure, which allows public services to deliver digital services to our 
communities via a secure and quick network that also supports public service partnerships across 
Wales. It is also the goal of Digital First that the .cymru and .wales domains will be used by all public 
sectors to create a national identity and be the default route for accessing public services. 

The Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport have also outlined their ambition to provide a 
nationwide fibre network by 2033 of which Bridgend is supporting the ‘street works’ campaign. Their 
Digital Strategy in conjunction with the Future Telecoms Infrastructure Review plans for local authorities 
to realise their 5G ambitions, by having a sufficient fibre network to underpin emerging wireless 
technology.

To harness developments in the digital landscape, we have collaborated with the Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal to maximise the opportunities and benefits of having a full connection of digital innovative 
networks, to assess good practice and learn lessons from other members. We are already linking with 
the Welsh Government’s programme of Taking Wales Forward, a strategy to improve mobile networks, 
ensuring our citizens, staff, business and visitors benefit from wider coverage. 

The Welsh public sector spends approximately £400million per annum on technology. The National 
Procurement Service for Wales has recently announced the Agile Digital and ICT Resource Agreement 
(ADIRA), an all-Wales framework providing a fast, compliant and cost-effective method for local 
authorities to find the right supplier, while contributing to a Prosperous Wales. 

Page 162



Page 4

WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
(WALES) ACT 2015

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 was introduced in 2016, which created seven 
goals for public bodies to work towards to improve the wellbeing of their area and sets out the 
sustainable development principle. The five ways of working towards the sustainable development 
principles have been referenced throughout the Strategy reflecting our ambition to meet the obligations 
upon us to improve our long-term social, cultural, environmental and economic wellbeing both now and 
for future generations. 

Some examples of how the Strategy is taking forward the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act:

Long term Recognising that our population is aging and becoming more diverse, 
digital services mean more focus can be given to supporting those more in 
need of support
Recognising the threat of climate change, more flexible working practices 
mean less journeys impacting on Co2 emissions and air quality 

Preventative Easy access to information and ability to easily manage day-to-day tasks 
digitally can help people to be self-reliant and prevent loss of 
independence. 

Involvement Consultation results have underpinned the Strategy and ongoing 
programmes of learning from feedback from citizens and users will inform 
future development

Integration Benefits across the wellbeing goals from improved digital services e.g. an 
equal Wales.  
Working with our partners to deliver digital services that enable Health and 
Social Care Integration e.g. All Wales Community Care Information 
System (WCCIS).

Collaboration 21st century schools to ensure children are equipped to the latest industry 
standards 
Working with other partners through Cardiff Regional City Deal
Collaborate with the Energy Technologies Institute and Energy Systems 
Catapult on the Smart Systems and Caerau Heat programme

A prosperous Wales Improving local infrastructure to support developing businesses.  
Helping local people gaining relevant skills

A resilient Wales Changing working practices and developing skills for more resilient 
services and communities as the population and climate changes in the 
long term

A healthier Wales Timely access to information to ensure support can be provided promptly 
preventing further deterioration, supported by  real time information 

A more equal Wales Flexible services, responsive to the needs of the most vulnerable
A Wales of Cohesive 
communities

Supporting superfast internet connectivity so that information is easily and 
reliably available to enable all communities to be well connected, informed 
and involved in decisions about their local area 

A Wales of vibrant 
culture and thriving 
Welsh language

Ensuring all services and information are provided bilingually.  

A globally responsive 
Wales

More digital services reduces the need for journeys and resources such as 
fuel and paper, reducing Co2 emissions and use of resources. 

Page 163



Page 5

INTRODUCTION
Bridgend County Borough Council’s Digital Strategy outlines how we aim to achieve a Digital Council 
by 2024 that recognises and aligns with the ambition of the Welsh Government ‘Digital First’ strategy 
and the UK Government Transformation Strategy; getting smarter by understanding challenges; using 
resources more effectively, develop integrated solutions and plan future developments based on better 
evidence. Welsh Government state that ‘good digital’ is about providing what users expect – modern, 
efficient, easy to use, satisfying services, online services.

Bridgend’s Corporate Well-being Objectives are embedded within the aims and objectives of the Digital 
Strategy.  End-to-end integrated digital services will be built around the people who use them, meeting 
our priority of helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient. It is not wholly 
about designing processes for our convenience or around our internal structures but focusses on being 
truly citizen-centric, efficient and fit-for-purpose, making smarter use of resources through 
transformation aided by technology. The availability and progression to excellent digital connectivity is 
also a major draw in attracting businesses to the Borough to provide sustainable, high wage jobs and 
therefore supporting a successful sustainable economy. 

In line with ‘Digital First’, Bridgend Council ‘first and foremost, wants to meet the needs of our 
customers’. Citizen demand for digital is growing and as they become more digitally sophisticated, 
expectations are rising for government services to meet this demand. Completing transactions online 
has become second nature, with more and more of us going online for shopping, banking, information 
and entertainment. Why? Because online services tend to be quicker, convenient, available 24/7 and 
cheaper to use.

We have involved and acted upon the feedback from Bridgend’s Budget Consultation, that 87% of 
Bridgend citizens want more council services online. According to the Office of National Statistics 
(ONS), 85% of Bridgend citizens have access to the internet and preference the convenience of online 
transactions.  Therefore better, modern online functionality, that supports channel shift to self-serve 
facilities will meet this demand. In 2018 Bridgend went live with a single digital platform (My Account) 
for citizens to interact with us online for key services. As well as developing the new digital platform, a 
new, responsive website was released, which allowed citizens to seamlessly interact with the My 
Account functionality while browsing the various other services the Council offers.

We know that digital technology, when harnessed and introduced in a diligent, timely and strategic way, 
can help us add value to service effectiveness and efficiency; achieve richer citizen and staff 
engagement; make better informed choices; demand analysis and risk mitigation; whilst providing the 
platform for further future proofing and modernisation. We want to make it as easy as possible to 
transact, communicate, report, self-assess and self-refer with the Council through online channels.

We will not abandon conventional ways of contact e.g. telephone for those who still require them as we 
recognise long-term trends of an aging population, our diverse communities and single occupant 
households.  We will promote our digital services through marketing campaigns and training our 
communities to use them therefore increasing digital skills in line with Bridgend’s Public Service Board 
Wellbeing Plan. 

We aim to use good information by involving our communities to inform our decisions on how to 
meet future demand and improve our services either independently or in conjunction with our partners. 
With secure data transmission capabilities, excellence in Cyber Security, Government Roam roll out, 
Analytics, and the Public Sector Broadband Aggregation (PSBA) already available, there is no major 
technological barrier in using our data for closer collaboration with our partners to best deliver services 
and efficiencies.  The all Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS) for example is an 
integrated platform, which enables both health and social services to co-ordinate, share and deliver 
joined up services to our citizens.

We will ensure that the journey to being a Digital Council will be inclusive and driven by the need to 
improve services, build a richer understanding of citizen’s needs, preferences and capabilities, address 
problems and create opportunities for our communities and our staff. We will work as ‘One Council’ and 
discourage different parts of the organisation from developing multiple processes or 
unnecessarily different approaches. The successful implementation will lead to improved services, 
embedded community benefits, integration with wellbeing goals, citizen satisfaction and reduced 
service costs in times of unprecedented financial challenges.

Page 164



Page 6

VISION
The Digital Strategy supports Bridgend’s Corporate Vision which is ‘One Council working together to 
improve lives’ supporting communities to create their own solutions and reduce dependency on 
the Council in a time of continued budget cuts, growing citizen expectations and recognising a longer 
term shift in the political and demographic landscape. 

These factors are driving the transformation of our services. The Council has to do better with less and 
focus resources on communities and individuals with the greatest need. It requires a complete rethink 
of the way we do business, with technology playing an integral role in improving service delivery.

It is our vision to become a more resilient, innovative and transformational Council by listening and 
responding to our communities, businesses and staff and identifying new opportunities in the digital 
marketplace that enhances our service provision. 

With the emergence of new technologies such as cloud services, chatbots (AI), robotic process 
automation (RPA), and Internet of Things (IoT) e.g. Alexa, we will assess how these technologies can 
assist us in helping our communities be more self-sufficient, live independently for longer whilst also 
enabling us to become a more digitally mature organisation, forward thinking and transformative.

To succeed in moving to a digitally mature Council then we need to be ambitious, willing and innovative 
in our approach to developing solutions. We will transform our services and in doing so, deliver 
opportunities for financial reductions as well as improving our services in line with our corporate 
principles. 

Page 165



Page 7

AIMS
The Council’s ambition is to harness digital technologies to help us deliver services that are streamlined 
and integrated, keeping the citizen at the heart of what we do.

Bridgend’s corporate values are referenced throughout every part of the digital journey: 

 Fair - taking into account everyone's needs and situation 

 Ambitious - always trying to improve what we do and aiming for excellence 

 Citizen-focused - remembering that we are here to serve our local communities 

 Efficient - delivering services that are value for money 

Our digital aims and ambition will be a ‘golden thread’ throughout Bridgend’s corporate and strategic 
plans, connecting our services and driving the necessary culture changes at all levels.

The aims of Bridgend, as a digitally mature Council will be to:

 Integrate systems, reducing duplication and minimising manual input aspiring to ensure 
Citizens tell us their story only ‘once’

 Provide clear and intuitive self-serve digital functionality via My Account that’s available 24/7 
with staff involvement only when it is needed by the user or where it adds true value

 Ensure citizens are better equipped to manage situations themselves, releasing our staff to 
concentrate on those in greatest need

 Provide our staff with the right tools to enable real time updating of information and connectivity 
required for true agile working 

 Identify long-term, future trends and challenges and be digitally ready and enabled to meet 
these challenges

 Embrace cloud services which will provide a more resilient infrastructure future proofing our 
operations

 Achieve end-to-end service re-design with emphasis on citizen needs, embedding community 
benefits and communicating these as we progress 

 Integrate systems ensuring that they ‘talk’ to each other, reducing duplication and minimising 
manual input through automation where possible

 Work as ‘One Council’ and discourage different parts of the organisation from developing 
multiple processes or unnecessary silos

 Test the digital market to procure the emerging technology and services that are needed to 
become a digitally mature Council

 Deliver value for money by making smarter use of resources

 Set clear, ambitious targets for the delivery of digital work streams 
Identify digital best practice emerging in public sectors throughout Wales and the UK

Page 166



Page 8

WHY DIGITAL

Savings of £2.83-£8.62 
for each transaction 

moved online
(Source: SocITM)

87% of Bridgend citizens 
want more council services 

online

85% of Bridgend 
citizens prefer online 

transactions
Source: ONS

.

Evidence based decision-
making to inform our digital 

journey

Reducing dependency on 
legacy and proprietorial 

systems

193 million Smart devices 
in homes by 2020 

Mobile data traffic 
increases at a rate of up to 

42% per year (Ofcom)

£30M budget gap to 2022

Strategically aligning IT investments 
through consolidation, standardisation 

and simplification of systems

Creating opportunities for our 
communities  Improved user experience

Supporting 
SMEs

Aspiring to level 5 against the 
Digital Capability Framework 

Evidence based decision-making to 
inform our digital journey

Rating of 5 in the Doteveryone digital 
exclusion scale = not at high risk of 

exclusion (2017)
Reduce our carbon 

footprint 

15,000 
Facebook 
followers 

12,000 
Twitter 

followers 

Page 167



Page 9

PRINCIPLES
Our Digital Principles have been developed to underpin the foundations of the Five Ways of Working 
within the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act, aligning a ‘Digital First’ approach and 
encapsulating the good practice principles identified by SocITM.  Our digital services will therefore:

 Be designed around the people who are going to use them, across the whole sphere of service 
delivery. This covers a range of people across Bridgend from citizens to businesses, visitors to 
employees 

 Be integrated where possible to deliver seamless connectivity and be simple and intuitive so 
that the user experience is positive, right first time and able to move easily between functions

 Be quick, reliable and efficient using the provision of superfast broadband and internet 
connectivity

 Be designed so we can safely and usefully share information with our partners, to better support 
the most vulnerable in our communities, and to target our limited resources more effectively 
based on demand

 Demonstrate digital leadership, creating the conditions for genuine channel shift 

 Rise above traditional ways of working and challenge the status quo to ensure we are working 
smarter 

 Ensure that our workforce is empowered to share knowledge and ideas throughout the digital 
journey and upskilled to utilise the right tools to aid their roles and responsibilities

 Ensure critical systems that support our vulnerable citizens are sufficiently utilised, resourced 
and supported – All Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS)

 Contribute to the reduction of Bridgend’s carbon footprint through energy efficient technology 
including smart meters for our properties and smarter agile working leading to decreased time 
spent travelling and subsequent overheads

Page 168



Page 10

THEMES
DIGITAL CITIZEN
Self-serve when required
Choice of communication 
channels
Digital skills and inclusivity

DIGITAL COUNCIL
Transformation of services
Innovative digital solutions
Joined-up data
Citizen centric

DIGITAL PLACE
Widely connected
Community focussed
Forward thinking 
Economically attractive

DIGITAL CITIZEN
Our communities, schools and businesses are becoming increasingly digitally astute.  Expectations on 
access to digital services 24/7 is increasing. The focus of the Digital Citizen theme is to implement an 
easy to use, reliable, digital solution that works across multiple device types allowing 24/7 access to 
Council services therefore maximising self-service, preventing loss of independence and empowering 
our citizens to make an informed choice about how they communicate and interact with us. 

We will ensure that investment in digital is driven by listening to the needs of the citizen rather than 
procuring what we ‘think’ they need. Investment will be based on evidence-based analysis of what our 
citizens tell us they need to secure their well-being aspirations in the short and long term. 

To ensure the growth of our communities and economy, we must ensure that our citizens, workforce 
and learners are suitably skilled to keep up with the pace of digital trends and contributing to a more 
prosperous Wales. We are building platforms to guarantee our learners are sufficiently skilled as they 
progress through the curriculum, paving the path for future digital leaders.

No-one will be left behind, we will ensure digital inclusion by working with communities to upskill citizens 
in the use of technology ensuring they achieve the most out of our digital services.

What we are doing:

 Developing a single digital platform (My Account) of targeted service information, reporting tools 
and routine transactions that are accessible with a single log on; delivering a seamless, 
automated, end-to-end customer journey that encourages and supports independence and 
convenience.

 Providing a user friendly bi-lingual DAC (Digital Accessibility Centre) accredited website that is 
easy to navigate that markets our vibrant culture and provides links to relevant sites maintained 
by our partners.

 Ensuring our digital solutions are not reactive and stand-alone but holistic, sustainable and 
forward thinking, using evidence-based analysis of our citizen’s needs and supporting the 
business processes behind our decision making and delivery mechanism.

 Delivering the mechanisms for channel shift by offering a choice of modern, on-line 
communication tools. We will ensure that we can provide the most convenient and cost effective 
service provision to meet the needs of all our citizens.

 Communicating through social media channels to engage, share targeted messages and 
promote digital services and using feedback to inform us where we need to focus our resources.

 Utilising technology to remove routine tasks from customer advisors to support a more efficient 
and effective ‘corporate front door’ into council services, creating the capacity to focus time and 
resources on the most vulnerable citizens with multiple, complex needs recognising a changing 
population and long term population trends. 

 Providing Borough wide Adult Community Learning sessions to train and upskill our 
communities on using our digital services, enhancing digital competency and ensuring good 
digital inclusion rates are maintained to support a prosperous Wales, economic growth, 
productivity and social mobility.

Page 169



Page 11

 Providing more online services to help mitigate citizens and Council employees having to make 
the journey into our offices contributing to reducing Co2 emissions and therefore a globally 
responsible Wales. 

What we will do:

 Provide online access to information that supports citizen’s decisions to improve health, 
wellbeing, prosperity and promoting equality in line with our ambition to help people become 
more self-reliant. 

 Create a Citizen Hub and provide self-serve facilities to ensure none of our citizens are 
disadvantaged when seeking the opportunities they need to find work, pay bills, report a 
problem.  Ensuring everyone has the equal opportunity to receive welfare, housing, educational 
or social services assistance contributing to a healthier Wales. 

 Offer more online appointment booking functionality for Council services such as registrars 
mitigating queues, wasted time and inconvenience.

 Provide informed and timely feedback to citizens who report, transact and communicate with 
us, enhancing the end to end customer journey resulting in a right first time approach and 
improved satisfaction.

 Ensure no one is excluded through continuing to provide conventional customer service 
channels such as telephony realising the long term trend of an aging population.

 Consult with our citizens to establish how we can adapt current processes, aided where 
appropriate by technology, in order to meet their needs, goals and service requirements and 
aligning our digital journey with these.

 Publish an online suite of council information including mapping functionalities, making Open 
Data readily available in compliance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and Freedom of 
Information Act 2000

 Deliver services that are ‘secured by design’ from the outset maintaining the relevant standards 
with regards Cyber Security principles, to reassure our citizens that their data is safe.

 Deliver digital solutions that are fully cognisant of the Well-being of Future Generations Act; 
that can be accessed and used by all communities and enhances their immediate and future 
well-being goals and requirements.

 Ensure all our services are bi-lingual in accordance with the Welsh Language Standards 
Regulations 2015 further promoting our vibrant culture.

 Provide training and employment opportunities throughout the County Borough through 
partnership approaches contributing to a more prosperous Wales with equal opportunities for 
our citizens. 

Our contribution to the following well-being goals:

Page 170



Page 12

DIGITAL COUNCIL

The Digital Council theme focusses on evaluating our current business processes and establishing how 
we can fundamentally change our ways of working, redesigning our services to better serve a 24/7 
digital citizen. 

Aided by innovative use and integration of digital solutions, we will identify where business processes 
can be smarter and better integrated, unconstrained by ‘conventional’ approaches. 

We will transform delivery of services by ensuring our workforce have access to the right technology 
that supports their role subsequently improving productivity and supporting wellbeing. Transformation 
will be underpinned through strong leadership, agile working and a digitally compatible estate. 

What we are doing:

 Ensuring visible, ambitious leadership throughout the Council that champions digital skills from 
the Chief Executive down.

 Providing training for our staff where required, to ensure they are able to use the new 
technologies introduced to deliver and enhance services.

 Identifying areas of our services where the introduction of technology could free up our staff to 
deliver high value direct intervention in priority areas for our most vulnerable citizens

 Ensuring we procure our technology that is ‘right first time’ and fit-for-purpose, seeking 
economies of scale where possible using National Procurement Services such as G-Cloud and 
supporting local SMEs in maximising their abilities to thrive commercially.

 Supporting agile working through access to Cloud services, Public Sector Broadband 
Aggregation (PSBA) and Government Roaming capability (Gov Roam), using fit-for-purpose 
mobile devices allowing our staff to provide resilient and flexible services for our citizens also 
demonstrating our ambition to be globally responsible by reducing our Co2 emissions.

 Introducing digital interactive meeting spaces mitigating the need for people to travel to 
meetings reducing our Co2 emissions.

 Continuing to move to paperless working, reducing print and postage outputs, in turn reducing 
transport and resources contributing to our global responsibilities.

 Developing a core set of managerial activities with the intention of streamlining and automating 
where possible.

What we will do:

 Explore the ‘Internet of Things’ e.g. Alexa for technology which improves citizen’s wellbeing 
and safety in their homes e.g. personal alarms, voice recognition technology contributing to a 
more equal Wales, preventing loss of independence and enabling communities to become 
more resilient.

 Streamline our routine and repetitive processes, delivering end-to-end connections to back 
office systems with the ambition of delivering efficiencies through digital automation.

 Test the digital market place to ensure there is no procurement of inflexible and expensive 
technology that does not join up effectively. 

 Develop an ICT action plan based on the principles and aims of the Digital Strategy, continually 
reviewing the ICT infrastructure to ensure there is the capacity and capability for introducing 
and developing new platforms and facilitating news ways of working. 

 Enable managers to use a range of online resources to fulfil their managerial responsibilities

 Provide appropriate hand-held technology to frontline staff allowing real time updating of 
information leading to improved end-to-end services for our citizens.

Page 171



Page 13

 Continue to roll out self-serve functions, including performance and appraisal modules, within 
the HR and payroll system

 Explore the wider opportunities of working collaboratively with partners, including formal 
integration of back office functions to improve services and cohesion.

 Review opportunities to digitise the Council chamber allowing citizens better, real time 
interaction with members during public meetings and involving them in the democratic 
processes and ensuring a more cohesive community.

Our contribution to the following well-being goals:

Page 172



Page 14

DIGITAL PLACE
The pace of digital advance and emerging technology means it is critical that we provide excellent 
connectivity by deploying cutting-edge digital infrastructure that ensures Bridgend is at the forefront of 
digital development and is economically attractive to businesses, investors and visitors.

We will create the right environment that supports our businesses and communities to thrive by 
engaging with partners and high tech multi-national organisations helping to create new jobs, supporting 
a successful sustainable economy.

What we are doing:

 Collaborating with partners in the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal and delivering digital 
opportunities arising from the national digital agenda.

 Liaising with the Welsh Government's Business Wales service and other business support 
organisations including the Superfast Business Wales and Bridgend Business forums to share 
business ideas and innovation supporting a successful sustainable economy and a prosperous 
Wales. 

 Supporting our businesses by signposting queries to appropriate trusted partners, assist in 
grant applications, apprentice schemes and communicating through the website.

 Delivering the 21st century schools strategic capital investment programme with the aim of 
creating a generation of modern schools in Wales. Digital technology will have a key part to 
play in the programme, ensuring our pupils are able to harness the skills to help them succeed.

 Working with schools to ensure technology is a tool for education and not a barrier.

 Promoting Bridgend and attracting visitors through a dedicated website and social media 
channel outlining why Bridgend is a good place to visit and live. 

What we will do:


 Support the Superfast Cymru programme ensuring mobile connectivity is excellent throughout 

the area.

 Collaborate with the Energy Technologies Institute and Energy Systems Catapult on the Smart 
Systems and Caerau Heat programme, a collaborative, pioneering project exploring heating 
technology innovations in the north of Bridgend.

 Liaise with technology providers and government bodies to ensure Bridgend is at the forefront 
of technology advances and ensuring our communities have equal digital possibilities as any 
other area.

 Implement the Education Digital Standards that will assist schools to effectively manage and 
implement their digital environment, either by themselves or through their technology providers. 

 Ensure that our schools have excellent digital infrastructure ensuring high digital competency 
in line with the curriculum giving our children the best start in life and developing their long term 
opportunities.

 Encourage close relationships between businesses and schools to ensure our learners leave 
education with the skills required for employment and a positive future.

Page 173



Page 15

Our contribution to the following well-being goals:

Page 174



Page 16

GOVERNANCE
Good governance arrangements are essential to ensure that the vision and aims of the Strategy are 
upheld throughout the journey. The Digital Strategy will be governed as follows:

 Chief Executive Officer and the Corporate Management Board will be responsible for the 
Digital Transformation Strategy, supported by the Digital Transformation Project Board

 The Digital Transformation Project Board will oversee and monitor the delivery of the 
implementation plan and report directly to the Corporate Management Board

 The Digital Transformation Project Board will comprise of Chief Officers, senior users and 
project management will provide governance for those organisational risks as well as govern 
from Business Case sign off through to delivery of the project and its business benefits

 The Strategy will be revised annually, in line with the Corporate Plan and MTFS, by the Digital 
Transformation Project Board to reflect any change in circumstances and altered ambition

 Bids for digital developments will be based upon business cases that align with corporate 
objectives outlining a clear return on investment.  Each will be evaluated and by the Digital 
Transformation Project Board and endorsed by the Chief Executive and the Corporate 
Management Board.

 External consultation will take place to give our citizens the opportunity to tell us what they 
would like from our services and suggest improvements

 Risks associated with the Strategy are managed and embedded in project risk management 
arrangements with responsibility and accountability allocated to the Senior Responsible 
Officer

 Standards and policies are agreed, documented and owned by senior managers and not by 
the ICT service

 Progress will be reported through the Annual Plan

Page 175



Page 17

Page 176



Page 18

ACTION TABLE

Theme Action

DIGITAL CITIZEN

Introduce a new digital access platform incorporating customer management and enhancing self service 

Further develop the council tax and housing benefit functionality to make it easier to update personal circumstances and transact online to 
include online landlord functionality, debt recovery process, and further automation of routine tasks

Obtain Digitally Accessibility Centre (DAC) Accreditation for Bridgend’s website, in line with EU Directives

Develop the corporate website to include all standalone web pages ensuring all our service information can be found in one place and easily 
accessible

Ensure future web content is easily accessible regardless of the device type

Introduce an updated telecare system for our most vulnerable citizens to contact us to allow us to respond quickly to an emergency

Enhance the chatbot functionality for those wishing to use this way of communicating with us to help decrease the number of phone calls 
to our customer services

Develop a Communications Plan to work in conjunction with the Digital Strategy that will market and communicate our developments to our 
communities, visitors and businesses

Ensure all webpages are bi-lingual in accordance with the Welsh Language Standards Regulations 2015

Develop the national online blue badge online application system to provide an enhanced customer experience

Consult with our citizens to ask them what digital services they would like from us that meets their needs and requirements.

Introduce online self-referral assessment capabilities for those citizens who wish to refer themselves to our social services, housing services 
or to Early Help educational support

Provide Borough wide community learning sessions to train our citizens on how to use our digital services

Analyse demand to establish clues about the users that access our services enabling us to analyse trends to allow us to shape our services 
and align our resources more efficiently

P
age 177



Page 19

Theme Action
Develop a suite of online forms with a consistent look and feel, that offer an online channel, where users of our services can make 
applications, enquiries or provide feedback on Council services that link straight into a central system.

Review the feasibility to deliver a quick and efficient online functionality that allows parents to pay their children’s school fees and supporting 
our school’s administration processes

DIGITAL COUNCIL

Utilise the annual staff survey to establish staff feedback on how they use the current technology and request ideas for future improvements 
over all service areas.

Explore Government Digital Services (GDS) ‘Government as Platform’ components, service designs, data and hosting to enhance our 
communications both internally and externally.

Re-engineer the current process of Councillors referrals (on behalf of the public) to develop a stringent and efficient end to end resolution 
and feedback loop including further promotion and signposting of online reporting tools.

Publish council statistics and information as Open Data in compliance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and Freedom of Information Act 
2000

Move towards Cyber Essentials certification ensuring our data is safe and secure

Develop skills around Process Re-engineering to assist services in streamlining and modernising services

Managers to ensure, via the annual appraisals, that staff have the confidence and ability to use introduced technologies, identifying gaps 
that require training or assistance.

Continuously re-assess business processes and support system upgrades to ensure the technology supporting our services are as efficient 
as possible

Evaluate and implement cloud solutions to deliver efficient computing services

Introduce an automated electronic scheduling ‘Homecare’ system for enhancing services to our most vulnerable citizens, enabling our staff 
to update information in real time and contributing to our staff’s safety and wellbeing.

Establish training resources to upskill staff, where appropriate, in using new technologies and to promote compliance with information 
management legislation.

Provide the workforce with cloud based experiences, facilitating ‘Access Anywhere’, ‘Any Time’ and ‘On Any Device’ both online and offline.  
Offering a true collaboration platform.

P
age 178



Page 20

Theme Action
Fully implement HR system modules to their full functionality, aligning the ‘digital workforce objectives’ to the appraisal module to ensure a 
joined up approach to developing our people.

Roll out Government Roam (Gov roam) to appropriate Council buildings – the Wi-Fi solution that supports collaborative, flexible working 
arrangements

Evaluate opportunities to upgrade the Council chamber technology to allow citizens better, real time interaction with members during public 
meetings.

Centralise energy payments utilising one portal for efficient management of energy payments and realising efficiency savings

Work with our partners to deliver digital services that enable Health and Social Care Integration e.g. All Wales Community Care Information 
System (WCCIS).

Provide our frontline staff with the right tools they need to allow them to carry out their duties more efficiently ensuring their wellbeing and 
safety,  that seamlessly updates the back office systems in real time e.g. highways, social workers.

Explore opportunities, throughout the organisation, to automate high volume, routine processes and explore the digital market to introduce 
the best systems to enable this transformation.

Reduce duplication of data, to enable more efficient management of core Council information and retention policies

Re-engineer the Minor Works and Disabled Facilities Grant processes creating a robust and streamlined service providing ease of 
accessibility for our most vulnerable communities

Ensure the Council is fit for purpose and digitally enabled to support flexible working

Incorporate the ICT action plan based on the principles and aims of the Digital Strategy 

Continuously assess business processes to drive out efficiencies savings.

DIGITAL PLACE

Liaise with Cardiff Capital Region City Deal to develop learning on digital projects, knowledge/skills sharing, channel shift and customer 
service programmes to learn lessons, maximise efficiencies and deliver more for our communities.

Support local business in conjunction with Superfast Business Wales through engagement within the online Business Zone, leading events 
and workshops, supporting grant applications and disseminating finance schemes e.g. gigabit voucher applications

Explore UK wide grant funding opportunities to support Bridgend’s digital investment

P
age 179



Page 21

Theme Action
Work with further education organisations and industry leaders to prepare our learners for their future careers by supporting digital literacy

Implement the Education Digital Standards which will assist schools to effectively manage and implement their digital environment

Ensure that our schools have excellent digital infrastructure ensuring high digital competency in line with the curriculum giving our children 
the best start in life and developing their long term opportunities.

Work with the 3rd sector and other partners to identify opportunities to improve digital literacy within communities and businesses

Implement in conjunction with the Energy Technologies Institute and Hitachi, the Caerau Heat programme, to deliver the Caerau Mine Water 
District Heating Scheme. Establish further opportunities linked to an Internet of Things (IoT) network

P
age 180



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

LEARNING DISABILITIES SUPPORTED LIVING CONTRACTS EXTENSION

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek authority to vary the current contracts in place 
with the three supported living services commissioned for people with a learning 
disability, by extending the existing terms for a further 12 months, in accordance 
with Contract Procedure Rule (CPR) 3.2.9.3

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 The current contracts in place for the provision of Supported Living Services to 
people with a Learning Disability were commissioned as three separate Lots in 
2016. Contracts were awarded to Cartrefi (Lot 1), Mirus (Lot 2) and DRIVE Ltd (Lot 
3) following a tender exercise being undertaken, and all three existing contracts in 
place expire on 31st March 2021, with no further extension provision.  

3.2 In November 2019, Cabinet approved a two-stage procurement process for the re-
commissioning of service providers to deliver supported living services for 
individuals with a learning disability living in Bridgend. The re-commissioning plan 
moves away from the current ‘county-wide’ contracts with 3 service providers, to a 
‘locality’ based model whereby service providers can deliver person-centred, 
localised support for people that enables them to engage more fully in their local 
community and helps to better promote their journey towards independence.

3.3 In March 2020 Cabinet approved the award of a framework agreement to 
successful bidders, and for the Council to begin to implement the Stage 2 
procurement of local area service call-off tenders.

Page 181

Agenda Item 9



3.4 It was noted in the report to Cabinet in March 2020 that each local area service will 
only be tendered following consultation and engagement with individuals within 
each supported living scheme, to be undertaken independently by People First 
Bridgend (PFB). The feedback from individuals is to be used as the basis of co-
producing the service specification for each local area service contract. 

3.5 It was anticipated that all the local area service tenders would take place over a 12-
month period, between April 2020 (when framework agreements commenced) and 
March 2021, when the current contracts expire.

3.6 The PFB consultation and engagement work commenced via face-to-face meetings 
with individuals in the service in March 2020, but due to the significant and 
unforseen impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and resulting lockdown restrictions, 
these had to cease shortly afterwards, in April. 

3.7 With national and local lockdown restrictions limiting face-to-face consultation, there 
has been a reliance on virtual consultation methods instead of face-to-face 
engagement, which is severely impacting on the effectiveness of the engagement, 
and also the timescales needed to fully engage with each supported living scheme 
prior to tendering the local area service contracts – which was originally scheduled 
to be completed by March 2021.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 It is proposed that the existing contracts in place with the three service providers be 
extended for a further 12 months, to 31 March 2022, which is the length of time 
deemed necessary in order to carry out full and meaningful consultation in 
accordance with the commissioning approach approved by Cabinet in March 2020.

4.2 There is provision under CPR 3.2.9.3 to seek to modify an existing contract
where: 

(i) the need for modification has been brought about by circumstances which 
the Council having been duly diligent could not have foreseen;

(ii)       the modification does not alter the overall nature of the Contract;
(iii)      any increase in price does not exceed 50% of the value of the original 

Contract or Framework Agreement.

4.3 The need for modification has been brought about by the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic, circumstances which the Council could not have foreseen when entering 
into the original contracts. The overall nature of the contract will not be altered, and 
all other contractual terms remain unchanged, as the proposed variation is for a 12 
month extension only. The proposed modification does not exceed 50% of the 
original contract value. Please see the financial implications below for further details 
on the value of the proposed modification.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 This report seeks to modify an existing contract in accordance with CPR rule 
3.2.9.3. There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure 
rules.

Page 182



6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening was undertaken in September 
2019 and reviewed in November 2020, which found that a full EIA was not required 
due to the fact that individuals within the service will continue to receive the same 
level of service to meet their assessed needs within the Supported Living scheme.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 Variation of the existing contracts for supported living services allows for meaningful 
consulation to be undertaken to inform the new model of service delivery, which 
supports the five ways of working under the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015, as follows:

Long Term – Moving towards a ‘locality-based’ service model enables service 
providers to establish closer and longer-term working relationships with other local 
community groups, agencies, and local residents. This is a more sustainable 
approach to ensuring people are better supported in maintaining their independence 
and wellbeing and follows a ‘community development’ approach that enables the 
service provider to become more established in the longer-term.
Prevention – The Supported Living service aims to support the progression of 
individuals towards independence with some potential to reduce the level of support 
needs they have and to prevent the escalation of needs by offering a stable living 
environment and maintaining their tenancy support through appropriate housing 
related support.
Integration – The service providers will need to work with a wide range of stakeholder 
groups to help individuals to better integrate into their local community.
Collaboration – The ‘locality’ service model is predicated on close collaboration 
between the service provider and social services teams and other support agencies. 
The service model requires service providers to demonstrate collaboration between 
staff within the local schemes they manage and between service providers in other 
localities to identify and support the needs and aspirations of the individuals they 
support.
Involvement – Key stakeholders have been involved in early-stage engagement 
activities to help shape and inform the service proposal. An in-depth local 
engagement is proposed within each locality to ensure a co-productive approach to 
detailing the service specifications for each Local Area Service. This makes sure that 
the individuals who receive the service have been fully involved in identifying the key 
priorities for the support they will get from their service providers.

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no budgetary implications for Bridgend County Borough Council in 
extending the contracts to the 31 March 2022. 

8.2 The cost of the proposed contract extensions for a period of 12 months is estimated 
to be circa £6.5M, which is made up of adult social care budget (£5M) and Welsh 
Government Housing Support Grant (£1.5M) funding based on the rates currently 
being paid to Cartrefi, Mirus and DRIVE Ltd in 2020-21.

Page 183



8.3 The sum estimated above does not exceed £12.5M, which is 50% of the original (5 
year) contract value, and the maximum amount allowable under CPR’s.

9. Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet authorise the modification of the existing contracts 
with Cartrefi (Lot 1), Mirus (Lot 2) and DRIVE Ltd (Lot 3) by extending the existing 
terms for a further 12 months to 31st March 2022, in accordance with CPR 3.2.9.3.

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director, Social Services and Wellbeing
November 2020

Contact Officer:
Name: Pete Tyson 
Title: Group Manager, Commissioning
Tel No: 01656 642667
E mail: Peter.tyson@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal Address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend 

Background documents

None

Page 184

mailto:Peter.tyson@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

CONTRACT FOR THE SUPPLY OF FRESH, FROZEN AND COOKED MEATS – 
SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is:

 to suspend those parts of the Council’s contract procedure rules in respect of 
the procurement requirements relating to the tendering of the contract for the 
supply of fresh, frozen and cooked meats; and 

 to authorise the Corporate Director Education and Family Support to enter into 
a contract with the current contractors, Mid Glamorgan Provisions Ltd on the 
same terms as the current contract to 18 December 2021. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 Following a procurement process in November 2019, the Council awarded a contract 
for the supply of fresh, frozen and cooked meats to Mid Glamorgan Provisions Ltd. 
That contract is due to expire on 18 December 2020.  

3.2 The Council is part of a regional delivery group and as part of that group has 
committed to the establishment of a regional framework for the supply of foods such 
as fresh, frozen and cooked meats. The commissioning of the regional framework is 
to be led by Caerphilly County Borough Council. 

3.3 The contract with Mid Glamorgan Provisions Ltd was awarded for a limited period to 
18 December 2020, as it was anticipated that the new regional framework would 
have been in place by this time and that the Council would utilise that new regional 
framework.

Page 185

Agenda Item 10



4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The Council has committed to establishing and utilising the regional framework to be 
set up for the provision of food contracts such as the one subject to this report.  
Using the regional framework will likely bring financial advantages to the Council. 
However, due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, there have been delays to the 
commissioning of the regional framework and it has not yet been established by 
Caerphilly County Borough Council.

4.2 As meat is classified as a high-risk food product, and therefore, in order to be 
accepted by the Council, Mid Glamorgan Provisions has to comply with our 
requirement for STS Accreditation (Food Safety Standard for Food Suppliers and 
Distributors) UKAS accredited technical standards, Red Tractor Standards, and have 
a food hygiene rating of 5.  As part of our due diligence, the Council performs regular 
checks to make sure that these, and all of the originally required insurances, remain 
in place.     

4.3  Due to the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic, and the approach of Brexit, it is 
essential to maintain supply of these high-risk foods with a supplier who we have 
tested quality and commitment to our service, until the regional framework can be 
utilised. 

4.4 It is therefore proposed that the Council should suspend the contract procedure rules 
and enter into a contract for fresh frozen and cooked meat with Mid Glamorgan 
Provisions Ltd on the same terms as the current contract from 19 December 2020 
until 18 December 2021.  This will allow for the regional framework to be established 
and for the Council to ensure continuity of provision of this high risk food until such a 
times as the Council is able to utilise the regional framework to appoint a supplier for 
the provision of fresh frozen and cooked meats from the regional framework. 

4.5 Under the Council’s contract procedure rules, the Council is required to tender and 
advertise contracts such as this one on Sell2Wales as a minimum.  The Council, in 
entering into a contract in this manner, will be unable to comply with those 
requirements.  

4.6 Cabinet should be aware, that by not complying with its contract procedure rules the 
Council is exposed to the risk of potential challenge from other suppliers of such 
products, as we are entering into a contract without any competition which breaches 
the requirements of procurement legislation.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 This report has no effect on the policy framework and procedural rules. .

6. Equality impact assessments

6.1 An equality impact assessment initial screening has been completed and it is 
considered that there will be no negative impacts from this report. 

Page 186



7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been 
completed.  A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five 
ways of working is as follows:

Long-term

This identifies that the Council is supporting the sustainability of school meals in 
schools by continuing to offer this important service to pupils.

Prevention

The Council assesses the suitability of food providers supplying high risk products.  
The Council, in conjunction with procurement experts supports the delivery of a 
national strategy to support the provision of high risk food in the future.

Integration

School meals are important in ensuring that learners can learn and achieve so that 
they can access opportunities for further learning and employment, and can play 
active roles in their communities, contributing positively to society as a whole. 

Collaboration

The Council work with schools and local and regional suppliers in delivering school 
meals.  This strategic role is supporting pupils’ wellbeing in school. The Council 
ensures that school meals are delivered to meet the needs of all learners.  

Involvement

The engagement with pupils on the range and choice of school meals is an important 
factor in the delivery and development of this important service.  The service provides 
sufficient time and resources to fully identify, understand and respond to the issues 
identified by pupils.

8. Financial implications

8.1 The estimated value of the contract from 19 December 2020 to 18 December 2021 is 
£145k for the supply of fresh, frozen and cooked meat with Mid Glamorgan 
Provisions Ltd. The cost will be met from within current budgets.

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 suspends the relevant parts of the Council’s contract procedure rules in respect 
of the requirements relating to the procurement of the contract for the supply of 
fresh frozen and cooked meat; and 

 delegates authority to the Corporate Director Education and Family Support in 
consultation with the Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer and Chief 

Page 187



Officer - Legal, HR and Regulatory Services, to enter into a contract for the 
supply of fresh, frozen and cooked meat with Mid Glamorgan Provisions Ltd 
from 19 December 2020 until 18 December 2021. 

Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director – Education and Family Support

Contact officer: Robin Davies 
(Group Manager Business Strategy and Performance)

Telephone: (01656) 754881

Email: Robin.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background papers: 

None

Page 188



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND FAMILY 
SUPPORT

APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet for the appointment 
of local authority governors to the school governing bodies listed at paragraph 
4.1 and 4.2.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

3. Background

3.1 In accordance with the Council’s ‘Guidance on the appointment of local 
education authority governors’ approved by Cabinet on 14 October 2008, 
officers have considered applications received for current and forthcoming 
vacancies for local authority governor positions on school governing bodies 
(see paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2).

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 For the 26 schools in the table below, all 31 applicants met the approved criteria 
for appointment as local authority governors and there was no competition for 
any of the vacancies.  Therefore, the recommended appointments are:  

Name School
Mr Nicholas John Miles Bryncethin Primary School
Cllr Gary Thomas Bryncethin Primary School
Mr Phil John Caerau Primary School
Cllr Jeff Tildesley Corneli Primary School
Cllr John McCarthy Croesty Primary School
Mrs Lynne Beedle Cwmfelin Primary School
Mrs Heather Griffiths Ffaldau Primary School
Cllr Keith Edwards Garth Primary School

Page 189

Agenda Item 11



Cllr David White Heronsbridge School
Mrs Edith Hughes Heronsbridge School
Ms Cherie Jones Litchard Primary School
Mrs Kate Clarke Llangynwyd Primary School
Mr John Orchard Maes yr Haul Primary School
Mrs Sarah Davies Oldcastle Primary School
Mrs Lillian Davies Pencoed Primary School
Mr Mike Gregory Pencoed Primary School
Mr Christopher Harri Bentley Pîl Primary School
Cllr Brian Jones Porthcawl Primary School
Miss Catherine Elizabeth 
Jenkins

St Mary’s & St Patrick’s Catholic Primary 
School

Cllr Ross Penhale-Thomas St Mary’s & St Patrick’s Catholic Primary 
School

Mr Mal John Tondu Primary School
Dr Louisa Evans Trelales Primary School
Mr Ron Griffiths West Park Primary School
Ms Susan Elizabeth Reynolds Archbishop McGrath Catholic High School
Cllr Amanda Williams Brynteg School
Cllr Phil White Maesteg School
Mrs Maureen Carson Porthcawl Comprehensive School 
Ms Anna Morgan Porthcawl Comprehensive School
Mrs Edith Hughes Ysgol Gymraeg Bro Ogwr
Mr Royston Thomas Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Cynwyd Sant
Mr Malcolm James Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd

4.2 There was competition for one vacancy at one school and the applicants are 
detailed in the table below.   

Name of applicants School
Mrs Ella Dodd
Mrs Toni Lewis Coety Primary School

4.3 The officer panel scrutinised the applications and noted that Mrs Toni Lewis 
has no previous experience as a governor. Therefore, in line with the Council’s 
selection criteria, the recommended appointment is Mrs Ella Dodd due to her 
tenure as a governor and her experience as a local authority governor.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An assessment of the appointment of local authority governors identifies that 
there are no equality issues related to this report. 

Page 190



7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 A Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been 
completed.  A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to 
the five ways of working is as follows:

Long-term

While it is desirable for local authority governors to have previous or relevant 
experience of the role, in the short-term, the local authority may support any 
person for such an appointment who is interested in supporting schools, is not 
disqualified from being a school governor and is willing and able to dedicate 
the necessary time to the role.  

Prevention

The local authority assesses the suitability of applicants for the local authority 
governor vacancy/vacancies applied for. The local authority, in conjunction 
with the Central South Consortium, supports governors with a comprehensive 
programme of both mandatory and voluntary training and access to 
resources, to enable them to develop and maintain their knowledge and skills, 
and be successful in fulfilling the role.   

Integration

School governing bodies have a strategic role in running schools and ensuring 
that all pupils are supported to learn and achieve so that they can access 
opportunities for further learning and employment, know how to maintain their 
wellbeing, can play active roles in their communities and can contribute 
positively to society as a whole. 

Collaboration

School governing bodies have a strategic role in ensuring that schools 
safeguard the health and well-being of pupils and staff. The local authority, in 
conjunction with the Central South Consortium, provides training to governors 
to enable them to develop and maintain their relevant knowledge, skills and 
effectiveness in this respect.  

Involvement

The local authority treats all applications for local authority governor vacancies 
fairly, to ensure equality of opportunity. School governing bodies have a 
strategic role in ensuring that schools safeguard the health and well-being of 
pupils and staff. The local authority, in conjunction with the Central South 
Consortium, provides training to governors to enable them to develop and 
maintain their relevant knowledge, skills and effectiveness in this respect.  

Page 191



8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report.

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to approve the appointments listed at paragraph 4.1 
and 4.2.

Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support

9 November 2020

Contact officer: Mandy Jones
Learner Support Officer

Telephone: (01656) 642629

Email: Amanda.Jones@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background documents:  None

Page 192



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET 

17 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL , HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES  

CORPORATE COMPLAINTS POLICY 

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the revised BCBC Corporate Complaints 
Policy and seek approval for the same. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 The Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2019 achieved Royal Assent in July 
2019. 

3.2 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) wrote to the Leaders and 
Chief Executives of all 22 local authorities in September 2020 explaining how his 
Complaints Standards Authority has engaged with representatives from all local 
authorities to put in place a raft of measures designed to support and enhance 
complaint handling. These measures include bespoke training, and a process for all 
local authorities to report complaints statistics to the Ombudsman’s office on a 
quarterly basis. 

3.3 In his letter the Ombudsman also encourages all local authorities to reflect on how 
their current practices and procedures comply with the  Statement of Principles, 

Page 193

Agenda Item 12



Model Complaint Handling Process and Guidance published on the Omudsman’s 
website.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The  Corporate Complaints Policy has been reviewed and revised in line with the 
Ombudsman’s Model Complaints Handling Policy and is attached as Appendix 1 for 
approval.  The revised Policy will be published on the Council’s website and 
internally on the intranet.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 None.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial EIA screening has been undertaken and a full EIA is not required.  In the 
preparation of the Policy, the impact the Policy may have on people because of the 
presence or absence of one or more of the nine protected characteristics has been 
assessed.  The Policy is not likely to impact differently on any particular group.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The wellbeing goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals / objectives as a result of this report. 

8. Financial implications

8.1 The PSOW has the legal power to require authorities to make payments to
complainants where they have suffered financial loss or in compensation for
distress and inconvenience.

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is requested to approve the Corporate Complaints Policy attached as 
Appendix 1.

Kelly Watson
Chief Officer – HR, Legal and Regulatory Services and Monitoring Officer
4 November 2020

Contact officer: Charlotte Branford
Information and Data Protection Officer 

Telephone: (01656) 643565

Email: Charlotte.Branford@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None 

Page 194



Appendix 1 

Bridgend County Borough Council Concerns and 
Complaints Policy
Bridgend County Borough Council is committed to dealing effectively with any 
concerns or complaints you may have about our services. We aim to clarify 
any issues you may be unsure about. If possible, we’ll put right any mistakes 
we may have made. We will provide any service you’re entitled to which we 
have failed to deliver. If we did something wrong, we’ll apologise and, where 
possible, try to put things right for you. We aim to learn from our mistakes and 
use the information we gain from complaints to improve our services.

When to use this policy
When you express your concerns or complain to us, we will usually respond in 
the way we explain below. However, sometimes you may have a statutory 
right of appeal e.g. against a refusal to grant you planning permission or the 
decision not to give your child a place in a particular school so, rather than 
investigate your concern, we will explain to you how you can appeal. 
Sometimes, you might be concerned about matters that are not covered by 
this policy e.g. when a legal framework applies and we will then advise you 
about how to make your concerns known.
This policy does not apply to ‘Freedom of Information’ or data access issues. 
Please contact the Data Protection Officer, Legal and Regulatory Services, 
Bridgend County Borough Council, Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend CF31 
4WB, tel: 01656 643565 or foi@bridgend.gov.uk
Complaints Officers can advise on the type and scope of complaints they can 
consider.

We have a separate policy for Social Services complaints.

Welsh Language Standards

Bridgend County Borough Council embraces the Service Delivery, Policy 
Making and Operational Welsh Language Standards with which it is expected 
to comply positively and will strive to ensure that the use of the Welsh 
language in Bridgend is developed and promoted.

Page 195

mailto:foi@bridgend.gov.uk
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/health-and-social-care/social-services-complaints/


Appendix 1 

How we will deal with complaints relating to our compliance with the 
Welsh Language Standards
The public is able to raise complaints with the Council’s compliance with the 
Welsh Language Standards under this Complaints Procedure using the 
process described. All complaints related to the standards (or any other 
service provided in Welsh) will be taken seriously and will be fully investigated 
to establish the validity of the complaint. If the Council has failed in its 
compliance with the Welsh Language Standards, it will apologise to the 
complainant and will consider any shortfall in compliance when reviewing any 
relevant internal processes or practices.

Staff training and awareness raising
We will raise awareness amongst all relevant Council employees of the 
requirement to deal with any complaints regarding the Council’s compliance 
with the Welsh Language Standards to ensure that such complaints are 
investigated fully and impartially. Employees will also be made aware of the 
need for records of all written complaints, investigations and outcomes, 
against the council’s compliance with the Welsh Language Standards to be 
retained and to be included and published in the Council’s Annual Welsh 
Language Reporting process. This will be provided for each financial year.

This policy is also available in Welsh at our public buildings and on our 
website.

Asking us to provide a service? 
If you are approaching us to request a service, e.g. reporting a faulty street 
light, or requesting an appointment this policy doesn’t apply. If you make a 
request for a service and then are not happy with our response, you will be 
able to make your concern known as we describe below. 

Informal resolution 
If possible, we believe it’s best to deal with things straight away. If you have a 
concern, please raise it with the person you’re dealing with. They will try to 
resolve it for you there and then. If there are any lessons to learn from 
addressing your concern, the member of staff will draw them to our attention. 

Page 196



Appendix 1 

If the member of staff can’t help, they will explain why and you can then ask 
for a formal investigation. 

How to express concern or complain formally 
You can express your concern in any of the following ways: 
• Ask for a copy of our form from the person with whom you are already in 
contact. Tell them that you want us to deal with your concern formally. 
• Get in touch with our central complaint contact point on 01656 643565 if you 
want to make your complaint over the phone. 
• Use the form on our website at https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-
council/customer-services/formal-complaints/
• Email us at complaints@bridgend.gov.uk
• Write to us at: Complaints, Bridgend County Borough Council, Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Dealing with your concern
• We will formally acknowledge your concern within 5 working days and let you 
know how we intend to deal with it.
• We will ask you to tell us how you would like us to communicate with you 
and establish whether you have any particular requirements – for example, if 
you need documents in large type.
• We will deal with your concern in an open and honest way.
• We will make sure that your dealings with us in the future do not suffer just 
because you have expressed a concern or made a complaint.
Normally, we will only be able to look at your concerns if you tell us about 
them within six months. This is because it’s better to look into your concerns 
while the issues are still fresh in everyone’s mind.  We may exceptionally be 
able to look at concerns which are brought to our attention later than this. 
However, you will have to explain why you have not been able to bring it to 
our attention earlier and we will need to have sufficient information about the 

Page 197

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/customer-services/formal-complaints/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/customer-services/formal-complaints/


Appendix 1 

issue to allow us to consider it properly. In any event, we will not consider any 
concerns about matters that took place more than three years ago.

If you’re expressing a concern on behalf of somebody else, we’ll need their 
agreement to you acting on their behalf.

What if there is more than one body involved?
If your complaint covers more than one body e.g. Housing Association or NHS 
we will usually work with them to decide who should take the lead in dealing 
with your concerns. You will then be given the name of the person responsible 
for communicating with you while we consider your complaint.
If the complaint is about a body working on our behalf e.g. specialist health 
providers you may wish to raise the matter informally with them first. However, 
if you want to express your concern or complaint formally, we will look into this 
ourselves and respond to you.

Investigation
We will tell you who we have asked to look into your concern or complaint. If 
your concern is straightforward, we’ll usually ask somebody from the relevant 
service area to look into it and respond to you. If it is more serious, we may 
use someone from elsewhere in the Council or, in certain cases including 
those concerning social services where a statutory procedure applies, we may 
appoint an independent investigator.
We will set out our understanding of your concerns and ask you to confirm 
that we are right. We’ll also ask you to tell us what outcome you’re hoping for.
The person looking at your complaint will usually need to see the files we hold 
relevant to your complaint. If you don’t want this to happen, it’s important that 
you tell us.
If there is a simple solution to your problem, we may ask you if you’re happy to 
accept this. For example, where you asked for a service and we see straight 
away that you should have had it, we will offer to provide the service rather 
than investigate and produce a report.

We will aim to resolve concerns as quickly as possible and expect to deal with 
the vast majority within 20 working days. If your complaint is more complex, 
we will:
• Let you know within this time why we think it may take longer to investigate.

Page 198



Appendix 1 

• Tell you how long we expect it to take.
• Let you know where we have reached with the investigation, and 
• Give you regular updates, including telling you whether any developments 
might change our original estimate.
The person who is investigating your concerns will firstly aim to establish the 
facts. The extent of the investigation will depend upon how complex and how 
serious the issues you have raised are. In complex cases, we will draw up an 
investigation plan.
In some instances, we may ask to meet with you to discuss your concerns. 
Occasionally, we might suggest mediation or another method to try to resolve 
disputes.
We’ll look at relevant evidence. This could include information you have 
provided, our case files, notes of conversations, letters, emails or whatever 
may be relevant to your particular concern. If necessary, we’ll talk to the staff 
or others involved and look at our policies, any legal entitlement and guidance.

Outcome
If we formally investigate your complaint, we will let you know what we find. If 
necessary, we will produce a report. We’ll explain how and why we came to 
our conclusions.
If we find that we made a mistake, we’ll tell you what happened and why.
If we find there is a fault in our systems or the way we do things, we’ll tell you 
what it is and how we plan to change things to stop it happening again.
If we make a mistake, we will always apologise for it.

Putting Things Right
If we didn’t provide you with a service you should have had, we’ll aim to 
provide it now, if that’s possible. If we didn’t do something well, we’ll aim to put 
it right. If you have lost out as a result of a mistake on our part, we’ll try to put 
you back in the position you would have been in if we’d done things properly.
If you had to pay for a service yourself, when we should have provided it for 
you, or if you were entitled to funding you did not receive we will try to refund 
the cost.

Page 199



Appendix 1 

The Ombudsman
If we do not succeed in resolving your complaint, you may complain to the 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. The Ombudsman is independent of 
all government bodies and can look into your complaint if you believe that you 
personally, or the person on whose behalf you are complaining:
• Have been treated unfairly or received a bad service through some failure on 
the part of the service provider.
• Have been disadvantaged personally by a service failure or have been 
treated unfairly.
The Ombudsman normally expects you to bring your concerns to our attention 
first and to give us a chance to put things right. You can contact the 
Ombudsman by:
• Phone: 0300 790 0203
• Email: ask@ombudsman.wales
• The website: www.ombudsman.wales
• Writing to: Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae, Pencoed CF35 5LJ
There are also other organisations that consider complaints. For example, the 
Welsh Language Commissioner’s Office deals with complaints about services 
in Welsh. We can advise you about such organisations.

Learning lessons

We take your concerns and complaints seriously and try to learn from any 
mistakes we’ve made. Our Senior Management Team considers a summary 
of all complaints quarterly and is made aware of all serious complaints. Our 
Cabinet also considers our response to complaints at least twice a year. We 
share summary (anonymised) information on complaints received and 
complaints outcomes with the Ombudsman as part of our commitment to 
accountability and learning from complaints.
Where there is a need for significant change, we will develop an action plan 
setting out what we will do, who will do it and when we plan to do it. We will let 
you know when changes we’ve promised have been made.

Page 200



Appendix 1 

What if you need help?
Our staff will aim to help you make your concerns known to us. If you need 
extra assistance, we will try to put you in touch with someone who can help. 
You may wish to contact e.g. advocacy services, Age Cymru, Shelter etc. who 
may be able to assist you.

You can also use this concerns and complaints policy if you are under the age 
of 18. If you need help, you can speak to someone on the Meic Helpline:
• Phone 0808 802 3456
• Website www.meiccymru.org
or contact the Children’s Commissioner for Wales. Contact details are:
• Phone 0808 801 1000
• Email post@childcomwales.org.uk
• Website www.childcom.org.uk

What we expect from you
In times of trouble or distress, some people may act out of character. There 
may have been upsetting or distressing circumstances leading up to a 
concern or a complaint. We do not view behaviour as unacceptable just 
because someone is forceful or determined.
We believe that all complainants have the right to be heard, understood and 
respected. However, we also consider that our staff have the same rights. We 
therefore expect you to be polite and courteous in your dealings with us. We 
will not tolerate aggressive or abusive behaviour, unreasonable demands or 
unreasonable persistence. We have a separate policy to manage situations 
when we find that someone’s actions are unacceptable.

Date: November 2020

Author/s: Information and Data Protection Officer 

Page 201



Appendix 1 

Consultee/s:

Approved by: Cabinet

Review frequency: Every 2 years

Next review date: November 2022

Page 202



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

17 NOVEMBER 2020 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval for items to be included on 
the Forward Work Programme for the period 1 November 2020 to 28 February 
2021.

2  2.        Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities.

2.1      This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being  
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more health and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent 
on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to 
build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy 
and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Forward Work Programme will be 
prepared by the Monitoring Officer to cover a period of four months except when 
ordinary elections of councillors occur, in which case the Forward Work Programme 
will cover the period up to the date of the elections.  

3.2 The Forward Work Programme will contain matters which the Cabinet, Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees and full Council are likely to consider. It will contain 
information on:

(a) the timetable for considering the Budget and any plans, policies or strategies 
forming part of the Policy Framework and requiring Council approval, and 
which body is to consider them;

Page 203

Agenda Item 13



(b) the timetable for considering any plans, policies or strategies which are the 
responsibility of the Cabinet;

(c) any individual matters on which the Cabinet intends to consult in advance of 
taking a decision, and the timetable for consultation and decision;

(d) the work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, to the extent 
that it is known.

3.3 The Forward Work Programme will be published at least 14 days before the start of 
the period covered.  The Authority is required to publish once a year a notice in at 
least one newspaper circulating in the area, stating that a Forward Work 
Programme will be published and giving the publication dates for that year.

4. Current situation / proposal 

4.1 The proposed Forward Work Programmes are described below:

 Cabinet 1 November 2020 to 28 February 2021 - Appendix 1
 Council 1 November 2020 to 28 February 2021 - Appendix 2
 Overview and Scrutiny 1 November 2020 to 28 February 2021 - Appendix 3

4.2 Following consideration by Cabinet, the Forward Work Programme will be 
published on the Council’s website.  

5. Effect upon Policy Framework and Procedure Rules

5.1 There are no implications relating to the Policy Framework and Procedure Rules

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 There are no negative equality implications arising from this report.  

7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8. Financial Implications

8.1 There will be a translation cost of approximately £60 for each quarterly update of 
the Forward Work programme when it is published on the Bridgend County Borough 
Council Website. These will be met from within existing budgets. 

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to:

 Approve the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the period 1 November 2020 
to 28 February 2021 at Appendix 1;

Page 204



 Note the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes for the 
same period as above, shown at Appendix 2 and 3 of the report, respectively. 

Kelly Watson
Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
9 November 2020      

Contact Officer: Mark Galvin 
Senior Democratic Services Officer – Committees

  
Telephone: (01656) 643148
Email: mark.galvin@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Democratic Services
Civic Offices
Angel Street 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB

Background documents:  None 

Page 205

mailto:mark.galvin@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX 1

CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - 1 DECEMBER 2020 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Item Title and Description of Report Cabinet Contact Officer

(a) (b) (c) (d)
1.  Social Services Complaints and Representations Annual Report 2019-20 15 Dec 2020 Claire Marchant, Corporate Director 

Social Services and Wellbeing

Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

2.  Review of Children's Social Care SGO Policy 15 Dec 2020 Claire Marchant, Corporate Director 
Social Services and Wellbeing

Claire.Marchant@bridgend.gov.uk

3.  Revised Contract Procedure Rules 15 Dec 2020 Kelly Watson, Chief Officer Legal, 
HR and Regulatory Services

kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

4.  Introduction of Development Viability Model 15 Dec 2020 Janine Nightingale, Corporate 
Director - Communities

janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

5.  Disabled Facilities Grants 15 Dec 2020 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

6.  Porthcawl Harbour Byelaws 15 Dec 2020 Janine Nightingale, Corporate 
Director - Communities

janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 207



Item Title and Description of Report Cabinet Contact Officer

(a) (b) (c) (d)

2

7.  Bridgend Heat Network Scheme 15 Dec 2020 Janine Nightingale, Corporate 
Director - Communities

janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

8.  Caerau Heat Scheme 15 Dec 2020 Janine Nightingale, Corporate 
Director - Communities

janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

9.  UK Government Kickstart Scheme 15 Dec 2020 Janine Nightingale, Corporate 
Director - Communities

janine.nightingale@bridgend.gov.uk

10.  Reduced Timetable Protocol 15 Dec 2020 Lindsay Harvey, Corporate Director 
Education and Family Support
Tel: 01656 642612
lindsay.harvey@bridgend.gov.uk

11.  Budget Monitoring 2020-21 - Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast 19 Jan 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

12.  Outcome of Consultation - Shaping Bridgend's Future 19 Jan 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

13.  Capital Programme Update - Quarter 3 2020-21 19 Jan 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

P
age 208



Item Title and Description of Report Cabinet Contact Officer

(a) (b) (c) (d)

3

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

14.  Treasury Management  - Quarter 3 2020-21 19 Jan 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

15.  High Street and Retail Rates Relief Scheme 2021-22 19 Jan 2021 

16.  Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2023-24 and Draft Budget 
Consultation Process 

9 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

17.  Medium Term Financial Strategy  2021-22 to 2024-25 23 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

18.  Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 2021-22 23 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

19.  Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Onwards 23 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 209



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX 2

COUNCIL FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - 1 DECEMBER 2020 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Item Title and Description of Report Council Contact Officer

(a) (b) (c) (d)
1.  Outcome of the Consultation 'Shaping Bridgend's Future' 16 Dec 2020 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 

Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

2.  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 16 Dec 2020 Kelly Watson, Chief Officer Legal, 
HR and Regulatory Services

kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

3.  Presentation by Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board 16 Dec 2020 Mark Shephard, Chief Executive
Tel: 01656 643380
mark.shephard@bridgend.gov.uk

4.  Community Review 16 Dec 2020 Kelly Watson, Chief Officer Legal, 
HR and Regulatory Services

kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

5.  Capital Programme Update - Quarter 3 2020-21 20 Jan 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

6.  Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021-22 20 Jan 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 211



Item Title and Description of Report Cabinet Contact Officer

(a) (b) (c) (d)

2

7.  Medium Term Financial Strategy  2021-22 to 2024-25 24 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

8.  Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 2021-22 24 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

9.  Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 Onwards 24 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

10.  Council Tax 2021-22 24 Feb 2021 Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change

gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 212



1

APPENDIX 3

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME - 1 DECEMBER 2020 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2021

Date Title and Description of Report Scrutiny 
Committee Contact Officer

2 Dec Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Kelly Watson, Chief Officer Legal, HR 
and Regulatory Services  
kelly.watson@bridgend.gov.uk

2 Dec Budget Monitoring 2020-21 - Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change  
gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

14 Jan Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 2021-22 Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change  
gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

14 Feb Quarter 2 Performance Report Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change  
gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

14 Jan Capital Strategy 2021-22 onwards Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Gill Lewis, Interim Chief Officer – 
Finance, Performance and Change  
gill.lewis@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 213



Date Title and Description of Report Scrutiny 
Committee Contact Officer

2

P
age 214


	Agenda
	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	4 Rhaglen Arbed yng Ngaerau
	Appendix 1 Report on the Evaluation of ARBED 1 Programme in Caerau (Rev 1)

	5 Cyllid Parc Rhanbarthol y Cymoedd yn y Dyfodol
	6 Datblygu Trên Tir â Ffocws Twristiaeth neu Ymgyrch Cerbyd Cario Teithwyr Tebyg yn Porthcawl
	7 Adroddiad Hanner Blwyddyn - Rheoaeth y Trysorlys 2020-21
	Appendix A &B
	Appendix C

	8 Strategaeth Ddigidol 2020-2024
	Cabinet report - Digital Strategy Appendix A
	Cabinet report - Digital Strategy Appendix B

	9 Estyniad Contractau Byw â Chefnogaeth Anableddau Dysgu
	10 Contract ar gyfer Cyflenwi Cigoedd Ffres, wedi'u Rhewi a Choginio - Atal Rheolau'r Weithdrefn Contract
	11 Penodi Llywodraethwyr yr Awdurdod Lleol
	12 Polisi Cwynion Corfforaethol
	Complaints Policy Appendix

	13 Blaen raglen Waith
	Cabinet FWP Appendix 1
	Council FWP Appendix 2
	Scrutiny FWP Appendix 3


